

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF HOST - INFLUENZA VIRUS NUCLEOPROTEIN (NP) INTERACTIONS AND THEIR RELEVANCE IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF INFLUENZA VIRUS

By

Himani Nailwal

Doctor of Philosophy

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at

Monash University

School of Science

2016

Copyright notice

Notice 1

Under the Copyright Act 1968, this thesis must be used only under the normal conditions of scholarly fair dealing. In particular no results or conclusions should be extracted from it, nor should it be copied or closely paraphrased in whole or in part without the written consent of the author. Proper written acknowledgement should be made for any assistance obtained from this thesis.

Notice 2

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for thirdparty content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

Table of Contents

Abstract	viii
Declaration	ix
Acknowledgements	X
Abbreviations and Symbols	1-5
CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Objectives	6-9
CHAPTER 2: Review of Literature	10-41
2.1 Orthomyxoviruses	11
2.2 Influenza virus	11
2.2.1 Classification and nomenclature	12
2.2.2 Epidemiology and past pandemics	13
2.2.3 Virion structure	15
2.2.4 Genome organization	17
2.2.4.1 The polymerase proteins	17
2.2.4.2 The nucleoprotein (NP)	18
2.2.4.3 Hemagglutinin (HA)	18
2.2.4.4 Neuraminidase (NA)	18
2.2.4.5 Matrix proteins M1 and M2	19
2.2.4.6 Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2	19
2.2.5 Influenza A virus life cycle	20
2.2.5.1 Virus adsorption, entry, uncoating	20
2.2.5.2 Nuclear import of ribonucleoproteins	21
2.2.5.3 Transcription and replication of viral genome	22

2.2.5.4 Protein expression	23
2.2.5.5 Nuclear export of ribonucleoproteins	23
2.2.5.6 Virus assembly and budding	25
2.3 IAV and host interaction for efficient virus infection	26
and pathogenesis	
2.4 Influenza A virus nucleoprotein	29
2.5 Ubiquitin proteasomal pathway	31
2.6 Viral exploitation of the ubiquitin system	34
2.6.1 E3 ligases as viral targets	34
2.6.2 Influenza virus and UPP	35
2.7 RING Finger 43 (RNF43)	37
2.7.1 RNF43 structure	37
2.7.2 Cellular functions of RNF43	39
CHAPTER 3: Materials and Methods	42-61
3.1 Materials	43
3.1.1 Cell lines and strains	43
3.1.2 Reagents	43
3.1.3 Viral strains and plasmid constructs	47
3.1.4 Primers and oligo sequences	48
3.2 Composition of reagents and media	49
3.3 Methods	51
3.3.1 Preparation of competent cells	51
3.3.2 Transformation	52

3.3.3 DNA isolation	52
3.3.4 Estimation of nucleic acid	52
3.3.5 Preparation of S. cerevisiae competent cells	52
3.3.6 Transformation of yeast plasmid	53
3.3.7 Cell culture	53
3.3.8 DNA transfection	54
3.3.9 Preparation of cell lysates	54
3.3.10 Immunoprecipitation	54
3.3.11 SDS Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of proteins	55
3.3.12 Western blotting	55
3.3.13 Immunofluorescence assay	56
3.3.14 Luciferase reporter assay	56
3.3.15 Influenza virus infection	57
3.3.16 RNA isolation	57
3.3.17 First strand cDNA synthesis	58
3.3.18 Cycloheximide assay	58
3.3.19 Ubiquitination assay and purification of	59
His –tagged ubiquitin conjugates	
3.3.20 Flow cytometry	59
3.3.21 5-Bromo-2' deoxy-uridine labelling	60
3.3.22 Double thymidine block	60
3.3.23 Statistical analysis	61

CHAPTER 4: Results and Discussion I	62-95
4.1 To validate the interaction between influenza A virus	63
nucleoprotein and host ubiquitin ligase	
RING finger protein 43 (RNF43)	
4.1.1 Analysis of pYestrp2-RNF43 clone	63
4.1.2 Nucleoprotein of influenza A virus interacts with human	66
ubiquitin ligase protein RNF43 in a conserved manner	
4.1.3 RNF43 co-localizes with NP in the nucleus.	68
4.1.4 Influenza infection decreases RNF43 mRNA and	71
protein expression	
4.1.5 RNF43 acts an anti-viral protein to subside viral replication	74
4.2 To study the implications of NP/RNF43 interaction in NP	77
driven p53 mediated cellular apoptosis	
4.2.1 NP causes p53 stabilization through decreasing p53	77
ubiquitination by RNF43 ubiquitin ligase.	
4.2.2 RNF43 mitigates NP driven enhancement of	81
p53 transcriptional activity	
4.2.3 RNF43 attenuates IAV NP induced cell death.	87
4.3 Discussion	90
CHAPTER 5: Results and Discussion II	96-106
5.1 To inspect the effect of RNF43 on influenza virus mediated	97
cell cycle arrest in host	

5.1.1 RNF43 enhances expression of S-phase promoting proteins in	97
IAV infected cells.	
5.1.2 RNF43 facilitates entry of cells into S-phase	101
5.2 Discussion	104
CHAPTER 6: Conclusion and Future Directions	107-111
6.1 Conclusion	108
6.2 Future Directions	111
CHAPTER 7: References	112-136
CHAPTER 8: Appendix	137
Publications	138

Abstract

Influenza viruses are the most successful and omnipresent respiratory pathogens capable of causing pandemics. The interplay between influenza virus and host factors to support the viral life cycle is well documented. Influenza A virus (IAV) proteins interact with an array of cellular proteins and hijack host pathways which are at the helm of cellular responses to facilitate virus invasion. The fifth segment of the 8 segmented negative strand RNA genome codes for the nucleoprotein (NP) that acts as an adaptor protein to mediate plethora of binding interactions. One of the functions of NP is to induce cellular apoptosis in the infected host cells. Host factor RING finger protein 43 (RNF43), a RING-type E3 ubiquitin ligase, is a novel interactor of NP and an essential partner to induce NP-driven p53-mediated apoptosis in IAV-infected cells. IAV leads to attenuation of RNF43 transcripts and hence its respective protein levels in the cellular milieu whereas in RNF43 depleted cells, viral replication escalates several folds. Moreover, RNF43 polyubiquitinates p53 which further leads to its destabilization resulting in a decrease in induction of the p53 apoptotic pathway, a hitherto unknown process targeted by NP for p53 stabilization and accumulation. Collectively, these results conclude that NP targets RNF43 to modulate p53 ubiquitination levels and hence causes p53 stabilization which is conducive to an enhanced apoptosis level in the host cells. Moreover, an imperative role of NP/RNF43 interaction in IAV mediated cell cycle arrest is seen where RNF43 enhances the expression of various S phase promoting genes. In conclusion, our study unravels a novel strategy adopted by IAV for utilizing the much conserved ubiquitin proteasomal pathway and also unravels a promising host target for antiviral intervention.

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Student signature:

Date: 26/02/2016



Main Supervisor signature:

Date: 26/02/2016

Acknowledgement

With the advent of the completion of my Ph.D. thesis, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude and appreciation to a number of people who helped me through this journey and became an integral part in my professional and personal growth.

My expedition to the scientific research is accredited to my Ph.D. supervisor, Prof. Sunil K. Lal. He has been incredibly supportive of the scientific ideologies that I wanted to follow and conferred me with the freedom to implement those and drive my project solely on my discretion. I also thank him for believing in me and assigning me with bigger responsibilities and helping in inculcating the confidence that is paramount of a researcher. I am grateful to him for giving me the opportunity to work on an international platform and be a part of a global research community. He has been a great source of inspiration with his extremely calm ways of handling even the gravest of situations. I cannot thank Prof. Lal enough for a great Ph.D.

I express my profound gratitude to my co supervisors, Prof. David James Young and Prof. Ishwar Parhar for their revered guidance and valuable inputs during my research work at Monash University Malaysia. My sincere thanks to my thesis review panel, Prof. Chow Sek Chuen, Dr. Lee Sui Mae and AP Song Keang Peng for their uplifting remarks on my research project. I would like to use this platform to appreciate Prof. Chow Sek Chuen's ineffable help and opening up his lab for every little thing that we needed during the initial days in School of Science. I am grateful to Prof. Steven James Langford, Head, School of Science, Monash University Malaysia, for giving me the opportunity to work in Monash University Malaysia.

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Neeraj Gupta, Dr. Ngin Cin Khai for their efforts in building the virology group.

Moving to Malaysia in the middle of a Ph.D. was not easy and I came with all sorts of apprehensions. The one person who made this transition extremely smooth for me is Chai. I cannot thank her enough for her assistance in adjusting to a new country.

My heartfelt thanks to my lab members, Jyoti, Chai, Alwin, Patrick, Looi for their cheerful presence and for maintaining a healthy working environment. I would like to acknowledge

my fellow research scholars and students in school of science for their prompt help and making my stay extremely welcoming and comforting.

I thank the School of Science staff of administration, store and purchase and housekeeping for their services.

This acknowledgement will be incomplete without mentioning my friends and colleagues in ICGEB. I begin with an immense gratitude towards Dr. Vijay Kumar and Dr. Shahid Jameel for being the driving force behind the whole virology group. They gave us the direction and the motivation to keep moving. I consider myself very fortunate to receive their guidance and mentorship.

When I joined ICGEB as a fresh graduate, I was in awe of the talent around me. It has so far been the most incredible learning experience of my life. I started my training as a junior research fellow under Dr. Shipra Sharma and Dr. Adarsh Mayank. I owe a major part of the science inside me to them for they taught me the nuances of scientific research and trained me for what I am today. I will always be thankful to them for being extremely understanding and caring throughout. I will always cherish our long discussions about life and our attempts to postulate endless life theories. I thank Shipra mam for her patience and her teachings that were extended beyond our professional realms.

With great reverence, I show appreciation for the patience and endurance of Ravi sir, Purnima mam and Tenzin mam for maintaining such steady work flow in the virology group. It is unable to imagine virology group without the three of you. I particularly thank Purnima mam for helping in confocal analysis and Ravi sir for actively managing the tissue culture facility. I thank Kedar ji, for being so resourceful and prompt.

ICGEB has added two very dear friends in my life, Ankur and Pallavi. They have been with me through my good times and the bad and are the ones whom I always turn to for any advice in life. Years spent with them constitute some of the best years of my life. They criticized me, corrected me, and supported me when needed the most. I miss all the crazy things we did together and I readily take the blame for infusing into them the germs of corruptness.

A special mention to Dr. Vijaya Pandey, who has been a great source of inspiration with her motivating work ethics and dedication, as well as a great senior who guided me at many occasions.

I acknowledge my wonderful lab mates in ICGEB, Adarsh, Chandrani, Dileep, Imtiyaz, Jyoti, Kirti, Rashmi, Sanchari, Shashank, Shipra and Vandana for their encouragement and support. I am indebted to all the senior group members, Vijaya, Neetu, Nehul, kaveri, Richa, Jamal, Nagisa, Prasida, Imran, Nabab, Zulu and Paresh for being readily available for any advice and providing me with their intellectual inputs whenever needed. My earnest regards to my fellow researchers, Pallavi, Ankur, Shraddha, Radhika, Nishant and Hasan, for their liveliness and keeping things light around.

People who stood by you in your worst times need special mention in the good times. I, with greatest regards and affection, acknowledge Nitin for his endless patience and care all through my Ph.D. He inspires me to become a better person with his infectious fervent and positivity towards life. He keeps faith in me and my intellect even when I lose all hopes. We have come a long way since our silly yet fun school days.

As they say, home is the first school and parents are the first teachers, I owe my doctorate to my parents. I consider myself really fortunate to have such wonderful parents who did everything possible to make the lives of mine and my sister's extremely comfortable. They made sure that we had the best of education. They brought me up to be independent yet considerate towards others. My father instilled in me the values and ideologies and inspired me to become a righteous person. My mother with all her humbleness and noble thinking taught me patience. She made me realize that silence speaks for itself when the time comes. She amazes me with her eagerness towards life and with her sense of learning. Another notable person in my life is my sister, Shiwani. As a true sibling, we have been in different phases of our sisterhood. Most of our childhood was spent in I being her elder sister and during most of our adulthood, she is playing that role which has its own fervor. She is less loving and more inspiring. Her stimulating intelligence influences me and makes me do better in my life. She has been persistently supportive and understanding for a younger sister. Not to forget my dog, Nifty who is extremely loving and a sweetheart. Her wagging tail and compassionate eyes make my day.

I express my deepest regards to my grandparents for their blessings.

I thank God for graciously blessing me with the competence and patience to reach this far in life.

Thank you!!!

Abbreviations and Symbols

%	Percent
°C	Degree Celsius
μg	Microgram
μl	Microliter
μΜ	Micromolar
β-ΜΕ	Beta-mercaptoethanol
A°	Angstrom
aa	Amino acid
Amp	Ampicillin
APS	Ammonium persulphate
ATCC	American type culture collection
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BD	Binding domain
bp	Base pair
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHX	Cycloheximide
CSK	Cytoskeleton
cRNA	Complementary RNA

C-terminal	Carboxy-terminal
dATP	Deoxyadenosine triphosphate
DEPC	Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylene Diamine Tetra Acetic acid
EtBr	Ethidium bromide
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
g	Gram
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
h (s)	Hour(s)
h.p.i.	hours post infection
HPAI	Highly pathogenic avian influenza
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
IAV	Influenza A Virus
IFA	Immunofluorescence assay
Ig	Immunoglobulin

Ig G	Immunoglobulin G
IP	Immunoprecipitation
Kan	Kanamycin
Kb	Kilo base pairs
kDa	Kilo dalton
LiAc	Lithium acetate
LB	Luria-Bertani broth
LiCl2	Lithium chloride
LAIV	Live attenuated influenza vaccine
Μ	Molar
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
M1	matrix protein
MCS	Multiple cloning site
mg	
0	Milligram
min	Milligram Minutes
min ml	Milligram Minutes Millilitre
min ml mM	Milligram Minutes Millilitre Millimolar
min ml mM mRNA	Milligram Minutes Millilitre Millimolar Messenger RNA
min ml mM mRNA NA	Milligram Minutes Millilitre Millimolar Messenger RNA Neuraminidase
min ml mM mRNA NA NP	Milligram Minutes Millilitre Millimolar Messenger RNA Neuraminidase Nucleocapsid/ Nucleoprotein
min ml mM mRNA NA NP NP-40	Milligram Minutes Millilitre Millimolar Messenger RNA Neuraminidase Nucleocapsid/ Nucleoprotein Nonidet P-40

Nt	Nucleotide
NT	Non-targeting siRNA
OD	Optical density
ORF	Open reading frame
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
РІЗК	Phosphatidyl inositol 3' kinase
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
PA	Polymerase acidic protein
PB1	Polymerase basic protein 1
PB2	Polymerase basic protein 2
PBST	Phosphate buffer saline with Tween 20
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PMSF	Phenyl methyl sulfonyl fluoride
RdRp	RNA dependent RNA polymerase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNF43	RING Finger Protein 43
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein
RNase	Ribonuclease
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT	Room temperature
RT	Reverse transcriptase
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

SDS	Sodium dodecylsulphate
TBE	Tris-borate-EDTA buffer
TE	Tris-EDTA
TEMED	N, N, N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine
Tm	Melting temperature
T.P.I	Time post infection
Ub	Ubiquitin
UPP	Ubiquitin proteasomal pathway
vRNA	Viral RNA
WHO	World Health Organization
WT	Wild-type
Y2H	Yeast two hybrid
YPD	Yeast extract peptone dextrose
Zeo	Zeocin antibiotic

CHAPTER 1 Introduction and Objectives From the disease of one the whole flock perishes. This quote by roman poet Decimus Iunius Iuveniles holds entirely true for viruses. Viruses are the most successful and omnipresent pathogens parasitizing a wide range of hosts, being notorious for their inherent capability to manipulate themselves and their host to the fullest. They represent the best evolutionary models; continuously evolving to become more "biologically powerful" and challenging the monotony of their hosts' defense.

Influenza A viruses (IAV) are the most common and most significant human respiratory pathogens, causing both seasonal, endemic infections and periodic, unpredictable pandemics. Every year, influenza epidemics cause a wave of distress and result in a traumatic loss of lives and economy. Influenza infection in humans is characterized by acute infections rather than latent or chronic ones. Annual influenza virus epidemics follow a seasonal pattern reaching a peak between January and April, in northern hemisphere, when humidity is relatively low thus prolonging the virus survival in aerosols. In the southern hemisphere, influenza A virus outbreaks arise from May to September. A rather persistent virus activity is detected in tropical and subtropical regions.

Seasonal influenza viruses that spread from person-to-person through sneezing, coughing, or touching contaminated surfaces, can cause mild to severe illness and even death, particularly in some high-risk individuals that include pregnant women, the very young and very old, immune-compromised people, and people with chronic underlying medical conditions. Typically, about 10% of the population contracts an influenza infection leading to an average of 20,000 deaths and 114,000 hospitalizations per year.

Influenza virus pandemics are the outrageous manifestation of the virus evolution resulting in the simultaneous infection of 20-40% of the world's population. Highly pathogenic strains of influenza A virus have emerged occasionally in recent history, producing pandemics such as the one in 1918, which resulted in the death of 20–40 million people worldwide.

Influenza A virus is an enveloped negative-strand RNA virus with segmented genomes containing seven to eight gene segments. The 8 segments are encapsulated by the nucleocapsid/nucleoprotein (NP) and encode 13 known proteins.

The segmented RNA genome provides evolutionary advantages leading to the emergence of novel viral strains through intermingling mingling of segments of two different strains as was demonstrated in the 1918, 1957, 1968 and 2009 pandemics. The accumulation of mutations and reassortment events enable emerging viruses to evade host immunity acquired from previous IAV infections or vaccinations and to develop resistance against available antiviral agents that target M2 (amantadine and rimantadine) and NA (oseltamivir and zanamivir). Moreover, resistant strains emerge even faster under antiviral treatment. Thus, targeting the cellular factors involved in IAV replication represents a novel antiviral strategy that could counteract viral drug resistance.

Influenza A virus (IAV) proteins interact with an array of cellular proteins and hijack host pathways which are at the helm of cellular responses to facilitate virus invasion. Nucleoprotein (NP) of IAV is a viral RNA genome-encapsulating structural protein that has been implicated in various other indispensable activities for virus replication and pathogenesis-like intracellular trafficking of the viral genome, viral RNA replication, virus assembly via its interaction with a plethora of cellular factors like cytoskeleton scaffolding protein α -actinin-4, nuclear import receptor α importin, nuclear export receptor CRM1, DEAD-box helicase BAT1/UAP56 and cytoskeletal element F actin. In the current study, using the yeast two-hybrid system (Y2H), we identified human RNF43, an E3 ubiquitin ligase protein as a novel interacting partner of influenza A virus NP. Ubiquitin Proteasomal Pathway (UPP) is a multi-enzyme cascade that involves the sequential action of three different enzymes, E1 ubiquitin activating enzymes, E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzymes and E3 ubiquitin ligases. With 600 putative E3 ligases encoded by the mammalian genome, the receptor specificity is maintained by these proteins and hence, are heavily exploited by different viruses. IAV has also been shown to alter UPP for immune evasion and efficient pathogenesis. However, there is a dearth of studies elucidating the role of NP in mediating that phenomenon.

To this end the present study was conducted with the following objectives:

Objective 1

To validate the interaction between Influenza A virus Nucleoprotein and host factor, E3 ubiquitin ligase RING finger protein 43(RNF43).

Objective 2

To study the implications of NP/RNF43 interaction in NP-driven p53 mediated cellular apoptosis.

Objective 3

To inspect the effect of RNF43 on influenza virus mediated cell cycle arrest in host.

CHAPTER 2 Review of Literature

For all their ubiquity and success, viruses are astonishingly simple. Yet they are capable of efficiently subverting the complexity of their hosts to produce viral components, assemble them into new viral particles and transmit from one host to the other. These biological entities have had a profound role to play in the evolution of the more complex organisms with at least 10% of the human genome being made up of virus origin particles.

2.1 ORTHOMYXOVIRUSES

Influenza viruses belong to the *Orthomyxoviridae* family (Palese and Shaw, 2006). Influenza viruses A, B, and C constitute three of the five genera of the family and the other two genera of the family are Thogotovirus, which includes Thogoto virus and Dhori virus; and Isavirus, that includes infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) (Kawaoka et al., 2005). Orthomyxoviruses are enveloped viruses with a segmented single-stranded (ssRNA) genome that has been termed negative stranded because the vRNA transcribes the mRNA which is defined as positive (Baltimore, 1971). Members of any of the three genera of this family can reassort and exchange genetic information, however, this kind of inter-generic reassortment has not yet been reported.

2.2 INFLUENZA A VIRUS

Influenza A viruses are distinguished from type B and C influenza viruses on the basis of antigenic differences between their nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix (M1) protein (Lamb et al., 2001).Unlike influenza B virus, known to infect only humans, influenza A virus has a vast range of hosts, including birds and mammals. Influenza B is an important cause of seasonal influenza but not pandemics like influenza A virus. Influenza A and B viruses contain 8 segments of ssRNA whereas influenza C contains seven segments since it lacks a neuraminidase gene (Webster et al., 1992).

There exist significant differences in evolutionary rates for influenza A, B, and C viruses. Influenza B viruses, but especially influenza C viruses, evolve at a slower rate than influenza A viruses. Type B and C viruses seem to be near or at an evolutionary equilibrium in humans as opposed to Influenza A viruses (Webster et al., 1992).

2.2.1 Classification and nomenclature

Subtyping of influenza A virus is done through different antigenic determinants to HA and NA surface glycoproteins of the virus. Currently, 17 HA subtypes (H1–H17) and 9 NA subtypes (N1–N9) are known (Jagger et al., 2012; Fouchier et al., 2005). HA is divided into two lineages or groups, group 1 consisting of H1a, H1b, and H9 clades while H3 and H7 subtypes constitute group 2. With an error-prone RNA polymerase, a continuous accumulation of point mutations in these genes, governed by immune selection pressure, gives way to a directional antigenic change. This equips the virus with a stronger immune system escaping mechanism. This ever going "antigenic drift" is the reason behind ever evolving seasonal influenza strains of a single subtype (Mc Caughey, 2010; Rambaut et al., 2008).

The present nomenclature system includes the type of virus, the host of origin (except for humans), the geographic site of isolation, the strain number, and the year of isolation, followed by the antigenic description of the HA and NA subtypes in parenthesis. For example, A/swine/Iowa/15/30 (H1N1) describes an influenza A virus isolated from a pig in Iowa in 1930 with a strain number of 15 and an H1N1 subtype. No antigenic subtypes have been yet identified for influenza B and C viruses. Interestingly, Thogoto virus, Dhori virus, and ISAV do not cross-react antigenically (Wright et al., 2007).

2.2.2 Epidemiology and past pandemics

Constant antigenic variations govern the epidemiology of influenza viruses. Aquatic birds are the natural reservoirs of IAV in which, it seems, the virus has attained evolutionary statis through penultimate adaptation. Orders, Anseriformes (ducks, geese, swan) and Charadriiformes (gulls, terns, surfbirds, sandpipers) are their native hosts with the highest HA (17) and NA (9) subtypes being reported to circulate in them (Wright et al., 2007). However, transmission of the virus to land-based poultry or mammals has led to their rapid evolution (Ludwig et al., 1995). Furthermore, the division of influenza A viruses, following their pathogenicity to chickens, into low pathogenic (LPAI) and highly pathogenic (HPAI) proves its exacerbation. However, a limited number of influenza subtypes are known to have established themselves in humans (H1N1, H3N2), pigs (H1N1, H1N2), horses (H3N8 and H7N7), and dogs (H3N8) (Peiris et al., 2007).

Swine has emerged as one of the major players in pandemic outbreaks due to the presence of both avian and human influenza virus receptors, $\alpha 2$, 3- sialic acid and $\alpha 2$, 6- sialic acid, respectively (Sharma et al., 2011). This receptor affinity makes them an efficient "mixing vessels", giving birth to a new reassortant virus and a possible dawn of another pandemic. Apart from reassortment, a continuous replication of avian viruses in pigs may form variants recognizing human type receptors. This mode of interspecies transfer makes humans vulnerable to influenza pandemics (Ito et al., 1998).

Influenza infection in humans is characterized by acute infections rather than latent or chronic ones. Annual influenza virus epidemics follow a seasonal pattern reaching a peak between January and April, in the northern hemisphere, when humidity is relatively low prolonging the virus survival in aerosols. In the southern hemisphere, influenza A virus outbreaks arise from May to September. A rather persistent virus activity is detected in the tropical and subtropical regions (Wright et al., 2007).

Pandemics are the most calamitous manifestations of influenza virus infecting 20-40% of the world's population simultaneously. For centuries, influenza virus pandemics have played havoc with nature and been responsible for mass killings across continents. Influenza pandemics date back to 1918, when the deadly "Spanish Flu", H1N1 killed -25 million people in 25 weeks (Wright et al., 2007). It is supposed to be a unique adaptation of a purely avian influenza virus which transmits efficiently to humans. Its symptoms included high fever, severe headache, myalgia, pharyngytis, cough and coryza and deaths occurred primarily due to pneumonia and respiratory failure. This remains till date, the most miasmatic devastation caused by influenza virus (Ito et al., 1998; Palese, 2004).

In February 1957, "Asian influenza", H2N2, originated in the southern Chinese province of Guizhou, and from there it spread to Hunan province in China, Singapore, and Hong Kong. H2N2 was a reassortant of human and avian viruses, having H2 HA, N2 NA and PB1 genes of the avian virus. Though, H2N2 virus was mildly pathogenic but deaths occurred due to the lack of immunity to new HA and NA surface glycoprotein (Scholtissek et al., 1978; Kawaoka et al., 1989).

Hongkong influenza virus 1968, H3N2, another pandemic strain, contained H3 HA, PB1 from an avian source and shared approx 30% sequence homology with the Asian influenza pandemic strain, H2N2 (Wright et al., 2007; Kawaoka et al., 1989).

H1N1 strain has been circulating and evolving in the mammalian and swine populations since its first pandemic in 1918. Fifty-nine years later in 1977, the virus re-emerged from the H1N1 strain circulating in humans and caused a mild epidemic in Russia. This influenza

outbreak was restricted to the population below 25 years of age suggesting pre- existing immunity in the older people (Palese, 2004).

The 2009 H1N1 "swine flu" strain emerged from the H1N1 circulating in pigs. Though evolved and diversified in pigs, it maintained a significant antigenic proximity with the original 1918 virus, hence, the latter is considered as its ancestor (Kasowski et al., 2011). 2009 H1N1, the first and till now the only pandemic of the 21st century, was a reassortant between Eurasian swine and North American triple reassortant swine H1N2 virus (Brockwell-Staats et al., 2009). Compared to its ancestor, it came across as a relatively less virulent strain but still managed to establish its pathogenesis throughout the world with estimated respiratory deaths around 201,200 including 80% of people > 65 years of age (Dawood et al., 2012).

2.2.3 Virion structure

The influenza A viruses are small pleomorphic particles that later become generally spherical. Both spherical and filamentous virions are produced by influenza infection, having a diameter of approx. 100nm and reaching up to as long as 20 μ m in length, respectively. This pleomorphism in morphology is considered as an adaptation of the virus to grow inside an egg (Scheiffele et al., 1999). The envelope of each virion consists of a lipid bilayer derived from the plasma membrane of the host cell with HA and NA protein on the surface, constituting 80% and 17% of the total protein content of the virus, respectively (Fig. 2.1). Host selection is determined by HA through its binding to receptors containing terminal α -2,6-linked or α -2,3-linked sialic acid (α -2,6-SA or α -2,3-SA) moieties, in birds and humans, respectively. NA is crucial for virions budding and release as it removes the SA receptors from the cell surface (Mc Caughey, 2010; Scheiffele et al., 1999; Das et al., 2010).

The third integral membrane protein of IAV is the M2 ion channel protein present only in a few copies. Underlying the membrane is the M1 matrix protein, the major structural component of the virion, thought to act as an adaptor between the lipid envelope and the internal RNP particles, and the probable driving force behind virus budding (Golmez-Puertas et al., 2000). Inside the M1 shell lies the RNPs comprising the genomic RNA segments associated with a trimeric RNA polymerase (PB1, PB2 and PA subunits) and nucleocapsid protein NP.

Overall the composition of virus particles is about 1% RNA, 5% to 8% carbohydrate, 20% lipid, and approximately 70% protein (Ada and Perry, 1954; Compans et al., 1974; Frommhagen et al., 1959).



Fig. 2.1. The structure of influenza virus. (Adapted from Medina and García-Sastre, 2011)

2.2.4 Genome organization

The eight negatively stranded RNAs of influenza A virus, encode 10 major proteins responsible for virus replication, release and pathogenesis: Hemagglutinin (HA), neuraminidase (NA), matrix proteins M2 and M1, nonstructural (NS) proteins NS1 and NS2, the polymerases, the PB1 (polymerase basic 1), PB2, and PA (polymerase acidic) proteins, the nucleocapsid (Webster et al., 1992). Several other proteins have been discovered to be transcribed by different viral genome segments. PA-N155, PA- N182 and PA-X are expressed from IAV PA gene (Rodriguez et al., 2015). Influenza virus proteins, N40 and pro-apoptotic PB1-F2 protein transcribed from alternate reading frames of PB1 (Chen et al., 2001; Rodriguez et al., 2015).

2.2.4.1 The polymerase proteins

The three largest RNA segments code for three polymerase complex proteins PB1, PB2, and PA. PB1 containing the enzymatic motifs required for RNA polymerization activity is the most conserved of the polymerase subunit proteins and is the core of the polymerase complex. The PB2 subunit recognizes and binds with host 5' mRNA cap structures which act as the templates for viral mRNA transcription. Thus, PB2 has a key role in viral transcription (Blaas et al., 1982; Braam et al., 1983). A recently discovered pro-apoptotic PB1-F2 protein is transcribed from a second reading frame of PB1 gene. The PB1-F2 protein elicits both humoral and cell-mediated immune responses in the human hosts. The pro-apoptotic activity of PB1-F2 is mediated through the induction of alterations in mitochondrial membrane potential (Conenello and Palese, 2007).

Acidic protein PA has an endonucleolytic activity needed for the viral cap-snatching process (Sanz-Ezquerro et al., 1995). The crystal structures of the complete RNA polymerase complexes from influenza A and B viruses show that the three subunits have multiple interactions with each other and all of them participate in the binding of the two strands of the RNA promoter (Pflug et al., 2014; Reich et al., 2014; Krug, 2014). It is also well reported that the polymerase complex plays a decisive role in the efficient host switching wherein mutations increasing polymerase activity are a pre-requisite for host adaptation (Cauldwell et al., 2014).

2.2.4.2 Nucleoprotein (NP)

The nucleoprotein (NP) is the major structural protein encoded by the segment 5 of the viral genome. It is also one of the proteins essential for viral transcription and replication for molecules of NP encapsidate the vRNAs and cRNAs via its interaction with the acidic phosphate residues of RNA (Beaton et al., 1986; Biswas et al., 1998).

2.2.4.3 Hemagglutinin (HA)

Originally named because of the ability of the virus to agglutinate erythrocytes by attaching to specific sialic acid receptors. HA is encoded by RNA segment 4 and plays a decisive role in host adaptation which in turn is governed by receptor specificity of HA. Human viruses recognize SA linked to the galactose by $\alpha 2$, 6 linkages whereas avian viruses preferentially recognize $\alpha 2$, 3 SA receptors. Synthesized as a precursor protein HA0, it is cleaved post-translationally into two disulfide-linked subunits HA1 (MW~47,000) and HA2 (29,000). HA2 plays a prominent role in HA-mediated fusion of the endocytosed virus particle and the

endosome membrane, and ultimate release of viral nucleocapsids in the cytoplasm (Skehel et al., 2000; Harrison, 2008).

2.2.4.4 Neuraminidase (NA)

Encoded by the RNA segment 6 Neuraminidase is another subtype specific glycoprotein of influenza virus. A homotetramer containing 4 domains: a globular head, a stalk, a transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic domain (Verghese and Colman, 1991), NA catalyzes the cleavage of the α -ketosidic linkage between a terminal sialic acid and an adjacent D-galactose or D-galactosamine sugar moieties. NA facilitates the mobility and release of virions from cells through the removal of SA residues from cellular receptors. NA enzyme activity exists in the head domain, and mutations in the stalk domain have been associated with an altered ability to release virions from the cell surface (Palese et al., 2001; Palese and Compans, 1976).

2.2.4.5 Matrix proteins M1 and M2

Segment 7 generates two gene products: the matrix proteins M1 and M2. M1 protein that is a collinear transcription product is a structural component forming a layer between the viral membrane and the vRNPs. The NLS present at the N-terminus of M1 is considered to be important for nuclear export of vRNPs and membrane binding (Arzt et al., 2004). M2 encoded by the spliced mRNA of segment 7 is present under the viral lipid membrane in a very low abundance (16 to 20 molecules/virion) (Lamb et al., 1985). It plays an important role in the release of the viral ribonucleoprotein complex (vRNPs) through its ion channel activity, inside the cytoplasm after virus binding through HA to the sialic acid receptors on the host cell (Pinto et al., 1992; Wang et al., 1994).

2.2.4.6 Nonstructural proteins 1 and 2

RNA segment 8 of influenza virus is 890 nucleotides long and codes for two proteins: Nonstructural protein 1 (NS1) and Nonstructural protein 2 (NS2), the latter being the product of mRNA splicing. Originally thought to be nonstructural proteins, NS2 has now been shown to be the part of virions and also forms an association with the M1 protein (Yasuda et al., 1993; Ward et al., 1995).

NS1, on the other hand is one of the very well characterized proteins of the influenza virus. Influenza A NS1 is a 230 aa protein with two structural domains namely, RNA binding domain and an effector domain, which are joined by a flexible linker region. NS1 acts as an interferon antagonist in the infected host cells and also a regulator of both mRNA splicing and translation (Garcia-sastre et al., 1998; Marion et al., 1997; DeLa Luna et al., 1995; Enami et al., 1994).

2.2.5 Influenza A virus life cycle

2.2.5.1 Virus adsorption, entry, and uncoating

The life cycle of influenza virus is initiated with the binding of the virus to sialic acid receptors on the host cell through the distal tip of the HA molecules (Fig. 2.2). Different influenza viruses have different specificities for sialic acid linkages ($\alpha 2$, 3 or $\alpha 2$, 6) which in turn depends on the specific residues in the HA-receptor binding pocket (Coucerio et al., 1993; Matrosovich et al., 2004). The low affinity of the HA and sialic acid interaction is compensated by high avidity through multiple low affinity interactions (Weis et al., 1988).

Binding is followed by clathrin-dependent endocytosis of the virus which is a well-described model for influenza virus (Matlin et al., 1981) However, clathrin-independent internalization

mechanisms have also been identified for influenza virus (Conner and Schmid, 2003; Lakadamyali et al., 2004). Low pH of the endocytotic vesicle (around 5 to 6) facilitates the uncoating of the influenza virions through the following mechanisms:

- 1. Acidic endosomal pH causes structural changes in the HA molecule which is initiated with the cleavage of the precursor peptide HA0 into two subunits, HA1, and HA2. The conformational change exposes the fusion peptide at the N-terminus of the HA2 subunit, enabling it to interact with the membrane of the endosome. This opens up a pore that releases viral RNPs into the cytoplasm (Stegmann, 2000).
- 2. Low endosomal pH also activates M2 ion channel activity permitting the flow of the ions from the endosome to the inside of the virus particle. This ion flow inside the virus disrupts protein-protein interactions and ultimately releasing RNPs free of the M1 protein, which marks the completion of uncoating process (Matlin et al., 1981; Zhirnov and Grogoreiv, 1994).

2.2.5.2 Nuclear import of ribonucleoproteins

Transcription of the RNPs into mRNA occurs in the nucleus of the host cell. The eight influenza virus genome segments exist as naked RNA but are associated with four viral proteins to form viral ribonucleoprotein complexes (vRNPs) (Hsu et al., 1987). The viral RNPs are trafficked to the nucleus of the host cell for replication and transcription of the viral genome. Being large and bulky for passive diffusion, trafficking of the vRNPs rely on the nuclear localization signals (NLS) present on each subunit of the RNP complex (Jones et al., 1986; Mukaigawa and Nayak, 1991; Nath and Nayak, 1990; Nieto et al., 1994; Smith et al., 1987). The nuclear import is heavily dependent on the host and viral protein interactions and is reported to be initiated on recognition of an NLS-containing NP by

members of the karyopherin α (also called importin α) family (O'Neill et al., 1995; Wang et al., 1997). Also, another host factor RanBP5 is reported to interact with the PB1 subunit and facilitate the transport of vRNP (Deng *et al*, 2006).

2.2.5.3 Transcription and replication of viral genome

The incoming negative sense vRNA is transcribed as well as replicated within the nucleus (Herz et al, 1985; Jackson et al, 1982). The negative sense RNA is transcribed into the capped, polyadenylated messenger RNA via primer dependent mechanism. The transcription process requires the activity of cellular RNA polymerase II and begins with the 5' cap snatching from the host pre-mRNA transcripts. This process of cap-snatching is mediated by the capbinding function of the PB2 protein and endonuclease function of the PB1 protein of the RNP complex (Krug, 1981). The PB2 polymerase subunit binds to the 5' cap of the host premRNAs. The endonuclease activity of the PB1 protein leads to the cleavage of bound premRNAs at approximately 10 to 13 nucleotides from the 5' caps, usually after a purine residue (Beaton and Krug, 1981; Plotch et al., 1981). This is followed by RNA chain elongation catalyzed by the polymerase activity of PB1 protein by the addition of 'G' residue at the 3' end until it encounters a track of 5-7 uridine residues approximately 16 nucleotides before the 5' end of the vRNA (Li and Palese, 1994; Luo et al., 1991; Robertson et al., 1981). Polyadenylation of the transcribed viral mRNA is dependent on the stretch of five to seven uracil residues in the vRNA and is catalyzed by the same polymerase to produce a poly A tail.

In contrast, the cRNA molecules are full-length copies of vRNAs and serve as templates for the synthesis of negative sense genomic vRNA. Although, the mechanism of synthesis remains primer independent but via terminal initiation instead of internal initiation and realignment as in the case of cRNA synthesis. The switch between the two processes, i.e, transcription and replication is not entirely understood but is partially explained by the structural difference in transcription-competent polymerase and the replication-competent polymerase (Gonzalez and Ortin, 1999). Also, the cap-binding and endonuclease functions of PB2 and PB1 are not required when the polymerase is in replication mode. Unlike mRNAs, cRNAs and vRNAs are encapsidated.

2.2.5.4 Protein expression

Viral gene expression is temporally regulated which is primarily driven by the roles different proteins play at different points in the virus life cycle. Synthesis of NP and NS1 mRNAs and protein is favored at early stages of infection due to their roles in replication and in combating host interferon response respectively (Hatada et al., 1989).

In the late phase, NS1 levels go down, while HA, NA, and M1 mRNAs are preferentially expressed (Hay et al., 1977; Shapiro et al., 1987; Smith and Hay, 1982). The differential gene expression is also regulated at the level of vRNA promoter. The uracil to cytosine variation at position 4 in the 3' vRNA end of the PB1, PB2, and PA RNA segments leads to a downregulation of transcription and upregulation in replication and ultimately resulting in lower polymerase mRNAs and proteins in infected cells (Hay et al., 1977). The translational regulation is achieved via both selective translation of viral mRNAs as well as inhibition of host mRNA processing.

2.2.5.5 Nuclear export of ribonucleoproteins

Once the viral mRNAs are synthesized they have to be exported to the cytoplasm of the infected cell for viral protein translation. The newly assembled RNP complexes are also exported from the nucleus to cytoplasm. The matrix protein (M1) and the nuclear export
protein (NEP/NS2) direct the nuclear export of newly assembled RNP complexes. M1 interacts with RNPs and NP, and also nucleosomes thereby leading to the dissociation of RNP from the nuclear matrix (Baudin et al., 2001; Ye et al., 1999).

NEP/NS2 has been shown to interact with the export receptor, Crm1 (Neumann et al., 2000), and several nucleoporins. Interaction of NEP/NS2 with M1 is also reported leading to the currently accepted model that an RNP-M1-NEP/NS2 complex is formed in the nucleus and that NEP/NS2 (Akarsu et al., 2003) is responsible for recruiting the export machinery and directing export of the complex (Yasuda et al., 1993).



Fig. 2.2. Influenza virus life cycle. (Adapted from Behrens and Stoll, 2006)

Regulation of RNP export prevents premature exit of RNPs as well as the re-entry of RNPs into the nucleus following export. Mapping of NEP/NS2 binding site on M1 to M1 NLS suggested that it may act to keep the RNPs from re-entering the nucleus (Akarsu et al., 2003). Cytoplasmic anchoring of RNPs is also facilitated by NP through its binding to filamentous actin (Digard et al., 1999).

2.2.5.6 Virus assembly and budding

Correct assembly and packaging are pre-requisites for fully infectious virion. Virion components are assembled at the last stage of the viral life cycle. HA, NA, and M2 via their apical sorting signals are directed towards the apical plasma membrane, the virus assembly site. Thus, they are proposed to utilize lipid rafts for cell surface transport (Nayak et al., 2004). M1 protein plays an indispensable role in virus budding and is reported to be transported through either existing as M1-vRNP complex (Watanabe et al, 2010) or by associating with envelope glycoproteins (HA and NA) during exocytic transport (Ali et al., 2000).

Virus genome packaging is a debatable topic with two contrasting theories of random incorporation model and selective incorporation model. The first one describes the random packaging of the viral genome and is supported by the evidence that virions may possess more than eight vRNPs, to assure the presence of a full complement of eight vRNPs in virus particles (Bancroft and Parslow, 2002). The second model suggests that each vRNA segment contains a unique "packaging signal" and that every virion possesses a full complement of the eight vRNP segments. Packaging signals have been found to exist in the coding region at both the 5' and 3' ends of the genomic RNA (Enami et al., 1991). The selective incorporation model relies upon various RNA-RNA and RNA-protein interactions.

Accumulation of M1 at the lipid bilayer stimulates the bud formation by an outward curvature of plasma membrane. The budding process completes when the membranes fuse followed by fission and ultimately the release of viral particle. Sialidase activity of NA aids virus budding by cleaving the association of virions and the sialic acids on cellular surface (Matrosovich et al., 2004).

2.3 IAV and host interaction for efficient virus infection and pathogenesis

For an efficient replication and pathogenesis, IAV is known to collaborate with different cellular factors. It greatly depends on the host machinery at every step of the virus life cycle (Fig. 2.3). The most important aspect of understanding the virus- host interactions is to identify potential targets for anti-influenza therapy. The segmented genome of IAV has bestowed the virus with evolutionary advantages. It allows for a frequent generation of new viruses during replication of two different IAV subtypes in the same cell leading to reassortment of parental segments. Also, the current antivirals targeting the viral proteins seem to be inefficient in combating these new viral strains which harbor mutations due to an error-prone replication by viral RNA polymerase. These mutations confer resistance towards the currently available drugs. The Adamantane drugs, Amantadine, and Rimantadine, are 2 of the antivirals that target the proton flow through the M2 ion channel by binding near serine-31 clusters, hence, blocking the release of viral ribonucleoprotein complexes in the cell (Das et al., 2010). S31N mutation is the most prevalent mutation conferring adamantane resistance found in the recent epidemic causing H7N9 virus (Chen et al., 2013; Kageyama et al., 2013).

The imperative role of each host-virus interaction makes it an attractive target for developing a broad spectrum antiviral to contain the ever evolving IAV. Moreover, in contrast to viral proteins, host factors are less susceptible to mutations. Several genomic, proteomic and yeast two-hybrid screenings have been undertaken to identify the cellular factors recruited by the virus throughout infection (Bredel-Tretheway, 2011; Mayer et al., 2007; Shaw, 2011). A yeast two-hybrid and proteomic-based screening done by Shapira et al revealed an interactome of virus and host proteins and it was inferred from the study that the intra-viral network is extremely interconnected. When compared to other viruses, IAV interacts with greater number of human proteins. Also, a variability in interaction specificity was seen with 24 human proteins interacting with at least two flu proteins (Shapira et al., 2009). Genomewide RNAi screens also prove to be an excellent approach to search for host factors. A Drosophila RNAi technology used by Hao et al. tested against 13,071 genes identified over 100 genes in drosophila which on suppression resulted in decreased influenza virus infection (Hao et al., 2008).

Although some of these host factors are not crucial for normal cellular metabolism, they have been reported to be indispensable for virus replication. Inhibitors of these factors could halt progression of IAV inside the host cell at nontoxic concentrations. Inhibitors of cellular proteins required for endocytosis- like dynamin, ENac and viral replication such as PoIII, CAMK2B, DHODH and CLK1 (Hoffmann et al., 2011; Karlas et al., 2010; Konig et al., 2010), were able to block virus infection by blocking their respective functions. Thus, discovery of novel antiviral targets through *in vitro* and in silico screening of chemical compounds is a novel strategy and a source of antiviral targets. A virtual ligand screen of the NCI library with around 275,000 compounds against importin α 5 using the molecular

modeling program Q-MOL, revealed various compounds as potent antiviral hits (Müller et al., 2012). Among the identified hits were FDA- approved drugs belonging to class of triazoles and bis-triazoles including NSC331942 (Devries et al., 2011; Eierhoff et al., 2010).





2.4 Influenza A virus Nucleoprotein

All viruses with negative sense RNA genomes encode single strand RNA (ssRNA) binding nucleoprotein that encapsidates the virus genome to form a ribonucleoprotein complex (Tordo e al., 1992). NP, encoded by RNA segment 5, is a 498 amino acids long polypeptide. Structurally, NP consists of a head and a body domain folding into a crescent-shaped structure. The head domain is the most conserved part followed by tail/linker and body regions. Inserting into a neighboring nucleoprotein molecule for oligomerization is a tail loop. The oligomerization is an essential requirement for vRNP formation. It plays a major role in maintaining RNP structure. Deletion mutant studies identified two regions, NP1 and NP2 (Fig. 2.4) that were capable of forming NP-NP contacts. At the same time, 23 residues at the c-terminal were found to inhibit oligomerization (Elton et al., 1999).

NP has highly helical secondary structure with 19 α helices and 8 β strands, while the rest are loops. The polypeptide has a predicted pI of 9.3 due to the predominance of basic amino acids, the 30 residues at the c-terminal are acidic with a pI of 3.7 (Arranz et al., 2012). NP gene is relatively well conserved among virus strains isolated from different hosts (Shu et al., 1993). Additionally, NP is modified through phosphorylation that has a potential role in RNP trafficking.



Fig2.4. Crystal structure of NP dimer. (Adapted from Ng et al., 2008)

RNA binding activity of NP is a well-studied aspect of NP. The RNA binding groove is located on the exterior between the head and body domains. The binding is characterized with a high affinity (k_d ~20 nM) but little or no sequence specificity (Scholtissek and Becht, 1971; Kingsbury et al., 1987; Yamanaka et al., 1990; Baudin et al., 1994; Digard et al., 1999). Most importantly, the RNA binding region was mapped to the N-terminal of NP which was later postulated to work in coherence with other sequences for the high-affinity RNA binding (Albo et al., 1995). EM analysis by two separate groups revealed that native RNPs are double helical structures with two NP strands of opposite polarity that facilitates the association between the two. However, while one study proposed that the stem region has a rise of 32.6 A° between two neighboring NPs with 4.9 NP molecules per turn (Moeller et al., 2013), the other presented a reconstruction of the native RNPs from influenza virions (Arranz et al., 2012) showing that the rise step per monomer was constant at 28.4 A° and the rotation angle between monomers ranged from -578 to -648, forming helices with approximately 12 NP monomers per turn. Recent evidence proves that NP is required for viral replication wherein it mediates the switch from capped- primed viral mRNA synthesis to unprimed viral RNA replication. The function is considered to be the result of its interaction with the polymerases.

Apart from being the structural component of the virus, NP performs various essential functions via its interaction with a plethora of cellular factors like cytoskeleton scaffolding protein α -actinin-4 (Sharma et al., 2014), nuclear import receptor α importin (Elton et al., 2001), nuclear export receptor CRM1 (Momose et al., 2001), DEAD-box helicase BAT1/UAP56 and cytoskeletal element F-actin (Digard et al., 1999). Recently it was reported that NP induces apoptosis through its interaction with host anti-apoptotic host protein Clusterin (Tripathi et al., 2013). Considering its critical importance in IAV infection and pathogenesis, it is speculated to utilize other cellular pathways to accomplish its pro-apoptotic function, including the much-conserved ubiquitin proteasomal pathway (UPP).

2.5 Ubiquitin proteasomal pathway

Ubiquitin is a small molecule of 76 residues found to covalently attach to proteins to target them for degradation via 26S proteasome. The process is comprehensively known as the ubiquitin proteasomal pathway (UPP). Ubiquitin is expressed from polyubiquitin gene carrying tandem identical ubiquitin repeats and two N-terminal ubiquitin moieties. The mature 76 amino acid protein carrying the characteristic C-terminal di-Gly motif, is released following the cleavage of the blocked C-termini of the precursor through specific endopeptidase (Mukhopadhyay and Riezman, 2007).

Ubiquitylation is a cumulative effect of the sequential action of 3 enzymes: E1 ubiquitinactivating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and E3 ubiquitin ligase enzymes (Fig. 2.5). The three step conjugation reaction is initiated with an ATP-dependent thiol ester formation with the C-terminal Gly of ubiquitin by the E1 enzyme. This activates the ubiquitin for nucleophilic attack, which is then transferred by transesterification reaction onto a ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2). Finally, the attachment is catalyzed by ubiquitin ligase E3 through an isopeptide bond between the C-terminus of ubiquitin and the ε -amino group of a lysyl residue in a target protein. However, E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme may play a role in determining linkage specificity alone or in conjunction with E2-associated proteins. When there is an attachment of more than a single Ub, different chain types ensue, depending on whether the N-terminal Meth or one of the seven Lys residues of the acceptor ubiquitin reacts with the incoming E2-bound donor ubiquitin. Depending upon the type of ubiquitination chains, varying from monoubiquitination to poly or multi-ubiquitination, and the Lysine residue involved, the physiological function may vary. Lys 48 and Lys 63 are the best-characterized chains marking proteins for proteasomal degradation and signaling process respectively. similarly, Lys 11 chains can control cell cycle progression and Met 1 chains (also known as linear chains) contribute to NF-κB signaling (Mukhopadhyay and Riezman, 2007; Randow and Lehner, 2009).



Fig 2.5. The ubiquitin chain formation. (A) The ubiquitin conjugation reaction. (B) Regulation by different ubiquitination chain. (Adapted from Hoeller et al., 2006)

A completely different class of proteins, known as deubiquitinases, reverses this process by removing the Ub molecules from target proteins. These enzymes release ubiquitin from its precursor forms by hydrolysing peptide bonds, however, their specificity is also directed towards a specific ubiquitin chain linkage, such as Lys 63 or Lys 48 chains (Lindner, 2007).

2.6 Viral exploitation of the ubiquitin system

Ubiquitination is a key regulatory mechanism in the orchestration of various cellular activities including signal transduction, transcription, membrane protein trafficking, apoptosis, autophagy and immune responses (Mukhopadhyay and Riezman, 2007; Welchman et al., 2005; Pickart, 2004). Hence, it has become increasingly evident that the comprehensive ubiquitinylation process remains a prime target of a broad range of pathogens including viruses (Randow and Lehner, 2009; Lindner, 2007). Viruses may employ various strategy to exploit this multifaceted process. Viruses may encode their own ubiquitin, for eg. Baculoviruses encoded ubiquitin that is clearly not essential for virus replication but contains 58 conserved residues and hence is presumed to selectively perform some of the cellular ubiquitin functions (Reilly and Guarino, 1996). Besides ubiquitins, viruses encode E3 ligases or deubiquitinases as well as adaptor proteins to modulate the cellular E3s and deubiquitinases to modulate the ubiquitination status of substrates of choice.

2.6.1 E3 ligases as viral targets

With 600 putative E3 ligases encoded by the mammalian genome, the receptor specificity is maintained by E3 ligase and hence these proteins are heavily exploited by viruses. The most versatile and largest of the three known classes of E3 ligases, is the RING (Really Interesting New Gene) E3 ligase, as compared to the other two, HECT (homology to E6AP carboxyl terminus) and U-box ligase (Randow and Lehner, 2009). A small proportion of RING E3 ligases has transmembrane domains, enabling their insertion into cellular membranes.

Currently, the only known viral E3 ligases are RING-type, including the RING-CH family and the ICP0 family. Infected cell protein 0 (ICP0) of Herpes Simplex Viruses-1 (HSV-1) induces ubiquitylation and proteasomal degradation of PML and Sp100 (Boutell et al., 2002). P53 and USP7 are other substrates of ICP0 wherein its binding with the latter prevents auto ubiquitination of ICP0 and suppress NF-kB signaling (Boutell Evereit, 2003; Canning et al., 2004). RING-CH E3s have been identified in viruses like murine and human γ -herpesviruses, where the key function varies from ubiquitination mediated down regulation or proteasomal degradation of various receptors to promote viral immune evasion (Stevenson et al., 2000; Coscoy and Ganem, 2000; Ishido et al., 2000; Haque et al., 2001).

To further redirect ubiquitylation, viruses encode adaptors that recruit the cellular E3 ligases and modulate the ubiquitination status of the desired substrates. p53 remains a prime target of viruses to subvert cellular apoptosis including adenoviruses. The E6 protein of Human oncogenic papilloma virus (HPV) 16 and 18, induces degradation of p53 by forming a complex with cellular HECT E3 ligase, E6AP (Scheffner et al., 1990).

Some paramyxoviruses, including mumps virus, human parainfluenza virus type 2 (HPIV2) and simian virus 5 (SV5), through their highly conserved V proteins, target STATs ubiquitylation and degradation. It is reported to be mediated through DDB1, a substrate adaptor of the Cul4A E3 ligase and ultimately results in limiting the activity of interferons (Fontana et al., 2008; Li et al., 2006; Parisien et al., 2002).

2.6.2 Influenza virus and UPP

Previous reports have shown that UPP has an important function in early steps of influenza virus infection. Treatment of host cells with proteasome inhibitor MG132 or lactacystin affected the early stages of virus replication. The confocal laser scanning analysis showed that influenza virus selectively employs the ubiquitin/vacuolar protein-sorting pathway for

entry into host cells (Khor et al., 2003). Recently, two complementary mass spectrometry based comprehensive proteomic analysis of purified influenza virus particles revealed that Ubiquitin is among the 36 host-encoded proteins in influenza virus particles (Shaw et al., 2008).

IAV protein NS1 is reported to target the ubiquitin ligase TRIM 25 to escape RIGI recognition. The NS1 protein is known to inhibit type-I interferon (IFN) production and part of this function is achieved by blocking the Lys63 linked RIG-I ubiquitination by E3 ligase TRIM25 (Gack et al., 2009). TRIM25 mediated ubiquitination is critical in RIG-I downstream signaling, and NS1 encoded by human (Cal04), avian (HK156), swine (SwTx98), and mouse-adapted (PR8) influenza viruses binds to human TRIM25 (Rajsbaum et al., 2012). M1 protein reportedly interacts with the cellular E3 ligase, Itch. Identified through genome-wide pooled shRNA screen, Itch ligase reportedly ubiquitinates M1 protein and mediates IAV release from the endosome (Su et al., 2013).

It was shown that another cellular E3 ligase, NEDD4 indirectly promotes cellular entry of influenza virus by depleting Interferon (IFN)-induced transmembrane protein 3 (IFITM3) levels through ubiquitination. IFITM3 is known to restrict cellular infection by influenza virus in humans and mice, thus, NEDD4 is proposed as a novel drug target for developing influenza other IFITM3-sensitive virus antivirals (Chesarino et al., 2015).

Cellular deubiquitinating enzyme USP11 down regulation led to an enhanced influenza virus replication which was further proved to interact with the components of the viral polymerase complex, PA, PB2, and NP. Also, USP11 deubiquitinates NP which was found to be monoubiquitinated at K184 residue (Liao et al., 2010). Moreover, it has been discovered recently that NP itself acts as an adaptor protein wherein it interacts with the ubiquitin ligase

MDM2 to stabilize the tumor suppressor protein, p53 through its decreased ubiquitination (Wang et al., 2012).

2.7 RING Finger 43 (RNF43)

RING Finger 43 protein (RNF43) is a recently identified PA-TM-RING finger ubiquitin ligase that is implicated to be over-expressed in human colorectal cancers and hepatocellular carcinomas with anti-apoptotic and growth promoting effects (Sugiura et al., 2008; Koo et al., 2012; Xing et al., 2013).

2.7.1 RNF43 Structure

RNF43 is a 783 amino acid long single pass transmembrane protein, containing an extracellular protease-associated (PA) domain, and a cytoplasmic RING domain (Fig. 2.6) (Chen et al., 2013). It derives its name from the RING domain (272-313aa) typically responsible for the ubiquitin ligase activity. The Ring finger protein sequence was first identified in the protein product of the human gene RING1-Really Interesting New Gene 1 (Hao et al., 2012). The RING finger motif is a unique linear series of conserved cysteine and histidine residues, $Cys-X_2-Cys-X_{9-39}-Cys-X_{1-3}-His-X_{2-3}-Cys/His-X_2-Cys-X_{4-48}-Cys-X_2-Cys, where X can be any amino acid, but there are distinct preferences for particular types of amino acid at particular positions. The structural and biophysical analysis confirmed that the RING finger binds two zinc atoms in an interleaved arrangement.$



Fig2.6. Domain organization of human RNF43.



Fig 2.7. Crystal structure of the PA domain of RNF43. (Adapted from Zebisch and Jones, 2015)

PA domains play regulatory roles by functioning as ligand recognition motifs. These are commonly found in proteases as well as receptors such as transferrin receptors and plantsorting receptors (Luo and Hofmann, 2001). The PA domain of RNF43 consists of seven β strands that form a twisted β sheet and three peripheral α helices (Fig. 2.7) (Chen et al., 2013; Zebisch et al., 2013; Peng et al., 2013).

2.7.2 Cellular Functions of RNF43

RNF43 was identified to be up-regulated in colorectal carcinomas (CRCs) after a genomewide cDNA microarray analysis. RNF43 expresses at almost undetectable level in fetal kidney and lung but low-level expression in adult tissues. The primary biological functions of RING finger proteins is to catalyze ubiquitylation as a ubiquitin isopeptide ligase. Even though the presence of the RING finger domain implies the relationship of RNF43 with the ubiquitylation pathway, the biochemical characterization of RNF43 came later. RNF43 was found to reside mainly in the endoplasmic reticulum but also partially in the inner nuclear membrane (Sugiura et al., 2008). Ectopic expression of RNF43 in COS7 and NIH3T3 cells conferred growth promoting effects. RNF43 was identified as immunogenic and proposed to be a putative tumor associated antigen (TAA) of colorectal cancers as well as for lung, gastric, and liver cancers. This finding led to the development of the epitope peptides derived from RNF43 for peptide vaccination for various cancers (Yagyu et al., 2004). At the same time, anti-apoptotic role of RNF43 in hepatocellular carcinomas (HCCs) was elucidated by RNF43 knockdown which induced apoptosis and inhibited proliferation, invasion, colony formation and xenograft. In the same study, microarray-based gene profiling after RNF43 knockdown revealed 229 differentially expressed genes with most of them implicated in oncogenic processes like cell proliferation, cell motility, cell adhesion, cell death and DNA repair (Xing et al., 2013).



Fig.2.8 Negative Feedback regulation of Wnt signaling by RNF43. (Adapted from Koo et al., 2012)

One more evidence of anti-apoptotic activity of RNF43 came from the study where it was shown to interact with NEDL1 and that overexpression of RNF43 suppressed the transcriptional activity of p53 and UV-induced apoptosis. This provided a direct evidence of RNF43's association with p53-associated apoptotic cell death in colorectal carcinogenesis via interaction with NEDL1 (Shinada et al., 2011).

The growth-promoting effect of RNF43 in CRC is driven by the negative feedback regulation of Wnt signaling by the E3 ligase (Fig. 2.8). RNF43 along with ZNRF3 ubiquitinates Frizzled receptors leading to its endocytosis and lysosomal degradation. The

PA domain of the ZNRF3/RNF43 ectodomain interacts with the N-terminal cysteine-rich domain of the Frizzled. The interaction could either be direct or in combination with other components. The ubiquitination results in the removal of the receptors from the cell surface and down-regulation of the Wnt signaling (Koo et al., 2012).

CHAPTER 3 Materials and Methods

3.1 MATERIALS

3.1.1 Cell lines and strains

Bacterial strains	
Escherichia coli DH5 α [supE44 Δ lac U169 (Φ 80 lacZ Δ M15) hsdR17 recA1 endA1 gyrA96 thi-1relA1]	Invitrogen Life Technologies, USA
Yeast strains	
L40 (<i>MATa his3</i> ∆200 <i>trp1-901 leu2-3112 ade2 LYS2</i> (4lexAop- <i>HIS3) URA3:</i> (8lexAop- <i>lacZ</i>) <i>GAL4</i>)	Invitrogen, USA
Mammalian cell lines	
HEK293, HEK293T, A549, Huh7	ATCC, USA
HCT116 p53-/-	Kind gift from Dr. Bert Vogelstein

 Table 3.1. Bacterial, yeast strains and cell lines used in the study.

3.1.2 Reagents

Molecular weight markers	
100 bp ladder	Fermentas, Canada
λLadder (EcorI + HindIII)	Fermentas, Canada
Prestained protein marker	Fermentas, Canada

Antibodies	
α-RNF43 (sc-165398), α -M2, α - p53, α -p21, α -HA, α –GAPDH, α - GFP, Goat α-mouse-HRP, Goat α- rabbit-HRP, α-Rb, α-CDK4	Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA
α -RNF43 (SAB2102033) and α - β -actin	Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
anti-E2F1, α -Bax and α -Puma	Cell Signaling, Boston, MA, USA
α-acetyl p53 (Lys-382)	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
α-rabbit alexa 594, α-mouse alexa 488, DAPI (Molecular Probes, USA),	Molecular Probes, USA
α-NP	Immunology and Pathogenesis Branch, Influenza Division, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA.
Drugs	
Cycloheximide (CHX)	Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
MG132	Calbiochem, EMD Biosciences, Billerica, MA, USA
Kits	
Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System	Promega Life Science, Madison, WI, USA
Mini/ Midi prep plasmid kit, PCR/gel extraction kit	Qiagen, Germany

Annexin V FITC Assay kit	Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA
5-Bromo-2'-deoxy-uridine Labeling and Detection Kit I	Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA
Membranes and filter papers	
Whatman no.1 paper	Whatman Co., NJ, USA
Nitrocellulase membrane	Amersham biosciences, UK
Restriction endonucleases and DNA modifying enzymes	
Restriction endonucleases	Fermentas, Canada
T4 DNA Ligase	NEB, MA, USA
Pfu Polymerase, Phusion polymerase	Finnzymes, Finland
Reverse transcriptase (M-MuLV)	Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA
Bacterial culture components	
Yeast Extract, Tryptone, Agar	Becton Dickinson Company, Maryland, USA
Sodium chloride	Merck, NJ, USA
Tissue culture reagents	

DMEM, Penicillin-streptomycin, Trypsin	GIBCO-Invitrogen, NY, USA
Sodium biocarbonate, HEPES, Glucose	Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO, USA
Lipofectamine 2000, Opti-MEM	Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA
Yeast culture components	
Yeast nitrogen base, Peptone	Becton Dickinson Company, Maryland, USA
Amino acids, X-Gal	Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO, USA

 Table 3.2. Reagents used in the study.

No.	IAV Strains	Genbank ID
1	A/Puerto Rico/8/34 (PR8) H1N1	CY033577.1
2	A/Aichi/2/1968 (X-31) H3N2	CY044304.1

3.1.3 Viral strains and plasmid constructs

Table 3.3. Influenza A viruses used in the study.

No.	DNA constructs	Cloning Details
1	pHLZ-NP	NP gene of A/Hatay/2004(H5N1) IAV (AJ867076.1) cloned into pHLZ (Invitrogen). (Sharma et al., 2011)
2	NP- Myc	NP gene of A/Hatay/2004 (H5N1) IAV (AJ867076.1) cloned into pcDNA3.1MycHis (Invitrogen). (Sharma et al., 2011)
3	NP- GFP	NP gene of A/Hatay/2004 (H5N1) IAV (AJ867076.1) cloned into pEGFPN1. (Sharma et al., 2011)
4	RNF43-Flag/HA	Homo sapiens RING Finger protein 43 (RNF43) cloned into pcDNA3.1Zeo. (Koo et al., 2012)
5	pYestrp2- RNF43	Homo sapiens RING Finger protein 43 (RNF43) cloned into pYESTrp2 at EcoRI and Sph1.

Table 3.4. Plasmid constructs used in the study.

Real time primers		Sequence [5'-3']
RNF43 mRNA	Fwd	GCAGGAGCTACGGGTCATTTC
	Rev	GATGCTGATGTAACCAGGGGT
NP mRNA	Fwd	CTCGTCGCTTATGACAAGAAG
	Rev	AGATCATCATGTGAGTCAGAC
P21 mRNA	Fwd	GTCAGTTCCTTGTGGAGCCG
	Rev	CTCCAGTGGTGTCTCGGTG
P53 mRNA	Fwd	GTTTCCGTCTGGGCTTCTTGC
	Rev	ACGCAAATTTCCTTCCACTCGG
GAPDH mRNA	Fwd	TCACTGCCACCCAGAAGACTG
	Rev	GGATGACCTTGCCCACAGC

3.1.4 Primers and oligo sequences

Table 3.5. Real time primers used in the study.

Construct	Sequence [5'-3']
pYestrp2- RNF43	Fwd AGAATTCTGGAAATGGTTATGAGTGGTGGCCACCAGCT G
	Rev GAAGCTTAAGCATGCTCACAGCCTGTTCACACAGCTC

Table 3.6. Primers and oligo sequence used in the study.

3.2 COMPOSITION OF REAGENTS AND MEDIA

Reagents/Buffer/Media Composition	
1X Protease inhibitor cocktail	 16 mg/ml benzamidine 10 mg/ml aprotinin 10 mg/ml leupeptin 10 mg/ml pepstatin A 1 mM PMSF 10 mg/ml phenanthroline
2X SDS-PAGE buffer	 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8) 4% SDS 20% glycerol 4% β-mercaptoethanol 0.01% bromophenol blue
LB (Luria Bertani) medium (1 liter, pH 7.5)	10 g Bacto-tryptone 5 g Bacto yeast extract 10 g NaCl
YPD (Yeast Peptone Dextrose) (1 liter, pH 7.5)	20 g Bacto-peptone 10 g Bacto-yeast extract 20 g dextrose
1X PBS (Phosphate Buffer Saline) (pH 7.4)	 150 mM NaCl 0.27 mM KCl 10 mM disodium hydrogen phosphate (Na2HPO4) 0.2 mM sodium di-hydrogen phosphate (NaH2PO4)
1X PBST	0.05% (v/v) Tween-20 in 1X Phosphate buffer saline (PBS)
Western Blocking buffer	5% (w/v) Non-fat dry milk (Biorad) in 1X PBST
1X Cell Lysis buffer	50 mM Tris-Cl (pH7.5) 150 mM NaCl 1mM EDTA 1% triton X-100 1X protease inhibitor (prior to use).

Immuno-precipiration (IP) buffer	50 mM Tris, pH 7.5 150 mM NaCl 1 mM EDTA 0.1% NP-40
Ubiquitination assay lysis buffer	6M guanidinium-HCl 0.1 M Na ₂ HPO ₄ /NaH ₂ PO ₄ 0.01 M Tris/HCl (pH 8.0) 5mM Imidazole 10mM β-mercaptoethanol
1X LiAc buffer	10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) 1 mM EDTA 100 mM LiAc
Buffer Z	0.1 M Na2PO4 buffer (pH 7.0) 10 mM KCl 1 mM MgSO4
PEG/LiAc solution	10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) 1 mM EDTA 100 mM LiAc 40% PEG 3350
Tris-EDTA Buffer (TE)	10 mM Tris 1 mM EDTA (pH 8.0)
Tris-Borate Buffer (TBE)	88 mM Tris-Borate 89 mM Boric acid 2mM EDTA
Solution I, plasmid prep	50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) 10 mM EDTA 100 ug/ml RNase A Glucose
Solution II, plasmid prep	200 mM NaOH 1% SDS

Solution III, plasmid prep	3M potassium acetate (pH 5.5)
Ampicillin	Stock of 100 mg/ml in 50% absolute alcohol
Kanamycin	Stock of 50 mg/ml in autoclaved MQ-water

Table 3.7. Primers and oligo sequence used in the study.

3.3 METHODS

3.3.1 Preparation of competent cells

A single colony of *E. coli* DH5 α strain was inoculated into 5 ml LB medium and was grown for 12-16 h at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm. Next day, 100 ml of fresh LB medium was inoculated using 1% inoculum of the overnight grown primary culture and grown till A₆₀₀ 0.5 to 0.6 was reached. The cell culture was incubated at 4°C for 30 min and pelleted down at 4,000 rpm at 4°C for 10 min. The cell pellet was re suspended in 10 ml of 100 mM CaCl₂ and kept at 4°C for 1 hour. The cells were then pelleted down and resuspended in 1.6 ml of 100 mM CaCl₂and incubated overnight at 0°C. The cells were finally re-suspended in glycerol with working concentration as 20% following which aliquots were made in sterile microfuge tubes and stored at 70°C for future use.

3.3.2 Transformation

The competent cells were used for transformation and propagation of various DNA constructs. For transformation, about 50-200 ng of DNA or ligation mixture in a volume of ranging from 10-25 μ l was added into 100 μ l of competent cells in sterile 1.5 ml microfuge tubes and incubated on ice for 30 min. The tubes were incubated at 42°C in a water bath for 1.5 min followed by incubation on ice for 2-3 minutes. To this, 1ml of sterile LB broth was added and incubated at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm for 1 h. The cells were then harvested, re-suspended in 100 μ l of LB medium and plated on LB agar plates containing the appropriate antibiotic. Plates were incubated for 12-16 h at 37°C for colonies to appear.

3.3.3 DNA isolation

DNA mini-preparations were carried out using 25 ml culture following alkaline lysis method, as described in Sambrook *et* al. or using Qiagen columns as per manufacturer's instructions. Large scale preparation of DNA was done by PEG.

3.3.4 Estimation of nucleic acid

Estimation of DNA and RNA was carried out spectrophotometrically. While the quantity of nucleic acid was estimated by measuring A_{260} , the purity of nucleic acids in solution was determined by measuring the ratio A_{260}/A_{280} . The concentration of nucleic acids was calculated by taking 1 A_{260} = 50 µg/ml for DNA, 40 µg/ml for RNA and 33 µg/ml for single stranded oligonucleotides. The purity of nucleic acids was checked by their A_{260}/A_{280} ratio.

3.3.5 Preparation of *S. cerevisiae* competent cells

A 5 ml preculture of *S. cerevisiae* cells was prepared by growing a single yeast colony overnight in YPD medium (Yeast extract Peptone Dextrose medium: 1% Yeast extract, 2% Peptone, and 2% Dextrose). 400-800 µl of the preculture was transferred to 100 ml YPD

medium in a baffled flask. The cells were grown overnight with shaking (200 rpm) at 30°C. When the cell density approximated 1-4 x 107 (*A*600 1.00), the culture was transferred to a sterile polypropylene tube and centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 2 min. The yeast pellet was washed once with 10 ml lithium acetate solution (0.1M Lithium acetate, 10 mM Tris-Cl (pH-8.0), and 1 mM EDTA) and finally resuspended in 1 ml of this solution. The cells were stored on ice until transformation.

3.3.6 Transformation of yeast plasmid

DNA (5 μ g) mixed with 4 μ l denatured salmon sperm DNA (10 mg/ml) was added to 100 μ l of competent cells and kept at room temperature for 5 min. 700 μ l of 40% PEG 3350 in lithium acetate solution was then added to the tube and mixed by inverting 4-6 times. The tube was incubated at 30°C for 45 min after which 50 μ l of DMSO was added to the tube. Cells were given heat shock at 42°C for 5 min followed by 2 min on ice. The cells were washed once with sterile water and then plated on appropriate YC media. The plates were incubated at 30°C.

3.3.7 Cell culture

HEK293, HEK293T, A549 and Huh7 were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). HCT116 p53^{-/-} cell line was a kind gift from Dr. Bert Vogelstein. All the cell lines were grown and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), Penicillin Streptomycin solution (100 units/ml) in 5% CO2 containing environment. The cell lines were sub-cultured on reaching 90% confluency.

3.3.8 DNA transfection

Cells were seeded on 60 mm dishes at around 50-60% confluency followed by DNA transfection the next day. DNA transfections were done with either Lipofectamine 2000 or Lipofectamine 3000 in NANS medium. The Lipofectamine and DNA mix in NANS was kept for 20min. and then added to the cells. After 6hours of incubation, NANS was replaced with 10% FBS containing DMEM. 48 h post transfection, the cells were harvested and analyzed as needed.

3.3.9 Preparation of cell lysates

At the indicated time post transfection, cells were scraped either in SDS-PAGE gel loading buffer or lysed in 1X cell lysis buffer containing the protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Cell lysis was carried out for 45 min at 4°C with gentle vortexing every 15 minutes. The lysate was clarified by centrifugation at 13000rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The protein concentration of the lysate was estimated using the Bradford reagent.

3.3.10 Immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates were prepared by incubating cells in 1X cell lysis buffer for 45 minutes with intermittent brief vortexing following which lysates were cleared by centrifugation at maximum RCF for 10 minutes at 4°C. Protein estimation was carried out for cleared lysates using Bradford's reagent. Equal amounts of protein diluted to 500 μ L volume with 1X cell lysis buffer were incubated with 1 μ g of antibody overnight at 4°C. 50 μ L of bead volume of A or protein G sepharose beads were incubated for 90 minutes with protein. Beads were then washed thrice with chilled PBS. Immunoprecipitates were eluted through boiling the beads in SDS- PAGE sample buffer for 10 minutes, subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis.

3.3.11 SDS- Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of proteins

Protein samples were prepared by mixing with equal volume of 2X SDS-PAGE loading buffer. Protein concentrations of the samples were measured using Bradford reagent. Samples were denatured in boiling water for 5 min, centrifuged briefly and loaded on the gel. Gels were run at 60 V till the proteins stacked properly and thereafter gels were run at a constant voltage of 100 V. Following the run, gels were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane.

3.3.12 Western blotting

For western blotting, proteins resolved with SDS-PAGE were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane in transfer buffer at a constant voltage of 60 V for 1 h. Membrane was Ponceau stained to check the quality of transfer and later agitated in 1X PBST till the dye was completely washed off. To reduce non-specific binding, the membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk or Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA), prepared in 1X PBST, for 1–2 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. After blocking, the membrane was washed with PBST and incubated with appropriate primary antibody diluted in PBST containing 2-3% milk or BSA for 1 h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. The blot was then washed three times for 10 min each with PBST and then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse IgG diluted in PBST containing 2-3% milk or BSA for 1-2 h at room temperature. Chemiluminescent detection of proteins was carried out using the Santa Cruz Western blot detection system, according to the supplier's protocol. For re-probing the same blot with other antibodies, the membrane was stripped with stripping buffer and used as described in the Cell Signaling Technology protocol.

3.3.13 Immunofluorescence assay

Cells were grown on coverslips to 40-50% confluency and DNA was transfected using lipofectamine in antibiotic-free and serum-free DMEM. 4-6 hours post-transfection, the medium was removed and replaced with complete DMEM containing 10% FBS. Around 48 h post-transfection, the cells were washed with PBS and were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min and permeabilized with 0.4% triton X-100 in PBS for 20 min at room temperature. Similarly for virus infection studies, cells were grown on coverslips to 80% confluence and infected with Influenza A virus A/Puerto Rico/8/34 H1N1 (PR8) virus, wild-type (WT), at 5 MOI in DMEM containing 0.3% BSA. At 0, 4 h and 8 h post-infection, the medium was removed and the cells were washed with PBS and fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 10-15 min at room temperature. Fixed cells were then washed twice with PBST (0.2% Tween 20), blocked with 2% bovine serum albumin for 1 hour at room temp and left at 4°C for overnight immuno staining with the specific primary antibody in 1:1000 dilution in 0.5% BSA. Later, cells were washed with PBST, incubated with secondary alexa flour antibodies' (594, 488) (Invitrogen) solution in 1:1000 dilution in 0.5% BSA for 1hour and washed with PBST. Slides were prepared by mounting the cover slips with Prolong Gold antifade medium with nuclei staining dye, DAPI (Invitrogen) and sealing the sides of the cover slips synthetic rubber-based adhesive (FeviBond). Cell images were taken under X60 objective lens of Leica DM6000B confocal microscope. Images were processed using NIS Elements AR 3.0 software (Nikon, Melville, NY, USA).

3.3.14 Luciferase reporter assay

A549 lung epithelial cells were pre-treated with NT siRNA and RNF43 siRNA. Components of influenza polymerase PB2, PB1, PA and NP were transfected along with luciferase

reporter plasmid which contains noncoding sequences from the NS1 segment of influenza A virus and the luciferase gene driven by Pol I, 24hr post-transfection of siRNA (Chen et al., 2008). Firefly luciferase plasmid pGL3 was used as an internal control. Similarly, A549 cells were transiently co transfected with p21 luciferase reporter plasmid containing the p53 binding site on its promoter together with different combinations of plasmids and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK. Luciferase activity was measured using the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega). The firefly luciferase activity of each sample was normalized to constitutively expressed Renilla luciferase plasmid, pRL-TK.

3.3.15 Influenza virus infection

For virus infections, DMEM supplemented with 0.3% bovine serum albumin was used. Cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) followed by virus infection and incubated for virus adsorption at 37 °C. One hour later the virus was removed and cells were incubated with DMEM containing 0.3% BSA. In mock-infected cells, virus was replaced with PBS.

3.3.16 RNA isolation

Total RNA was isolated from cells using TRIzol reagent as per the supplier's instructions (Invitrogen). Briefly, to a 60 mm culture dish containing 1×10^6 uninfected/ infected cells, 1 ml of Trizol was added and the cells were lysed by repeated pipetting. 200 µl chloroform per 1ml of trizol was added and incubated for 5 min at room temperature after a vigorous shaking. The aqueous phase was separated by centrifuging at 12,000g for 15 min at 4°C. RNA was precipitated by adding 0.5 ml of isopropanol to the aqueous phase obtained and incubating for 15min at room temp followed by centrifugation at 12,000g for 10 min at 4°C.

The RNA pellet was washed once with 75% EtOH at 7500g for 5min and air dried. The RNA was dissolved in 50µl of DEPC treated water. The RNA concentration was checked by spectrophotometer.

3.3.17 First strand cDNA synthesis

The first strand cDNA synthesis was primed by oligo dT using MMLV reverse transcriptase and starting with 5-10 µg of total RNA isolated from transfected/infected cells as per supplier's instructions. Synthesis of cDNA was carried out at 42°C for 1 h in 50 µl final volume containing 5 µg of total RNA, 1X reverse transcription buffer, 1 mM of each dents, 40 U/µl recombinant RNasin[®] (ribonuclease inhibitor), 10 U/µg (total RNA) MMLV reverse transcriptase and 0.5 µg oligo dT primer. Reverse transcribed samples containing first strand cDNAs were directly used for PCR. The PCR reaction volume of 50 µl consisted of 5 µl of reverse transcribed sample, 1X Taq DNA polymerase reaction buffer, 200 µM of each dNTP, 2.5U Taq or Phusion DNA polymerase and 10 pmole each of forward and reverse primers. PCR amplification was performed for 25-30 cycles with denaturation at 95°C for 60 sec, annealing at optimal temperature for 45-60 sec and extension at 72°C for 60-75 sec. Optimal number of PCR cycles for linear amplification of the different transcripts was defined. The human GAPDH specific primers were used in control reactions in all RT-PCR analyses. PCR products were electrophoretically fractionated on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

3.3.18 Cycloheximide assay

Cycloheximide (CHX), a protein translation inhibitor, was added to the media at a concentration of 50µg/ml, 44 h post transfection in A549 cells. Cells were incubated for

indicated time periods at 37^oC and harvested in SDS-PAGE sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis.

3.3.19 Ubiquitination assay and purification of His –tagged ubiquitin conjugates

Proteasome inhibitor, MG132 was used to determine the ubiquitination status of p53 protein. HEK293T cells grown in 60mm cell culture dishes were transiently co-transfected with the indicated plasmids and treated with 20 μ M MG132 for 5 hours before harvesting. Cells were lysed in triton X-100 cell lysis buffer and mixed with SDS PAGE sample buffer followed by western blot analysis with anti p53 antibody. For purification of His tagged conjugates, HEK293T cells were treated similarly and were processed as described previously (Xirodimas et al., 2001). Concisely, the cells were lysed in a lysis buffer (6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na2HPO4-NaH2PO4, 0.01 M Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 5 mM imidazole, 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol) followed by an incubation of 12 h with Ni2+-NTA beads (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) at 4 °C on a rotating wheel. The beads were then washed with wash buffer for 5 minutes at room temperature as explained previously and incubated with 75 μ l of elution buffer (200 mM imidazole, 0.15 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.7, 30% glycerol, 0.72 M β -mercaptoethanol and 5% SDS) for 20 min at room temperature. The eluates were mixed with SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analyzed through western blotting with required antibodies.

3.3.20 Flow cytometry

Annexin V staining of cells was done with Annexin V FITC Assay kit (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. A549 and HCT116 p53^{-/-} cells were seeded in 12 well plates and were processed for either only transfection or transfection followed by IAV infection. 48 hours post transfection, cells were collected after
washing with PBS and centrifuging at 5000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. Cell pellet obtained was resuspended in 0.200 ml of 1X binding buffer. Following centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 5 min, cells were mixed with 50 μ l of Annexin V FITC/ Propidium iodide staining solution and incubated for 10 min in dark. Cell suspension was diluted by adding 150 μ l of 1X binding buffer and were acquired on BD FACS Calibur Flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) and analyzed using Flowjo version 9.3.3 software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

3.3.21 5-Bromo-2' deoxy-uridine labelling

HEK293 cells grown on coverslips were labelled using 5-Bromo-2'-deoxy-uridine (BrdU) labeling and detection kit I (Roche) as per supplier's instructions. Cells were incubated with 10μM BrdU for 1 hour before harvesting. Cells were washed thrice with washing buffer and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at room temperature followed by pemeabilization with ethanol based fixative at -15 to -25 °C for 20 min. Cells were covered with anti-BrdU antibody and anti-myc antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. Later, cells were washed thrice with wash buffer and incubated with anti- mouse Ig- fluorescein and anti-rabbit alexa 594 for 1 hour and washed with wash buffer. Slides were prepared by mounting the cover slips with Prolong Gold antifade medium with nuclei staining dye, DAPI and sealing the sides of the cover slips synthetic rubber-based adhesive (FeviBond).

3.3.22 Double thymidine block

48 h after transfection, cells were incubated in complete medium containing 2 mM thymidine for 10–12 h following which cells were washed twice with $1 \times$ PBS and incubated in complete medium for 12 h. Subsequently, for second block, cells were again incubated in complete medium containing 2 mM thymidine for 10–12 h. Later, cells were washed twice with $1 \times PBS$ and induced to enter S-phase by incubating in complete medium. Harvesting of cells was carried out at the indicated time points.

3.3.23 Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E. Means were compared by one-factor analysis of variance followed by Fisher protected least significant difference to assess specific group differences. Differences were considered significant at p < 0.05.

CHAPTER 4 Results and Discussion I

4.1 TO VALIDATE THE INTERACTION BETWEEN INFLUENZA A VIRUS NUCLEOPROTEIN AND HOST UBIQUITIN LIGASE RING FINGER PROTEIN 43 (RNF43).

4.1.1 Analysis of pYestrp2-RNF43 clone

A Yeast two-hybrid screening of a human c-DNA lung library was conducted previously in the lab to identify potential interacting partners of Nucleoprotein (NP) of IAV. Screening of a human lung cDNA library was done using NP from highly pathogenic A/Chicken/Hatay/2004 (H5N1), cloned into plasmid pHybLexA/Zeo, as the bait (Sharma et al., 2011). NP was expressed in fusion to the LexA DNA-binding domain (DNA-BD) of pHybLex/Zeo. A human lung cDNA B42 activation domain (AD) fusion library was constructed in *pYESTrp2*. Briefly, the screening was done by co-transforming the *pHybLex/Zeo-NP* sequentially with the AD fusion library (*pYESTrp2-LUL*). The selection of co-transformants was done on the synthetic dropout (SD) medium constituted of a nitrogen base, a carbon source (glucose) and amino acid dropout supplement lacking tryptophan and consisting of Zeocin (SD⁻W⁻Zeo⁺) to select pYESTrp2-LUL and pHyb-Lex/Zeo-NP respectively. The positive colonies obtained were further selected on SD⁻W⁻ Zeo⁺H medium to confirm histidine prototrophy. His⁺ clones were further tested for β galactosidase activity, attained by LacZ+ phenotype, through filter-lift colony assay followed by E.coli transformation of positive clones (Sharma et al., 2014).

A clone encoding 1071-1622 nucleotide region of RNF43 was obtained as the positive interactor in the Y2H screening which was further confirmed by BLAST analysis (Fig. 4.1.1). Full-length RNF43 cDNA was cloned in-frame with the activation domain pYESTrp2

and both NP-pHLZ and RNF43–pYESTrp2 were co-transformed in the L-40 strain of *S. cerevisiae*. It tested positive for histidine prototrophy and β -galactosidase activity confirming the interaction of full-length RNF43 with NP (Fig. 4.1.2).

Bait	Prey	Growth on His- deficient medium	β- galactosid ase assay
pHybLexA/ Zeo	pYestrp2	-	-
pHybLexA/ Zeo- NP	pYestrp2	_	-
pHybLexA/ Zeo	pYestrp2- Clone 13-4	-	-
pHybLexA/ Zeo- NP	pYestrp2- Clone 13-4	+	+
pHybLexA/ Zeo-Fos	pYestrp2- Jun	+	+

Fig. 4.1.1. Tabular representation of the yeast-two hybrid screening of lung cDNA library using NP as the bait protein. The filter β -gal assay for the clone 13-4 is shown in the last column of the table.



pHybLexA/Zeo-NP + pYESTrp2-rnf43

pHybLexA/Zeo-NP + pYESTrp2 (Negative control)



pHybLexA/Zeo-Fos+ pYESTrp2 + jun (Positive control)



pHybLexA/Zeo-M2 + pYESTrp2-rnf43

Fig. 4.1.2. Full-length RNF43 showed histidine prototrophy. pHybLexA/Zeo-NP and pYESTrp2-RNF43 were co-transformed in L-40 yeast strain and their interaction was verified by β-galactosidase assay. pHLZ-Fos and pYESTrp2-Jun acted as a positive control and empty pHLZ and pYESTrp2 as a negative control. pHLZ-M2 and pYESTrp2- rnf43 were also used as a negative control.

4.1.2 Nucleoprotein of influenza A virus interacts with human ubiquitin ligase protein RNF43 in a conserved manner.

After confirming the direct interaction of NP with the host factor, RNF43 in the yeast system, we proceeded to study this interaction in the mammalian system. The NP-RNF43 interaction was validated by performing co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) assays in HEK293T cells. HEK293T cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP plasmid construct. Myc-tagged NP expression was confirmed using western blotting with anti-myc antibody as shown in Fig. 4.1.3A (panel 3). Immunoprecipitation using anti-RNF43 antibody followed by immunoblotting with anti-myc antibody confirmed the interaction of RNF43 with NP (panel 1, Fig. 4.1.3A). The immunoprecipitation of RNF43 was confirmed by doing immunoblotting with anti RNF43 (panel 2, Fig. 4.1.3A).

To validate the existence of the said interaction during IAV infection, mammalian lung epithelial A549 cells were infected with A/Puerto Rico/8/34 virus (H1N1; PR8) and A/ Aichi/ 2/ 1968 virus (H3N2; X31) at 1 MOI. The cell lysates were harvested 24 hours post-infection (24 h.p.i) and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation with anti-RNF43 antibody. NP protein immunoprecipitated with RNF43 antibody thus confirming that NP-RNF43 interaction was conserved between both the virus isolates (Fig. 4.1.3B, panel1). Also, co-IP with another IAV protein, M2 (Fig. 4.1.3B, panel 3), showed that RNF43 antibody was unable to bind the M2 protein in the IAV infected lysate, proving that RNF43 interacts exclusively with NP of IAV.



Fig. 4.1.3. NP interacts with RNF43. (A) HEK293T cells were transfected with either empty vector pCDNA3.1 (Mock) or pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP (NP-Myc). 48 hours posttransfection, cells were lysed and the lysates were subjected to co-immunoprecipitation with anti–RNF43 antibody followed by western blotting with anti-Myc antibody. (B) Lung epithelial A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus and X-31 virus at 1 MOI for 24 hrs and the whole cell lysates were used for co-immunoprecipitation assays. 5% lysates from the same experiment were subjected to western blotting with anti-NP (panel 6), anti-M2 (panel 7), anti-RNF43 (panel 8) and anti-βactin (panel 9) antibodies to show the cellular levels of these proteins. These results clearly demonstrate that NP indeed interacts with RNF43 in the mammalian system as well as the interaction is conserved among the NP of various viral strains. NP isolated from A/Chicken/Hatay/2004 (H5N1) was shown to be interacting with RNF43 in transfection microenvironment whereas NP from A/Puerto Rico/8/34 (PR8) and A/Aichi/2/1968 (X-31) strains of IAV was apparently interacting with RNF43 in the virus-infected host system.

4.1.3 RNF43 co-localizes with NP in the nucleus.

We sought to ascertain the kinetics and site of interaction of NP and RNF43 after confirming the interaction of these two proteins. A549 cells were transfected with control plasmid pEGFPN1 or pEGFP-NP followed by fixing cells 48 hours post-transfection and further processing for immunofluorescence analysis. RNF43 was seen to have ubiquitous nucleo-cytoplasmic localization in mock-transfected cells (Fig. 4.1.4A). However, GFP-tagged NP localized in the nucleus and co-localized with RNF43 majorly inside the nucleus.

Similarly, A549 cells were infected with PR8 at an MOI of 5 and were fixed at 0, 4 and 8 h.p.i (Fig. 4.1.4B). At 4 h.p.i, NP has been observed to localize to the nucleus. At later stages of infection, it is reported to move into the cytoplasm (8 h.p.i) (Portella and Digard, 2002). RNF43 had nucleo-cytoplasmic localization but was noted to concentrate inside the nucleus on virus infection (4h.p.i, Fig. 4.1.4B). At 8 h.p.i, the two proteins were seen to co- localize inside the nucleus. Thus, it is inferred that the primary site of interaction for the IAV NP and RNF43 is the nucleus of the host cell.



Fig. 4.1.4. IAV NP and RNF43 co-localize in the nucleus of mammalian cells. (A) A549 cells were transfected with pEGFPN1 control plasmid or pEGFP-NP. Cells were fixed after 48 hours and stained with DAPI for nucleus and anti-goat secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa-594 for RNF43 (red) and observed under confocal microscope. GFP-tagged NP is shown in green. Panels are labeled for their respective staining, RNF43 (red), NP (green), nucleus (blue).



Fig. 4.1.4. IAV NP and RNF43 co-localize in the nucleus of mammalian cells. (B) A549 cells were infected with PR8 IAV at 5MOI and were fixed at the indicated time points. NP was stained using anti-NP monoclonal primary antibody and anti-mouse Alexa488 conjugated secondary antibody (green). RNF43 was stained using specific primary antibody and anti-rabbit Alexa-594 conjugated secondary antibody (red). Panels are labeled for their respective staining, RNF43 (red), NP (green), nucleus (blue).

4.1.4 Influenza infection decreases RNF43 mRNA and protein expression.

Viruses often target host factors through altering their abundance in the host. This is an important aspect of host-virus interaction and to elucidate the relevance of any interaction. Hence, to determine the physiological relevance of NP/RNF43 interaction in the influenza virus life-cycle, we aimed to study the mRNA and protein levels of RNF43 in IAV infected cells.

Western blot analysis of the PR8 infected A549 cells harvested at different time points postinfection was done (Fig. 4.1.5A) and it showed a gradual decline in RNF43 protein expression with the progression of infection reaching to its lowest levels at 48 h.p.i in the infected cells. We further checked the effect of virus doses on RNF43 expression. A549 cells were transfected with increasing MOI of PR8 virus and protein expression of RNF43 was evaluated using western blotting (Fig. 4.1.5B). A significant decrease in RNF43 protein levels with increasing virus MOI was in agreement with our previous observation. Protein levels were quantified using densitometric analysis on Image J software.



Fig. 4.1.5. IAV infection decreases the abundance of RNF43 in the infected cells. (A) Lung epithelial A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus at an MOI of 1 and cells were harvested at indicated time intervals post infection and the whole cell lysate was resolved on SDS-PAGE for western blot analysis of RNF43, NP, and GAPDH. (B) A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus at indicated MOIs and harvested at 24 hours post infection for Western blot analysis of RNF43, NP, and GAPDH. Quantitative representation of the immunoblots of both the experiments is shown in the line diagram after normalization with GAPDH (extreme right).

Subsequently, we studied the mRNA levels of RNF43 after IAV infection. Total mRNA of PR8 infected A549 cells was extracted 24h.p.i and quantified with quantitative real-time PCR. A remarkable 0.5 fold decrease in RNF43 mRNA levels was clearly observed as compared to the uninfected sample (Figure 4.1.5C).

These contemporaneous regulations of RNF43 transcripts and protein expression levels are indicative of an antagonistic interaction between NP and RNF43 where RNF43 is being attenuated with the progression of virus pathogenesis.





4.1.5 RNF43 acts an anti-viral protein to subside viral replication.

Increasing their efficiency of replication remains the prime motive of viruses to increase their infectivity in infected cells (Sharma et al., 2014). In order to investigate this, we monitored viral replication after transiently transfecting with pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmid at increasing concentrations of 0 (mock), 1µg and 2µg in HEK293T cells (Figure 4.1.6 A-C). Empty vector pCDNA3.1 was used as a negative control. After 24 hours' of incubation, cells were infected with PR8 virus and harvested at 24 hours. Quantification of mRNA and vRNA levels of NP was performed through real-time PCR after RNA isolation. RNF43 over-expression resulted in a gradient and a considerable decrease in NP mRNA and vRNA levels with 0.3 fold and 0.06 fold being the maximum recorded, respectively (Fig. 4.1.6A&B). The RNF43 overexpression was confirmed by RT-PCR analysis of RNF43 mRNA levels (Fig. 4.1.6C). This result very eloquently proves the anti-viral role of RNF43 in IAV infected cells whose ectopic expression resulted in not just a decrease in the levels of NP mRNA species that are resulted through viral mRNA transcription as well as NP vRNA species formed after viral RNA replication.

Next, we decided to study the effect of knockdown of RNF43 on NP mRNA levels. RNF43 was silenced using siRNA against RNF43 in HEK293T cells. An approximate 8 fold increase in NP mRNA levels with ~98% silencing of RNF43 (Fig. 4.1.6D) was observed. This drastic alteration in NP mRNA, as well as vRNA levels, exhibits a convincing antiviral role for RNF43.



Fig. 4.1.6. Host factor RNF43 decreases IAV replication. (A-C) HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with plasmid pCDNA3.1 (Mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) (1 μ g and 2 μ g) followed by PR8 infection and incubated for 24 hours. Total RNA was isolated and NP mRNA (A), NP vRNA (B) and RNF43 mRNA(C) levels were estimated through qRT PCR. (D) HEK293T cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24 h followed by PR8 IAV infection for next 24 h. Cells were processed for qRT-PCR analysis of mRNA levels of NP and RNF43. Results are shown as mean ± SD of three independent experiments. * and # indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively.

In the view of above results, we decided to check the effect of RNF43 on influenza virus replicase activity. A549 cells were treated with either non-targeting siRNA (NT siRNA) or RNF43 siRNA followed by co-transfection with plasmids encoding the PR8 polymerase complex genes PB2, PB1, PA, and NP in conjunction with a reporter plasmid containing untranslated region (UTR) of NS1 segment upstream of the luciferase gene driven by the human RNA pol I promoter. Fig. 4.1.6E shows that there was a 6 fold increase in replicase activity in RNF43 siRNA-treated cells as compared to the NT siRNA treated cells. These findings strongly suggest that RNF43 is a strong inhibitor of virus replication and has antiviral properties.



Fig. 4.1.6. Host factor RNF43 decreases IAV replication. (E) A549 cells, pretreated with either NT or RNF43 siRNA were transfected with plasmids encoding polymerase complex components (PA, PB1, PB2, NP) derived from PR8 (H1N1 virus) along with a reporter plasmid containing noncoding sequence from the NS1 segment of influenza A virus and luciferase gene driven by the Pol 1 promoter. The relative luciferase units were calculated after normalization with plasmid pGL-3 (Promega), which expresses Firefly luciferase that was transfected along. Results are shown as mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. # indicates statistically significant difference at p < 0.01.

4.2 TO STUDY THE IMPLICATIONS OF NP/RNF43 INTERACTION IN NP DRIVEN P53 MEDIATED CELLULAR APOPTOSIS.

4.2.1 NP causes p53 stabilization through decreasing p53 ubiquitination by RNF43 ubiquitin ligase.

The anti-apoptotic characteristics of RNF43 protein gave us insights to ascertain the importance of the NP-RNF43 interaction in p53 stabilization and signaling. To assess p53 protein stability, 50µg/ml CHX, an inhibitor of protein synthesis in eukaryotic cells, was administered to A549 cells which were transiently transfected with different expression plasmids, pEGFPN1, pEGFP-NP with or without pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA. The half-life of p53 protein was deduced by monitoring its decay over a period of 3 hours by western blot analysis. The half-life of p53 in the NP-GFP and RNF43-Flag-HA co-transfected cells was reduced to 60 min as compared to 120 min in the case of only NP-GFP transfected cells (Fig. 4.2.1A&B). This data clearly proves that p53 is getting stabilized in the NP transfected cells through the latter's interaction with RNF43 suggesting that NP-RNF43 interaction primarily leads to an enhanced p53 stabilization and accumulation.

Post-translational regulation of p53 via UPP mediated by different E3 ligases is a wellestablished phenomenon (Giaccia et al., 1998; Lee and Gu, 2010). Because of RNF43 protein's E3 ligase activity and a RING domain in its structure we were keen to look at its role in post-translational modification of p53 through ubiquitination and explore the possibility of p53 being a substrate of its ligase activity. To this end, we first checked p53 transcript levels in A549 cells where RNF43-HA was transiently expressed. Quantitative RT-PCR analysis confirmed that RNF43 was unable to cause any significant alteration in p53 transcription (Fig. 4.2.1C).

We next examined p53 ubiquitination status. HEK293T cells were treated with 20uM MG132, proteasomal inhibitor, after co- transfection with plasmids expressing p53-GFP, Ub-myc, RNF43-HA, NP-GFP, MDM2-Flag in different combinations (Fig. 4.2.1D) followed by western blot analysis of harvested cells. We observed a significant increase in ubiquitination status of p53 under RNF43 overexpression. However, NP alleviated RNF43 caused p53 ubiquitination when transfected along with RNF43. MDM2 served as a positive control (Honda et al., 1997).

Next, we examined the ubiquitination status of p53 through Ni-NTA pull-down based ubiquitination assay. HEK293T cells were co-transfected with a combination of plasmids expressing p53-GFP, RNF43-HA, NP-GFP along with Ub-His expressing plasmid. Cells were harvested at 48 h.p.i after treatment with MG132, 5 hours prior to harvesting. Ubiquitinated p53 was pulled with Ni-NTA beads and analyzed through western blotting. As shown in Fig. 4.2.1E, the ladder of poly-ubiquitinated p53 is more abundant in RNF43 transfectants as compared to the control which suggests that RNF43 promotes p53 ubiquitination and degradation.

Moreover, an increase in p53 ubiquitination was observed when RNF43-Flag-HA was coexpressed with NP-GFP as opposed to a diminished level of ubiquitinated p53 in only NP-GFP transfected cells. This convincingly advocates the role of RNF43 in p53 regulation which is targeted by NP to stabilize p53 in IAV infected cells.



Fig. 4.2.1. NP interacts with RNF43 to stabilize p53 through compromised Ubiquitination of p53 by RNF43. (A& B) A549 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids pEGFPN1 (Mock), pEGFP-NP (NP-GFP) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) for 48 hrs. The transfectants were treated with CHX at 50μ g/ml for the indicated times (minutes) post-treatment (mpt) and subjected to western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies. The quantitative data of immunoblots is shown as line diagram after normalization with GAPDH expression levels. (C) A549 cells were transfected with plasmids pCDNA3.1 (Mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA). Cells were harvested after 48h post transfection and processed for mRNA quantification by qRT PCR analysis. The result is shown as mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. NS indicates a non-significant statistical difference.

(A)



Fig. 4.2.1. NP interacts with RNF43 to stabilize p53 through compromised Ubiquitination of p53 by RNF43. (D) HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with a combination of indicated plasmids and incubated for 48 hours. The transfectants were treated with $20\mu g/ml$ MG132, 5 hours before harvest. The cell lysates were subjected to western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies. (E) HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with a combination of indicated plasmids and incubated for 48 hours. The transfectants were treated with a combination of indicated plasmids and incubated for 48 hours. The transfectants were treated with a combination of indicated plasmids and incubated for 48 hours. The transfectants were treated with $20\mu g/ml$ MG132, 5 hours before harvest. Ubiquitinated p53 (Ub-p53) was pulled down using Ni²⁺-NTA-agarose beads and analyzed by western blotting with indicated antibodies.

4.2.2 RNF43 mitigates NP driven enhancement of p53 transcriptional activity.

Stabilization of p53 by NP prompted us to look into the probable role of NP/RNF43 interaction in an induction of p53 mediated cell functions. Tumor suppressor protein p53 is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of many genes that are crucial in mediating its tumor suppressing activity. Therefore, we checked a dose-dependent effect of NP on p21transcription which is under a direct control of p53 transcriptional activity (el-Diery et al., 1993). A549 cells were transiently co-transfected with p21- luciferase reporter plasmid containing the p53 binding site on its promoter together with indicated concentrations of pEGFP-NP and pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK. The p21 luciferase activity was measured and normalized to renilla luciferase activity. p21 is a direct target gene of p53 hence a dose-dependent increase in p21 luciferase activity as compared to the mock transfectant suggests an increased p53 transcriptional activity(Fig. 4.2.2A). To probe the significance of NP/RNF43 interaction in NP driven enhanced transcriptional activity of p53, using the similar approach, A549 cells were co- transfected with pEGFPN1or pEGFP-NP expression plasmid alone or together with RNF43-HA expressing plasmid. As speculated, co- expression of RNF43 with NP resulted in an approximate 0.2 fold decrease in p53 transcriptional activity as compared to only NP expressing cells (Fig. 4.2.2B).

We checked the mRNA levels of p21 in RNF43 knocked down HEK293T cells infected with PR8. As compared to NT siRNA treated cells, p21 mRNA levels were almost 10 fold higher in RNF43 depleted cells (Fig. 4.2.2C). p21 protein levels were also observed to be undergoing a notable decrease in the presence of RNF43 when co-expressed along with NP-GFP (Fig. 4.2.2D).



Fig. 4.2.2. RNF43 decreases NP driven increased p53 transcriptional activity and signaling in the cells. (A) A549 cells were transfected with the p21-Luc reporter plasmid, with or without growing amounts of pEGFP-NP (500ng, 750ng, 1 μ g) in conjunction with pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK. Luciferase activity of cell lysates of transfectants was analyzed. (B) A549 cells were transfected with the p21-Luc reporter plasmid, pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK along with plasmids pEGFPN1 (mock), pEGFP-NP (NP-GFP) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) in the indicated combinations. Luciferase activity was measured. Results in are shown as mean \pm SD three independent experiments. * and # indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively.



Fig. 4.2.2. RNF43 decreases NP driven increased p53 transcriptional activity and signaling in the cells. (C) HEK293T cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24h followed by PR8 IAV infection at 1 MOI. Cells were harvested at 24 h post infection and total RNA was extracted followed by p21 mRNA estimation with qRT-PCR. (D) A549 cells were transiently transfected with pEGFP-NP with or without pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA and were harvested at 48 hours followed by SDS-PAGE. Western blotting was done using indicated antibodies. Results are shown as mean \pm SD three independent experiments. # indicates statistically significant difference at p < 0.01.

Acetylation of p53 is an important step to enable p53 mediated transactivation of different factors towards cellular functions (Proietti et al., 2014; Vousden, 2002). We monitored the acetylation of p53 (Lys-382) at different time points post PR8 infection in A549 cells. Acetylation levels of p53 were observed to undergo a time-dependent change as shown in Fig. 4.2.2E. We further assessed the effect of RNF43 on p53 acetylation in IAV infected cells. To achieve the same, we transfected A549 cells with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection after24 hours. Cells were harvested after 24 hours of infection followed by western blot analysis.

A decrease in p53 acetylation in the cells ectopically expressing RNF43 (Fig. 4.2.2F) is likely to be the result of the concomitant increase in RNF43 mediated p53 ubiquitination.

Furthermore, A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus after being transfected with or without RNF43-Flag-HA expressing plasmid construct. 24 h.p.i intracellular protein levels of p53 and its regulated molecules, Bax, and Puma were inspected through western blot analysis. In RNF43 expressing cells, there was an evident decrease in the protein levels of p53 and its downstream effectors, Bax and Puma (Fig. 4.2.2G). The same outline was observed when pEGFP-NP was transfected in conjunction with pCDNA3.1 or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmids (Fig. 4.2.2H).

p21, Bax and Puma are p53 regulated mediators of the latter's cellular functions (Benchimol, 2001; Vogelstein et al., 2000). These findings confirm the role of NP/RNF43 interaction in the activation of p53 signaling pathways.



Fig. 4.2.2. RNF43 decreases NP driven increased p53 transcriptional activity and signaling in the cells. (E) A549 cells were seeded in a 6 well plate and were infected with PR8 virus at 1MOI. Cells were harvested at 0, 4, 8, and16 hours post infection, and subjected to western blotting with indicated antibodies. (F) A549 cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection, 24 hours post transfection. The cells were harvested after 24 hours followed by western blot analysis with anti-acetyl p53, HA, NP and β actin antibodies.



Fig. 4.2.2. RNF43 decreases NP driven increased p53 transcriptional activity and signaling in the cells. (G) A549 cells were transiently transfected with pCDNA3.1 (mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmid constructs and after 24 hrs of incubation, cells were infected with PR8 virus at an MOI of 1 for 24 hrs. (H) Similarly, A549 cells were transiently transfected with pEGFP-NP with or without pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA and were incubated for 48 hours. (G-H) Cells were harvested and processed for western blot analysis with indicated antibodies.

4.2.3 RNF43 attenuates IAV NP induced cell death.

To probe the effect of RNF43 on the induction of apoptosis in IAV infected cells, flow cytometry based Annexin V FITC labeling was performed. A549 cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA and after 24 hours cells were infected with IAV and subjected to annexin V staining. A remarkable 13% of total cell population showed annexin V staining in RNF43 siRNA treated IAV infected cells as against the 2.5% annexin V positive population in NT siRNA treated IAV infected cells. Thus, confirming the anti-apoptotic role of RNF43 in IAV infected cells (Fig. 4.2.3A).

The role of NP/RNF43 interaction in cell death induced by NP was further elucidated in NP microenvironment. 14% of pEGFP-NP transfectants displayed annexin V staining whereas RNF43 overexpression along with NP lowered the annexin V population to 10% (Fig. 4.2.3B).

To investigate the exclusive role of p53 in NP/RNF43 interaction governed apoptosis, p53 null human colon cancer cells, (HCT116 p53^{-/-}) were transfected with pCDNA3.1 or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA with or without pEGFPN1 or pEGFP-NP. Annexin V staining of pEGFP-NP transfectants showed no significant difference as compared to the vector control. Similarly, RNF43 co-expression did not cause any change in the annexin V staining profile of NP-GFP expressing cells (Fig. 4.2.3C). This highlights the critical importance of p53 for carrying out NP-induced apoptosis. Most importantly, it draws attention to the critical role of RNF43 in virus-induced p53 mediated apoptosis.



Fig. 4.2.3. RNF43 attenuates IAV NP-induced cell death. (A) A549 cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24h followed by X-31 IAV infection at 1 MOI. Cells were harvested at 24 h.p.i, stained with Annexin V FITC and subjected to flow cytometry. The percentage of Annexin V positive population is plotted on the graph. (B) A549 cells were transiently transfected with the indicated combinations of plasmids and 48 hours post-transfection cells were harvested and processed for flow cytometric analysis of Annexin V FITC stained population which is plotted on the graph. All graphs represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments. * and # indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively.



Fig. 4.2.3. RNF43 attenuates IAV NP-induced cell death. (C) $p53^{-/-}$ HCT116 cells were transiently transfected with the indicated combinations of plasmids and 48 hours post-transfection cells were harvested and processed for flow cytometric analysis of Annexin V FITC stained population which is plotted on the graph. Graph represent mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. NS refers to non-significant difference.

4.3 DISCUSSION

Owing to their limited size viruses depend on host cellular machinery for their propagation. Similarly, IAV requires an intricate regulatory network of viral and cellular proteins. Ubiquitination is a key regulatory mechanism in the regulation of various cellular activities including signal transduction, transcription, membrane protein trafficking, apoptosis, autophagy and immune responses. Hence, it has become increasingly evident that the multifaceted ubiquitinylation process remains a prime target of a broad range of pathogens including viruses. Viruses may encode E3 ligases or deubiquitinases or may redirect the cellular E3s and deubiquitinases to modulate the ubiquitination status of substrates of choice (Randow and Lehner, 2009). We undertook this study to identify the cellular ubiquitinating or deubiquitinating enzymes that interact with NP of IAV. For this purpose, Yeast- twohybrid (Y2H) screening was employed which remains one of the traditional yet efficiently reliable methods to identify interacting partners of specific proteins. Although, many high throughput screening methods including, genome-wide RNAi screens, mass spectrometry have recently been developed and utilized but there remain very few host factors that are common among these screens. The downsides of RNAi-based screening are the varying efficiency of knock down and miss of "hits" due to siRNA cytotoxicity. Besides, the Y2H library screening is still the most practical tool in the high-throughput identification of proteinprotein interaction. Moreover, several interactions have been validated in the virus micro environment and their functional relevance deciphered (Sharma et al., 2011; Tripathi et al., 2013; Sharma et al., 2014).

Using this system we identified RNF43 as an interacting partner of NP. RNF43 is a member of RING finger family of E3 ligases that mark proteins for proteasomal degradation. Precisely, E3 ligases, the highly specific mediator of ubiquitination, are extensively exploited by viruses to carry out replication and pathogenesis.

The present study for the first time provides evidence for NP and RNF43 interaction. The conserved nature of the NP-RNF43 interaction between PR8 and X-31 virus strains underlines its significance in viral replication and pathogenesis. We also report that IAV NP and RNF43 predominantly colocalize in the nucleus. IAV infection attenuated RNF43 mRNA as well as protein expression. The sequestration of RNF43 mRNA may well be explained by the known shut off mechanism adopted by many DNA and RNA viruses to inhibit the cellular macromolecular synthesis (Crawford et al., 1981; McGowan et al., 1982). In the case of influenza virus, degradation of preexisting cellular mRNAs leads to degradation of protein synthesis during infection (Inglis, 1982). To establish viral translation system, virus either causes direct protein degradation or target the cellular mRNAs by rendering them more susceptible to different nucleases that can be either cellular or encoded by the virus itself (Beloso et al., 1992). Interaction of viral proteins with the mRNA protecting molecules is another way adopted by the virus to cause cellular mRNA degradation. This shut off is also well established in large DNA viruses including Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) infection that encodes virion host shut off (Vhs) protein that engages in interaction with cellular translation initiation factor eIF4H to exercise its mRNA degradase activity (Feng et al., 2005).

Overexpression of RNF43 counteracts IAV NP leading to a dose-dependent decrease in NP mRNA and vRNA. There was a drastic increase in viral replication under the influence of RNF43 knockdown. The decline in RNF43 mRNA and protein levels upon IAV infection correlates with the decrease in viral replication by RNF43. It substantiates its role as an

antiviral host protein. E3 ligases, highly specific mediators of ubiquitination, are extensively exploited by viruses to carry out replication and pathogenesis. It is of utmost importance to this study that many other viruses including human oncogenic papillomavirus, HIV and simian virus 40 also either target host ubiquitin ligases or encode ubiquitin ligases to divert their pathway of regulation by altering their specificity (Randow and Lehner, 2009; Arora et al., 2014; Hartmann et al., 2014). Influenza virus exploits the ubiquitination status of many cellular factors to evade host defense mechanisms and achieve maximum replication efficiency (Gack et al., 2009; Su et al., 2013) Thus, it is concluded that RNF43 is targeted by the virus for a strategic attenuation of RNF43 for efficient viral replication and pathogenesis.

Wang et al. illustrated the stabilization of p53 by NP through compromised MDM2-mediated ubiquitination (Wang et al., 2012). In our study, we found that NP-driven stabilization of p53 was impeded by RNF43 via a decreased p53 half-life and a noteworthy augmentation of the ubiquitinated p53 levels in the RNF43 microenvironment. This can be attributed to the posttranslational regulation of p53 by RNF43 through targeting p53 for ubiquitination. These results are in coherence with the fact that RNF43 interacts with p53 (Shinada et al., 2011) and the siRNA caused down regulation of RNF43 led to a significant increase in p53 protein expression in HepG2 and SMMC-7721 cells (Xing et al., 2013). Several E3 ligases along with MDM2 are known to regulate p53 ubiquitination, for example, Pirh2, MdmX, HAUSP, ARF, COP1 and ARF-BP1 (Giaccia et al., 1998; Lee and Gu et al., 2010) Thus, the current study unravels a novel mechanism of p53 regulation via RNF43. Although, a separate study can be undertaken to explore RNF43-mediated p53 regulation but our study provides compelling evidence that RNF43 targets p53 for ubiquitination.

P53 is a transcription factor that controls the expression of many genes including p21, BAX, PUMA which are the known mediators of p53 induced apoptosis in cells (Vogelstein et al., 2000). We speculated that NP must target anti-apoptotic RNF43 protein to induce p53 signaling and apoptosis in IAV infected cells which could prove out to be another mode of apoptosis induction by NP which has recently been identified as one of the anti-apoptotic proteins of IAV. We examined the protein expressions of p53, Bax, and Puma which were shown to be undergoing a profound decrease under the effect of RNF43 over expression in IAV and NP microenvironment. We analyzed the effect of NP on p53 dependent p21 transcription and found a dose-dependent increase in the transcription. It was further found out that RNF43 expression along with NP, attenuated p21 transcription. Furthermore, RNF43 prevented NP induced apoptosis in the cells. However, to deduce the importance of NP/RNF43 interaction in p53 mediated apoptosis we conducted the experiment in p53 null cell lines, HCT116 p53^{-/-}. To our astonishment, there was no significant alteration in apoptosis in either NP or RNF43 transfectants. Altogether, our data explains the underlying importance of NP/RNF43 interaction in the induction of p53 mediated cellular apoptosis in IAV infected cells.

Apoptosis induction is one of the hallmarks of IAV infection. IAV being a cytolytic virus induces apoptosis in numerous cell types (Takizawa et al., 1993; Hinshaw et al., 1994; Ludwig et al., 2006). It is considered to be host's defense against the virus but at the same time it is hypothesized that the appropriately timed apoptosis controlled by IAV is important for efficient viral replication (Stray and Air, 2001; Mclean et al., 2009) Accumulation of p53, a critical mediator of apoptosis, in IAV-infected cells is a well-documented phenomenon and in fact is reported to accumulate in a biphasic pattern (Shen et al., 2009).

Our study also demonstrates an accumulation of p53 in IAV-infected cells along with an increasing acetylation levels that corresponds to an increased p53 activity. Turpin et al. (Turpin et al., 2005) demonstrated that p53 is required for IAV-induced cell death but at the same time was important in IFN induction.

However, IFN-dependent antiviral response of p53 is reported to be independent of its proapoptotic functions (Munoz-Fontella et al., 2011). In the midst of these conflicting notions regarding the role of p53 in IAV replication and pathogenesis, our study eloquently proves the critical importance of p53 in NP-mediated apoptosis. We previously reported the role of NP in inducing host cell death (Tripathi et al., 2013). Stabilization and accumulation of p53 by NP can be accredited to the pro-apoptotic nature of NP, which, in this case, hijacks RNF43 and withholds its regulatory effects on p53. Together with these findings, the data described here points to a model in which IAV increases p53 downstream signaling and apoptosis by suppressing the RNF43-mediated ubiquitination of p53 (Fig. 4.3.1). Hence, the interaction of NP with RNF43 to modulate p53 ubiquitination is a proof of direct mechanism of apoptosis induction by IAV.



Fig. 4.3.1.The proposed model for the role of NP/RNF43 interaction in the regulation of p53 mediated cell death by IAV NP. The proposed model for the regulation of p53 mediated cell death by IAV NP. p53 is proposed to be regulated by RNF43 through ubiquitylation resulting in its destabilization. NP interacts with RNF43 thereby preventing ubiquitination of p53 and causing its stabilization and accumulation inside the infected cell resulting into activation of p53 signaling cascade including p21, Bax, Puma and eventually results in cell death in IAV infected cell.
CHAPTER 5 Results and Discussion II

5.1 TO INSPECT THE EFFECT OF RNF43 ON INFLUENZA VIRUS MEDIATED CELL CYCLE ARREST IN HOST.

5.1.1 RNF43 enhances expression of S Phase promoting proteins in IAV infected cells.

A study done by Xing et al on the reversing effect of RNF43 on hepatocellular carcinomas illustrated the down-regulation of various cell cycle markers including pRb, CDK4, CDK2 on siRNA-mediated silencing of RNF43 (Xing et al., 2013). This finding correlated with our finding of RNF43 driven decrease in p21 transcription in IAV infected cells. To further explore the suspected role of RNF43 in IAV induced cell cycle arrest we checked the levels of various cell cycle markers including Rb, pRb, E2F1, and CDK4. To begin with, we transfected huh7 (hepatocellular carcinoma) cells with either pCDNA3.1 or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA followed by PR8 infection. There was a marked difference in the pRb and E2F1 protein levels in RNF43 transfected and PR8 infected cells when compared to only PR8 infected cells (Fig. 5.1.1A). Exponentially growing cell cultures are generally asynchronous. Synchronization is particularly useful for examining a particular cell cycle– regulated event. Thus, we proceeded to study cell cycle arrest in synchronized A549 cells through double thymidine block at G1/S phase. For this, A549 cells were first transfected with a various combination of plasmids and were synchronized through double thymidine block. Cells were harvested at different time points post synchronization and were processed for western blotting. Densitometry analysis of the western blots revealed that co expression of RNF43 with NP stabilized CDK4 levels as compared to the only NP expressing cells (Fig.

5.1.1B). Similarly, pRb was evidently more in cells expressing RNF43 along with NP (Fig.5.1.1C).



Fig. 5.1.1. RNF43 rescues cell cycle arrest in IAV infected cells. (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmids. 24 hours post-transfection, the cells were infected with PR8 virus and were harvested for western blot analysis with anti-Rb, anti-pRb, anti E2F1, anti-NP, and anti-GAPDH antibodies, 24 hours post infection.



Fig. 5.1.1. RNF43 rescues cell cycle arrest in IAV infected cells. (B) A549 cells were transiently transfected with the indicated combinations of plasmids and 24 hours post transfection cells were subjected to double thymidine block for indicated time periods followed by western blotting with anti-CDK4 and anti-GAPDH. The quantitative data of immunoblots for CDK4 is shown as line diagram after normalization with GAPDH expression levels.



Fig. 5.1.1. RNF43 rescues cell cycle arrest in IAV infected cells. (C) A549 cells were transiently transfected with the indicated combinations of plasmids and 24 hours post-transfection cells were subjected to double thymidine block for indicated time periods followed by western blotting with anti-Rb, anti-pRb, and anti-GAPDH. The quantitative data of immunoblots for pRb/Rb is shown as a line diagram. The data was quantified by first normalizing pRB and Rb levels with GAPDH expression levels followed by pRB normalization with Rb.

5.1.2 RNF43 facilitates entry of cells into S-phase

Further, we decided to perform BrdU incorporation analysis through confocal imaging to conclude the effect of NP/RNF43 interaction on cell cycle progression. BrdU is a synthetic thymidine analog which gets incorporated during DNA replication instead of thymidine during S phase and hence a commonly used method to study cell cycle progression. HEK293 cells were transfected with empty vector, pCDNA3.1 (mock), pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA and incubated for 48 hours. Transfected cells were labeled with 10 µM BrdU, using 5-Bromo-2'-deoxy-uridine labeling and detection Kit I (Sigma Aldrich), for one hour before harvesting. Confocal microscopy of HEK cells showed a significantly lower incorporation of BrdU label in NP expressing cells as compared with the mock (Fig. 5.1.2A). Besides, the number of BrdU-positive cells were also significantly lower in NP expressing cells (~4 fold, p < 0.05) (Fig. 5.1.2B). Nevertheless, the co-expression of RNF43 with NP rescued the cells from the cell cycle arrest caused by NP construed by a remarkable increase in BrdU-positive cells (~4 fold, p < 0.01) (Fig. 5.1.2B). The subdued expression of NP in RNF43 co-expressing cells is in accordance with the previous results wherein ectopic expression of RNF43 led to a dose-dependent decrease in NP transcripts levels.

These observations strongly suggest that NP has a definite role to play in IAV driven cell cycle arrest and NP/RNF43 interaction is partly responsible to mediate this viral strategy.



Fig. 5.1.2. RNF43 facilitates S-phase entry of cells. (A) HEK293 cells grown on cover slips were transfected with pCDNA3.1 (mock), pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA. Before fixing at 48 hours post transfection, cells were treated with 10 μ M BrdU for one hour. Cells were stained using DAPI for the nucleus, goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to FITC for BrdU (green) and anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa-594 for Myc (red) and observed under confocal microscope. Panels are labeled for their respective staining, BrdU (green), NP (red), nucleus (blue).



Fig. 5.1.2. RNF43 facilitates S-phase entry of cells. (B) The percentages of BrdU-positive cells are shown as bar diagrams of respective panels. The graph represents mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. * and # indicate statistically significant difference at p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively.

5.2 DISCUSSION

The cell cycle is a series of events taking place in a cell that leads to cell division and growth. The cell cycle is broadly characterized by interphase and M phase. Cells stay in the interphase for the longest duration which is composed of G1, S, and G2 phases, before they can actually enter cell division through mitosis in the M phase. The first gap phase (G1), is characterized by a high translation rate as components required for DNA synthesis are generated. Cells may enter gap 0 (G0) during G1 phase, if mitogenic stimulants are not present where the cell metabolic rate is low or in the case of terminally differentiated cells like neurons. G1 is followed by synthesis (S) phase, where the cellular genome is replicated, and gap 2 (G2) phase. Finally, in mitosis (M) phase, the DNA chromatids and cell contents are split into two daughter cells. The cell cycle is a tightly regulated process marked by various cell cycle checkpoints and regulators including both positive and negative regulators. G1 phase of cell cycle is regulated by cyclin-Cdk complexes and the phosphorylation of the downstream retinoblastoma (Rb) protein. The cyclin D-Cdk4/6 complex is responsible for G1-phase progression, while the cyclin E-Cdk2 complex is required for S-phase entry and DNA replication (Obaya and Sedivy, 2002).

Viruses support their life cycle very often by altering the host cell cycle. Hijacking hosts' cell cycle is a very frequently observed phenomenon seen in the case of various DNA and RNA viruses (Song et al., 2000; Kalejta and Shenk, 2003; Castillo and Kowalik, 2004; Katz et al., 2005; Yuan et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2010). In the case of retrovirus HIV, Vpr protein is known to cause cell death following cell cycle arrest (Stewart et al., 1997). Thus, there is a definite cross-talk between apoptosis and cell cycle arrest. RNF43 being a growth promoting and anti-apoptotic protein has been studied for its role in cell cycle progression

and it was discovered that siRNA-mediated knock down of RNF43 led to a noteworthy decrease in various cell cycle markers including pRb, CDK4, CDK2 (Xing et al., 2013). Although NP has previously not been reported to play a direct role in IAV mediated cell cycle arrest, however, there are confirmed reports of NP caused cellular apoptosis. During our study, we observed an increased p21 expression after ectopic expression of NP which was subdued by transiently co-expressing RNF43. These observations prompted us to further explore the role of NP/RNF43 interaction in carrying out cell cycle arrest. This hypothesis was supported by a noteworthy increase in pRb and E2F1 levels in RNF43 expressing PR8 infected HUH7 cells. We confirmed this hypothesis in thymidine block synchronized A549 cell population. We observed that at 5 hours post release there was a drastic increase in the cellular pRb levels and it corresponded to the high CDK4 levels at the same time point. Interestingly, this sharp rise in the levels of G1/S transition markers was the lowest in NP expressing cells. As expected, the levels of CDK4 and pRb were the highest in RNF43-HA expressing cells. To further establish the cell cycle arrest following NP expression, we proceeded with BrdU incorporation analysis which established that NP causes G0/G1 arrest, where in the NP expressing HEK293 cells showed the least number of BrdU-positive cells. This concluded the NP driven halt in the cell cycle progression at G0/G1 phase.

As reported in the first objective of this study, an increase in p21 expression under NP microenvironment was observed. P21 being under the direct control of p53 suppresses the formation of cyclin E-cdk2 complex that further affects cyclin D1-CDL4/CDK6 complex resulting in the decreased amount of pRb which is important for G1/S transition. The similar hypothesis was proposed by He and coworkers (He et al., 2010). They showed in their study that the G0/G1 phase is favorable for influenza virus replication. Following this study, NS1

was identified as the IAV protein inducing G0/G1 cell cycle arrest through its interaction with Rho A host protein (Jiang et al., 2013). The delay in cell cycle by RNA viruses is also proposed to be a viral strategy to favor assembly since the ER and Golgi apparatus, the organelles essential for translocation of HA, NA and M2 to the cell surface, disassemble into vesicles and cluster during mitosis (Warren, 1993; Lowe et al., 1998). Lastly, one of the first effects of p53 expression is a halt in the cell cycle division by stimulating the expression of p21WAF/CIP1, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). Apoptosis is another aspect of p53 network mediated by several downstream effectors of p53 including Bax, PUMA etc. (Vogelstein et al., 2000). Thus, our results convincingly prove that along with apoptosis induction, NP/RNF43 interaction is also directed towards causing cell cycle arrest in IAV infected cells.

CHAPTER 6 Conclusion and Future Directions

6.1 Conclusion

Influenza virus remains a major public health threat globally. IAV causes a mild respiratory illness in humans of different age groups. The severity of the disease escalates in the immunocompromised individuals and may result in death in many cases. The biology of influenza genome confers it an evolutionary advantage through constant reassortment and hence the threat of influenza virus pandemics has intensified over the last decade with the emergence of highly resistant virulent strains. The prevalence of NA and M2 inhibitor resistant strains of IAV calls for immediate steps to be taken in order to contain the virus. One of the most promising strategies remain until now is to target the host which is relatively evolutionary static, thus reducing the odds of developing resistance. Due to the minimal genetic material of IAV, the virus remains highly dependent on the host and presents a perfect example of an obligate intracellular parasite. In general, unceasing virus-host interactions throughout virus infection constitute the viral as well as the host strategy, depending upon the outcome of the interaction. A variety of studies are underway to understand these complex molecular interactions and discover novel anti-viral targets based on these interactions.

Ubiquitination and deubiquitination are high-speed processes regulating rapid switch between the active and dormant state of a protein. UPP is paramount in early steps of influenza virus infection. NP is reported to undergo monoubiquitination and deubiquitination of NP results in a decreased viral replication. However, a lot more remains to be explored in terms of UPP and IAV pathogenesis especially due to the fact that around 600 cellular E3 ubiquitin ligases are responsible for maintaining the substrate specificity in the ubiquitination process. In our study, we discovered the interaction of the structural protein of IAV, NP with the host E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF43. The first part of the study was dedicated to study the interaction of NP/RNF43 and to functionally characterize the interaction. We were able to show the interaction to be conserved between two different viral strains, PR8, and X-31. Confocal imaging of NP and RNF43 at different time points post infection confirmed their colocalization inside the nucleus of the infected host cells. Our results very eloquently prove the anti-viral role of RNF43 wherein RNF43 abetted virus replication construed by the apparently decreased NP mRNA and vRNA levels. The direct proof of the antagonistic effect of RNF43 on IAV replication is provided by the enhanced virus replication after siRNAmediated silencing of RNF43 in a mini-replicon system. Further characterization of NP/RNF43 interaction revealed that the interaction is directed towards stabilization of p53 in IAV infected host cells. An enhanced ubiquitination of p53 under RNF43 was apparently inundated by NP that was conducive to an enhanced p53 transactivation and p53 signaling concluded by the enhanced levels of P21, Bax, and Puma, the downstream effectors of p53. The physiological outcome of the interaction is the induction of apoptosis in the host cell that was confirmed in X-31 IAV strain as well as in NP microenvironment. Hence, it is concluded that RNF43, a member of the RING finger family of ubiquitin ligases, displays anti-apoptotic and antiviral activities as it counteracts IAV apoptotic effects induced in the virus-infected cells.

In the second part of the study, we have shown the putative role of NP/RNF43 interaction in IAV mediated cell cycle arrest. Although. Until now, there is no direct report stating the role of NP in cell cycle arrest in the infected host cell but through our study, we prove a definitive role of NP in causing G0/G1 phase arrest. The elevated expression levels of the markers of

G1/S transition including pRB, E2F1 and CDK4 were observed in the cells co-expressing RNF43 along with NP. The hypothesis was further strengthened by the BrdU incorporation assay. It provides concrete affirmative results showing that the number of BrdU-positive cells being relatively low in NP expressing Cells. Co-expression of RNF43 with NP led to an increase in S phase entry concluded by the number of BrdU positive cells. Hence, we conclude that the primary effect of NP/RNF43 interaction is the enhanced p53 signaling which is achieved through p53 stabilization by NP through a strategic attenuation of RNF43. Since p53 is a regulator of many downstream pathways mainly apoptosis and cell cycle progression, the resulting cell cycle arrest and apoptotic cell death are argued to be a repercussion of the former's enhanced transactivation.

This study fills the missing link in the virus-induced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in the host cells. The significance of the study lies in the fact that it reports a viral strategy for its propagation via the interaction with a cellular factor. Most importantly, compelling evidence is provided to prove that RNF43 polyubiquitinates p53 which further leads to its destabilization resulting in a decreased induction of the p53 apoptotic pathway.

This is an overwhelming finding in itself and suggests RNF43 could be a potential pharmacological target namely in developing anti- influenza interventions and also in the cancer field. The feasibility of RNF43 as viable antiviral intervention is supported by the successful phase 1 trial of a combination peptide vaccine for colorectal cancer, containing peptide sequence of RNF43 (Hazama et al., 2014). The risk of an adverse immune response of RNF43 derived peptide vaccine in normal cells is seemingly low and is well tolerated without any adverse effects (Hazama et al., 2014). Moreover, potent cytotoxic T lymphocyte response (CTL) was observed which is known to be antiviral. Although, the effect of NP-

RNF43 interaction on innate and adaptive immune evasion of IAV is yet to be established. Nonetheless, mutations in CTL epitope region of NP of different influenza viruses is well studied. These types of mutations are observed in chronically infecting influenza viruses and constitutes one of the many viral strategies to evade immune recognition by virus-specific T cells (Berkhoff et al., 2005; Horst et al., 2011). Therefore, targeting NP may have an immediate response but does not provide a long term broad spectrum solution to the problem of ever-evolving influenza virus. To tackle this, we propose the targeting of host factors which are less mutable and are more evolutionary static.

6.2 Future Directions

The study undertaken in this thesis paves the way for many future studies. Few of the studies and experiment that can follow up this thesis are:

1. To determine the interacting domains of influenza A virus Nucleoprotein and cellular E3 ligase RNF43.

2. To examine the conserved nature of amino acid sequence in the interacting domains of IAV NP and RNF43 in various IAV strains.

3. To observe the effect of IAV NP siRNA treatment on RNF43 expression and functions during IAV infection.

4. To analyze the effect of RNF34 siRNA on the IAV mediated transcriptomic modulation in the host.

Chapter 7 | References

CHAPTER 7 References

- Ada GL, Perry BT (1954) The nucleic acid content of influenza virus. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci. 32(4), 453–468.
- Akarsu H, Burmeister WP, Petosa C, Petit I, Müller CW, Ruigrok RW, Baudin F (2003) Crystal structure of the M1 protein-binding domain of the influenza A virus nuclear export protein (NEP/NS2). *EMBO J* 22(18), 4646–4655.
- Albo C, Valencia A, Portela A (1995) Identification of an RNA binding region within the N-terminal third of the influenza A virus nucleoprotein. *Journal of Virology* 69, 3799-3806.
- Ali A, Avalos RT, Ponimaskin E, Nayak DP (2000) Influenza virus assembly: effect of influenza virus glycoproteins on the membrane association of M1 protein. *J Virol* 74(18), 8709–8719.
- Arora S, Verma S, Banerjea AC (2014) HIV-1 Vpr redirects host ubiquitination pathway. J Virol 88, 619-14.
- Arranz R, Coloma R, Chichon FJ, Conesa JJ, Carrascosa JL, Valpuesta JM, Ortin, J, Martin-Benito J (2012) The Structure of native influenza virion ribonucleoproteins. *Science* 338, 1634–1637.
- Arzt S, Petit I, Burmeister WP, Ruigrok RW, Baudin F (2004). Structure of a knockout mutant of influenza virus M1 protein that has altered activities in membrane binding, oligomerisation and binding to NEP (NS2). *Virus Res.* 99, 115–119.
- Baltimore D. Expression of animal virus genomes (1971) *Bacteriol Rev* 35(3):235–241.

- Bancroft CT, Parslow TG (2002) Evidence for segment-nonspecific packaging of the influenza A virus genome. J Virol 76(14), 7133–7139.
- Baudin F, Bach C, Cusack S, Ruigrok RWH (1994) Structure of influenza RNP: Influenza virus nucleoprotein melts secondary structure in panhandle RNA and exposes the bases to solvent. *EMBO Journal* 13, 3158-3165.
- Baudin F, Petit I, Weissenhorn W, Ruigrok RW (2001) *In vitro* dissection of the membrane and RNP binding activities of influenza virus M1 protein. *Virology* 281(1), 102–108.
- Beaton AR, Krug RM (1986) Transcription antitermination during influenza viral template RNA synthesis requires the nucleocapsid protein and the absence of a 5'capped end. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, USA. 83, 6282–6286.
- Beaton AR, Krug RM (1981) Selected host cell capped RNA fragments prime influenza viral RNA transcription *in vivo*. *Nucleic Acids Res* 9(17), 4423–4436.
- Behrens G and Stoll M (2006) Pathogenesis and Immunology. In Influenza Report. (Eds. Kamps BS, Hoffmann C and Preiser W) Flying Publisher pp 92-105.
- Beloso A, Martínez C, Valcárcel J, Santarén JF, Ortín J (1992) Degradation of cellular mRNA during influenza virus infection: its possible role in protein synthesis shutoff. J Gen Virol. 73, 575-81.
- Benchimol S (2001) P53-Dependent Pathways of Apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 8, 1049– 51.

- Berkhoff EG, de Wit E, Geelhoed-Mieras MM, Boon AC, Symons J, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD, Rimmelzwaan GF (2005) Functional constraints of influenza A virus epitopes limit escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Virol. 79, 11239–11246.
- Biswas SK, Boutz PL, Nayak DP (1998) Influenza virus nucleoprotein interacts with influenza virus polymerase proteins. J. Virol. 72, 5493–5501.
- Blaas D, Patzelt E, Kuechler E (1982) Identification of the cap binding protein of influenza virus. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 10, 4803–4812.
- Boutell C, Everett RD (2003) The herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) regulatory protein ICP0 interacts with and ubiquitinates p53. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 36596–36602.
- Boutell C, Sadis S, Everett RD (2002) Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 and its isolated RING finger domain act as ubiquitin E3 ligases *in vitro*. J. Virol. 76, 841–850.
- Braam J, Ulmanen I, Krug RM (1983) Molecular model of a eukaryotic transcription complex: functions and movements of influenza P proteins during capped RNA-primed transcription. *Cell* 34, 609–618.
- Bradel-Tretheway BG, Mattiacio JL, Krasnoselsky A, Stevenson C, Purdy D, Dewhurst S, Katze MG (2011) Comprehensive proteomic analysis of influenza virus polymerase complex reveals a novel association with mitochondrial proteins and RNA polymerase accessory factors. *J Virol* 85, 8569–8581.

- Brockwell-Staats C, Webster RG, Webby R (2009) Diversity of influenza viruses in swine and the emergence of a novel human pandemic influenza A (H1N1). *Influenza Other Respir. Viruses* 3, 207–213.
- Canning M, Boutell C, Parkinson J, Everett RD (2004) A RING finger ubiquitin ligase is protected from autocatalyzed ubiquitination and degradation by binding to ubiquitin specific protease USP7. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 38160–38168.
- Castillo JP, Kowalik TF (2004) HCMV infection: modulating the cell cycleand cell death. *Int. Rev. Immunol.*23, 113–139.
- Cauldwell AV, Long JS, Moncorge^o O, Barclay WS (2014) Viral determinants of influenza A virus host range. *Journal of General Virology*, 95, 1193–1210.
- Chen AY, Qiu J (2010) Parvovirus infection-induced cell death and cellcycle arrest. *Future Virol.* 5, 731–743.
- Chen PH, Chen X, Lin Z, Fang D, He X (2013) The structural basis of R-spondin recognition by LGR5 and RNF43. *Genes Dev.* 27, 1345e1350.
- Chen W, Calvo PA, Malide D, Gibbs J, Schubert U, Bacik I, Basta S, O'Neill R, Schickli J, Palese P, Henklein P, Bennink JR, Yewdell JW (2001) A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. *Nat. Med.* 7, 1306–1312.
- Chen Y, Liang W, Yang S, Wu N, Gao H, Sheng J, Yao H, Wo J, Fang Q, Cui D, Li Y, Yao X, Zhang Y, Wu H, Zheng S, Diao H, Xia S, Zhang Y, Chan KH, Tsoi HW, Teng JL, Song W, Wang P, Lau SY, Zheng M, Chan JF, To KK, Chen H, Li L, Yuen KY (2013) Human infections with the emerging avian influenza A H7N9 virus from wet market

poultry: clinical analysis and characterization of viral genome. *Lancet* 381(9881), 1916–1925.

- Chesarino NM, McMichael TM, Yount JS (2015) E3 Ubiquitin Ligase NEDD4 Promotes Influenza Virus Infection by Decreasing Levels of the Antiviral Protein IFITM3. *PLoS Pathog.* 11(8), e1005095.
- Compans RW, Meier-Ewert H, Palese P (1974) Assembly of lipid-containing viruses. J Supramol Struct. 2 (2-4), 496–511.
- Conenello GM, Palese P (2007) Influenza A virus PB1-F2: a small protein with a big punch. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 207-209.
- Conner SD, Schmid SL (2003) Regulated portals of entry into the cell. *Nature* 422(6927), 37–44.
- Coscoy L, Ganem D (2000) Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus encodes two proteins that block cell surface display of MHC class I chains by enhancing their endocytosis. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 97, 8051–8056.
- Crawford N, Fire A, Samules M, Sharp PA, Baltimore D (1981) Inhibition of transcription factor activity by poliovirus. Cell 22, 555-561.
- Das K, Aramini JM, Ma LC, Krug RM, Arnold E (2010) Structures of influenza A proteins and insights into antiviral drug targets. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 17(5), 530–538.
- Dawood FS, Iuliano AD, Reed C, Meltzer MI, Shay DK, Cheng PY, Bandaranayake D, Breiman RF, Brooks WA, Buchy P, Feikin DR, Fowler KB, Gordon A, Hien NT, Horby P, Huang QS, Katz MA, Krishnan A, Lal R, Montgomery JM, Mølbak K, Pebody R,

Presanis AM, Razuri H, Steens A, Tinoco YO, Wallinga J, Yu H, Vong S, Bresee J, Widdowson MA (2012). Estimated global mortality associated with the first 12 months of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus circulation: a modelling study. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 12(9), 687–695.

- de la Luna S, Fortes P, Beloso A, Ortin J (1995) Influenza virus NS1 protein enhances the rate of translation initiation of viral mRNAs. *J Virol.* 69, 2427–2433.
- de Vries E, Tscherne DM, Wienholts MJ, Cobos-Jiménez V, Scholte F, García-Sastre A, Rottier PJ, de Haan CA (2011) Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001329.
- Digard P, Elton D, Bishop K, Medcalf E, Weeds A, Pope B (1999) Modulation of nuclear localization of the influenza virus nucleoprotein through interaction with actin filaments. J Virol 73(3), 2222–2231.
- el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B (1993) WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell* 75, 817–25.
- Elton D, Simpson-Holley M, Archer K, Medcalf L, Hallam R, McCauley J, Digard P (2001) Interaction of the influenza virus nucleoprotein with the cellular CRM1-mediated nuclear export pathway. *J Virol.* 75, 408–419.
- Eierhoff T, Hrincius ER, Rescher U, Ludwig S, Ehrhardt C (2010) The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) promotes uptake of influenza A viruses (IAV) into host cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1001099.

- Enami K, Sato TA, Nakada S, Enami M (1994) Influenza virus NS1 protein stimulates translation of the M1 protein. *J Virol.* 68, 1432–1437.
- Enami M, Sharma G, Benham C, Palese P (1991) An influenza virus containing nine different RNA segments. *Virology* 185(1), 291–298.
- Fadok VA, Voelker DR, Cambell PA, Cohen JJ, Bratton DL, Henson PM (1992) Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers removal by macrophages. J Immunol 148, 2207–2216.
- Feng P, Everly DN Jr, Read GS (2005) mRNA decay during herpes simplex virus (HSV) infections: protein-protein interactions involving the HSV virion host shutoff protein and translation factors eIF4H and eIF4A. J Virol. 79(15), 9651-64.
- Fontana JM, Bankamp B, Rota PA (2008) Inhibition of interferon induction and signaling by paramyxoviruses. *Immunol. Rev.* 225, 46–67.
- Frommhagen LH, Knight CA, Freeman NK (1959) The ribonucleic acid, lipid, and polysaccharide constituents of influenza virus preparations. *Virology* 8 (2), 176–197.
- Gack MU, Albrecht RA, Urano T, Inn KS, I.C. Huang, E. Carnero, M. Farzan, S. Inoue, J. U. Jung, A. García-Sastre (2009) Influenza A virus NS1 targets the ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 to evade recognition by the host viral RNA sensor RIG-I. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 439–49.
- Garcia-Sastre A, Egorov A, Matassov D, Brandt S, Levy DE, Durbin JE, Palese P, Muster T (1998) Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferon-deficient systems. *Virology* 252, 324–330.

- Giaccia AJ, Kastan MB (1998) The complexity of p53 modulation: emerging patterns from divergent signals. *Genes Dev.* 12, 2973–2983.
- Gomez-Puertas P, Albo C, Perez-Pastrana E, Vivo A, Portela A (2000). Influenza virus matrix protein is the major driving force in virus budding. *J Virol*. 74, 11538–11547.
- Gonzalez S, Ortin J (1999) Distinct regions of influenza virus PB1 polymerase subunit recognize vRNA and cRNA templates. *EMBO J* 18(13), 3767–3775.
- Hao HX, Xie Y, Zhang Y, Charlat O, Oster E, Avello M, Lei H, Mickanin C, Liu D, Ruffner H, Mao X, Ma Q, Zamponi R, Bouwmeester T, Finan PM, Kirschner MW, Porter JA, Serluca FC, Cong F (2012) ZNRF3 promotes Wnt receptor turnover in an Rspondinsensitive manner. *Nature* 485, 195e200.
- Hao L, Sakurai A, Watanabe T, Sorensen E, Nidom CA, Newton MA, Ahlquist P, Kawaoka Y (2008) Drosophila RNAi screen identifies host genes important for influenza virus replication. *Nature* 454(7206), 890-3.
- Haque M, Ueda K, Nakano K, Hirata Y, Parravicini C, Corbellino M, Yamanishi K (2001) Major histocompatibility complex class I molecules are downregulated at the cell surface by the K5 protein encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus/human herpesvirus -8. *J. Gen. Virol.* 82, 1175–1180.
- Harrison SC (2008) Viral membrane fusion. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15, 690–698.
- Hartmann T, Xu X, Kronast M, Muehlich S, Meyer K, Zimmermann W, Hurwitz J, Pan ZQ, Engelhardt S, Sarikas A (2014) Inhibition of Cullin-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase 7 by simian virus 40 large T antigen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 111, 3371 -6.

- Hatada E, Hasegawa M, Mukaigawa J, Shimizu K, Fukuda R (1989) Control of influenza virus gene expression: quantitative analysis of each viral RNA species in infected cells. J Biochem (Tokyo) 105(4), 537–546.
- Hay AJ, Lomniczi B, Bellamy AR, Skehel JJ (1977) Transcription of the influenza virus genome. *Virology* 83, 337–355.
- Hazama S, Nakamura Y, Takenouchi H, Suzuki N, Tsunedomi R, Inoue Y, Tokuhisa Y, Iizuka N, Yoshino S, Takeda K, Shinozaki H, Kamiya A, Furukawa H,Oka M (2014) A phase I study of combination vaccine treatment of five therapeutic epitope-peptides for metastatic colorectal cancer; safety, immunological response, and clinical outcome. J Transl Med. 12:63.
- Hoeller D, Hecker CM, Dikic I (2006) Ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins in cancer pathogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 6(10), 776-88.
- Hoffmann HH, Kunz A, Simon VA, Palese P, Shaw ML (2011) Broad-spectrum antiviral that interferes with de novo pyrimidine biosynthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 108, 5777–5782.
- Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H (1997) Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett 420, 25–7.
- Horst D, Verweij MC, Davison AJ, Ressing ME, Wiertz EJ (2011) Viral evasion of T cell immunity: Ancient mechanisms offering new applications. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 23, 96– 103.

- Hsu MT, Parvin JD, Gupta S, Krystal M, Palese P (1987) Genomic RNAs of influenza viruses are held in a circular conformation in virions and in infected cells by a terminal panhandle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 84 (22), 8140–8144.
- Inglis SC (1982) Inhibition of host protein synthesis and degradation of cellular mRNAs during infection by influenza and herpes simplex virus. Molecular and Cellular Biology 2, 1644-1648
- Ishido S, Wang C, Lee BS, Cohen GB, Jung JU (2000) Downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus K3 and K5 proteins. J. Virol. 74, 5300–5309.
- Ito T, Couceiro JN, Kelm S, Baum LG, Krauss S, Castrucci MR, Donatelli I, Kida H, Paulson JC, Webster RG, Kawaoka Y (1998) Molecular basis for the generation in pigs of influenza A viruses with pandemic potential. *J Viro* 72, 7367-7373.
- Jiang W, Wang Q, Chen S, Gao S, Song L, Liu P, Huang W (2013) Influenza A virus NS1 induces G0/G1 cell cycle arrest by inhibiting the expression and activity of RhoA protein. *J Virol.* 87(6), 3039-52.
- Jones IM, Reay PA, Philpott KL (1986) Nuclear location of all three influenza polymerase proteins and a nuclear signal in polymerase PB2. *EMBO J* 5(9), 2371–2376.
- Kageyama T, Fujisaki S, Takashita E, Xu H, Yamada S, Uchida Y, Neumann G, Saito T, Kawaoka Y, Tashiro M (2013) Genetic analysis of novel avian A (H7N9) influenza viruses isolated from patients in China, February to April 2013. *Euro Surveill*. 18(15), 20453.

- Kalejta RF, Shenk T (2003) The human cytomegalovirus UL82 gene product (pp71) accelerates progression through the G1phase of the cellcycle. J. Virol.77, 3451–3459.
- Karlas A, Machuy N, Shin Y, Pleissner KP, Artarini A, Heuer D, Becker D, Khalil H, Ogilvie LA, Hess S, Mäurer AP, Müller E, Wolff T, Rudel T, Meyer TF (2010) Genomewide RNAi screen identifies human host factors crucial for influenza virus replication. *Nature* 463, 818–822.
- Kasowski EJ, Garten RJ, Bridges CB (2011) Influenza pandemic epidemiologic and virologic diversity: reminding ourselves of the possibilities. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 52, S44–S49.
- Katz RA, Greger JG, Skalka AM (2005) Effects of cell cycle status on early events in retroviral replication. J. Cell. Biochem. 94, 880 – 889.
- Kawaoka Y, Cox NJ, Haller O, Hongo S, Kaverin N, Klenk HD, Lamb RA, McCauley J, Palese P, Rimstad E, Webster RG (2005) Genus Isavirus. *In Virus Taxonomy*(Eds. Fauquet CM, Mayo MA, Maniloff J, Desselberger U, Ball LA) Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, CA pp 681-693.
- Kharb R, Yar MS, Sharma PC (2011) New insights into chemistry and anti-infective potential of triazole scaffold. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 18, 3265–3297.
- Khor R, McElroy LJ, Whittaker GR (2003) The ubiquitin-vacuolar protein sorting system is selectively required during entry of influenza virus into host cells. *Traffic* 4, 857–868.
- Kingsbury DW, Jones I M, Murti KG (1987) Assembly of influenza ribonucleoprotein *in vitro* using recombinant nucleoprotein. *Virology* 156, 396-403.

- Ko¨nig R Stertz S, Zhou Y, Inoue A, Hoffmann HH, Bhattacharyya S, Alamares JG, Tscherne DM, Ortigoza MB, Liang Y, Gao Q, Andrews SE, Bandyopadhyay S, De Jesus P, Tu BP, Pache L, Shih C, Orth A, Bonamy G, Miraglia L, Ideker T, García-Sastre A, Young JA, Palese P, Shaw ML, Chanda SK (2010) Human host factors required for influenza virus replication. *Nature* 463, 813–817.
- Koo BK, Spit M, Jordens I, Low TY, Stange DE, van de Wetering M, van Es JH, Mohammed S, Heck AJ, Maurice MM, Clevers H (2012) Tumour suppressor RNF43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wnt receptors. *Nature* 488, 665–9.
- Krug RM (1981) Priming of influenza viral RNA transcription by capped heterologous RNAs. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 93, 125–149.
- Krug RM (2014) Influenza: An RNA-synthesizing machine. *Nature* 516, 338–339.
- Lakadamyali M, Rust MJ, Zhuang X (2004) Endocytosis of influenza viruses. *Microbes Infect* 6(10), 929–936.
- Lamb RA, Choppin PW (1983) The Gene Structure and Replication of Influenza Virus. Annual Review of Biochemistry 52, 467-506.
- Lamb RA, Zebedee SL, Richardson CD (1985) Influenza virus M2protein is an integral membrane protein expressed on the infected-cell surface. *Cell* 40, 627–633.
- Lee JT, Gu W (2010) The multiple levels of regulation by p53 ubiquitination. *Cell Death Differ*. 17, 86–92.

- Li T, Chen X, Garbutt KC, Zhou P, Zheng N (2006) Structure of DDB1 in complex with a paramyxovirus V protein: viral hijack of a propeller cluster in ubiquitin ligase. *Cell* 124, 105–117.
- Li X, Palese P (1994) Characterization of the polyadenylation signal of influenza virus RNA. J Virol 68(2), 1245–1249.
- Liao TL, Wu CY, Su WC, Jeng KS, Lai MM (2010) Ubiquitination and deubiquitination of NP protein regulates influenza A virus RNA replication. *EMBO J.* 29 (22), 3879-90.
- Lindner HA (2007) Deubiquitination in virus infection. *Virology* 362, 245–56.
- Lowe M, Nakamura N, Warren G (1998) Golgi division and membrane traffic. *Trends Cell Biol.* 8, 40–44.
- Ludwig S, Pleschka S, Planz O, Wolff T (2006) Ringing the alarm bells: signalling and apoptosis in influenza virus infected cells. *Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 375–86.
- Ludwig S, Stitz L, Planz O, Van H, Fitch WM, Scholtissek C (1995) European swine virus as a possible source for the next influenza pandemic? *Virology* 212, 555–561.
- Luo GX, Luytjes W, Enami M, Palese P (1991) The polyadenylation signal of influenza virus RNA involves a stretch of uridines followed by the RNA duplex of the panhandle structure. J Virol 65(6), 2861–2867.
- Marion RM, Aragon T, Beloso A, Nieto A, Ortín J (1997a) The N-terminal half of the influenza virus NS1 protein is sufficient for nuclear retention of mRNA and enhancement of viral mRNA translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 4271–4277.

- Marion RM, Zurcher T, de la Luna S, Ortin J (1997b) Influenza virus NS1 protein interacts with viral transcription-replication complexes in vivo. *J Gen Virol.* 78, 2447–2451.
- Matlin KS, Reggio H, Helenius A, Simons K (1981) Infectious entry pathway of influenza virus in a canine kidney cell line. *J Cell Biol.* 91, 601–613.
- Matrosovich MN, Matrosovich TY, Gray T, Roberts NA, Klenk HD (2004) Human and avian influenza viruses target different cell types in cultures of human airway epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101, 4620–4624.
- Mayer D, Molawi K, Martinez-Sobrido L, Ghanem A, Thomas S, Baginsky S, Grossmann J, Garcia-Sastre A, Schwemmle M (2007) Identification of cellular interaction partners of the influenza virus ribonucleoprotein complex and polymerase complex using proteomic-based approaches. J Proteome Res 6, 672–682.
- McCaughey C (2010) Influenza: a virus of our times. Ulster Med. J. 79(2), 46–51.
- McGOWAN JJ, EMERSON SO, WAGNER RR (1982) The plus strand leader RNA of VSV inhibits DNA-dependent transcription of adenovirus and SV40 genes in a soluble whole-cell extract. Cell 28, 325-333.
- Medina RA, García-Sastre A (2011) Influenza A viruses: new research developments. Nat Rev Microbiol. 9 (8), 590-603.
- Moeller A, Kirchdoerfer RN, Potter CS, Carragher B, Wilson IA (2013) Organization of the influenza virus replication machinery. *Science* 338, 1631–1634.

- Momose F, Basler CF, O'Neill RE, Iwamatsu A, Palese P, Nagata K (2001) Cellular splicing factor RAF-2p48/NPI-5/BAT1/UAP56 interacts with the influenza virus nucleoprotein and enhances viral RNA synthesis. *J Virol.* 75, 1899–1908.
- Mukaigawa J, Nayak DP (1991) Two signals mediate nuclear localization of influenza virus (A/WSN/33) polymerase basic protein 2. *J Virol* 65(1), 245–253.
- Mukhopadhyay D, Riezman H (2007) Proteasome-independent functions of ubiquitin in endocytosis and signaling. *Science* 315, 201–205.
- Müller KH, Kakkola L, Nagaraj AS, Cheltsov AV, Anastasina M, Kainov DE (2012) Emerging cellular targets for influenza antiviral agents. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 33(2), 89-99.
- Muñoz-Fontela C, Pazos M, Delgado I, Murk W, Mungamuri SK, Lee SW, García-Sastre A, Moran TM, Aaronson SA (2011) p53 serves as a host antiviral factor that enhances innate and adaptive immune responses to influenza A virus. *J. Immunol.* 187, 6428–36.
- Nath ST, Nayak DP (1990) Function of two discrete regions is required for nuclear localization of polymerase basic protein 1 of A/WSN/33 influenza virus (H1 N1). *Mol Cell Biol* 10(8), 4139–4145.
- Nayak DP, Hui EK, Barman S (2004) Assembly and budding of influenza virus. *Virus Res* 106(2), 147–165.
- Neumann G, Hughes MT, Kawaoka Y (2000) Influenza A virus NS2 protein mediates vRNP nuclear export through NES-independent interaction with hCRM1. *EMBO J* 19(24), 6751–6758.

- Ng AK, Zhang H, Tan K, Li Z, Liu JH, Chan PK, Li SM, Chan WY, Au SW, Joachimiak A, Walz T, Wang JH, Shaw PC (2008) Structure of the influenza virus A H5N1 nucleoprotein: implications for RNA binding, oligomerization, and vaccine design. FASEB J. 22(10), 3638-47.
- Nieto A, de la Luna S, Barcena J, Portela A, Ortín J (1994) Complex structure of the nuclear translocation signal of influenza virus polymerase PA subunit. *J Gen Virol* 75:29–36.
- Obaya AJ, Sedivy JM (2002) Regulation of cyclin-Cdk activity in mammalian cells. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 59, 126–142.
- O'Neill RE, Jaskunas R, Blobel G, Palese P, Moroianu J (1995) Nuclear import of influenza virus RNA can be mediated by viral nucleoprotein and transport factors required for protein import. *J Biol Chem* 270(39), 22701–22704.
- Palese P, Compans RW (1976) Inhibition of influenza virus replication in tissue culture by 2-deoxy-2,3-dehydro-N-trifluoroacetyl-neuraminic acid (FANA): mechanism of action. J Gen Virol. 33(1), 159–163.
- Palese P, Tobita K, Ueda M, Compans RW (1974) Characterization of temperature sensitive influenza virus mutants defective in neuraminidase. *Virology* 61(2), 397–410.
- Parisien JP, Lau JF, Rodriguez JJ, Ulane CM, Horvath CM (2002) Selective STAT protein degradation induced by paramyxoviruses requires both STAT1 and STAT2 but is independent of alpha/beta interferon signal transduction. J. Virol.76, 4190–4198.
- Peiris JS, De Jong MD, Guan Y (2007) Avian influenza virus (H5N1): a threat to human health. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 20(2), 243–267.

- Peng WC, de LW, Madoori PK, Forneris F, Granneman JC, Clevers H, Gros P, (2013) Structures of Wnt-antagonist ZNRF3 and its complex with R-spondin 1 and implications for signaling. *PLoS One* 8, e83110.
- Pflug A, Guilligay D, Reich S, Cusack S (2014) Structure of influenza A polymerase bound to the viral RNA promoter. *Nature* 516, 355-60.
- ▶ Pickart CM (2004) Back to the future with ubiquitin. *Cell* 116, 181–190.
- Pinto LH, Holsinger LJ, Lamb RA (1992) Influenza virus M2 protein has ion channel activity. *Cell* 69, 517–528.
- Plotch SJ, Bouloy M, Ulmanen I, Krug RM (1981) A unique cap (m7-GpppXm) dependent influenza virion endonuclease cleaves capped RNAs to generate the primers that initiate viral RNA transcription. *Cell* 23(3), 847–858.
- Portela A, Digard P (2002) The influenza virus nucleoprotein: a multifunctional RNAbinding protein pivotal to virus replication. *J Gen Virol* 83, 723–734.
- Proietti S, Cucina A, Dobrowolny G, D'Anselmi F, Dinicola S, Masiello MG, Pasqualato A, Palombo A, Morini V, Reiter RJ, Bizzarri M (2014) Melatonin down-regulates MDM2 gene expression and enhances p53 acetylation in MCF-7 cells. *J Pineal Res* 57, 120–129.
- Rajsbaum R, Albrecht RA, Wang MK, Maharaj NP, Versteeg GA, Estanislao Nistal-Nistal-Villán E, García-Sastre A, Gack MU (2012) Species-Specific Inhibition of RIG-I Ubiquitination and IFN Induction by the Influenza A Virus NS1 Protein. *PLoS Pathog.* 8(11), e1003059.

- Rambaut A, Pybus OG, Nelson MI, Viboud C, Jeffery K, Holmes EC (2008) The genomic and epidemiological dynamics of human influenza A virus. *Virus* 453 (7195): 615–619.
- Randow F, Lehner PJ (2009) Viral avoidance and exploitation of the ubiquitin system. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 527–34.
- Reich S, Guilligay D, Pflug A, Malet H, Berger I, Crépin T, Hart D, Lunardi T, Nanao M, Ruigrok RW, Cusack S (2014) Structural insight into cap-snatching and RNA synthesis by influenza polymerase. *Nature* 516, 361-6.
- Reilly LM, Guarino LA (1996) The viral ubiquitin gene of *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus is not essential for viral replication. *Virology* 218, 243–247.
- Robertson JS, Schubert M, Lazzarini RA (1981) Polyadenylation sites for influenza virus mRNA. J Virol 38(1), 157–163.
- Rodriguez-Frandsen A, Alfonso R, Nieto A (2015) Influenza virus polymerase: Functions on host range, inhibition of cellular response to infection and pathogenicity. *Virus Res.* 209, 23-38.
- Sanz-Ezquerro JJ, de la Luna S, Ortin J, Nieto A (1995) Individual expression of influenza virus PA protein induces degradation of coexpressed proteins. *J Virol.* 69(4), 2420–2426.
- Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM, Levine AJ, Howley PM (1990) The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. *Cell* 63, 1129–1136.

- Scheiffele P, Rietveld A, Wilk T, Simons K (1999) Influenza viruses select ordered lipid domains during budding from the plasma membrane. *The journal of biological chemistry* 274 (4), 2038–2044.
- Scholtissek C, Becht H (1971) Binding of ribonucleic acids to the RNP-antigen protein of influenza viruses. *Journal of General Virology* 10, 11-16.
- Shapira SD, Gat-Viks I, Shum BO, Dricot A, de Grace MM, Wu L, Gupta PB, Hao T, Silver SJ, Root DE, Hill DE, Regev A, Hacohen N (2009) A physical and regulatory map of host– influenza interactions reveals pathways in H1N1 infection. *Cell* 139, 1255–1267.
- Shapiro GI, Gurney Jr T, Krug RM (1987) Influenza virus gene expression: control mechanisms at early and late times of infection and nuclear-cytoplasmic transport of virusspecific RNAs. J. Virol. 61, 764–773.
- Sharma K, Tripathi S, Ranjan P, Kumar P, Garten R, Deyde V, Katz JM, Cox NJ, Lal RB, Sambhara S, Lal SK (2011) Influenza A virus nucleoprotein exploits Hsp40 to inhibit PKR activation. *PLos One* 6, e20215.
- Sharma S, Mayank AK, Nailwal H, Tripathi S, Patel JR, Bowzard JB, Gaur P, Donis RO, Katz JM, Cox NJ, Lal RB, Farooqi H, Sambhara S, Lal SK (2014) Influenza A viral nucleoprotein interacts with cytoskeleton scaffolding protein α-actinin-4 for viral replication. *FEBS J*. 281, 2899–914.
- Shaw ML (2011) The host interactome of influenza virus presents new potential targets for antiviral drugs. *Rev Med Virol* 21, 358–369.
- Shaw ML, Stone KL, Colangelo CM, Gulcicek EE, Palese P (2008) Cellular proteins in influenza virus particles. PLoS Pathog 4, e1000085.
- Shinada K, Tsukiyama T, Sho T, Okumura F, Asaka M, Hatakeyama S (2011) RNF43 interacts with NEDL1 and regulates p53-mediated transcription. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 404, 143–7.
- Shen Y, Wang X, Guo L, Qiu Y, Li X, Yu H, Xiang H, Tong G, Ma Z (2009) Influenza A virus induces p53 accumulation in a biphasic pattern. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 382, 331–5.
- Shu LL, Bean WJ, Webster RG (1993) Analysis of the evolution and variation of the human influenza A virus nucleoprotein gene from 1933 to 1990. *Journal of Virology* 67, 2723-2729.
- Skehel JJ, Wiley DC (2000) Receptor binding and membrane fusion in virus entry: the influenza hemagglutinin. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 69, 531–569.
- Smith GL, Hay AJ (1982) Replication of the influenza virus genome. Virology118, 96– 108.
- Smith GL, Levin JZ, Palese P, Moss B (1987) Synthesis and cellular location of the ten influenza polypeptides individually expressed by recombinant vaccinia viruses. *Virology* 160(2), 336–345.
- Song B, Liu JJ, Yeh KC, Knipe DM (2000) Herpes simplex virus infection blocks events in the G1phase of the cell cycle. Virology267, 326–334.

- Stegmann T (2000) Membrane fusion mechanisms: the influenza hemagglutinin paradigm and its implications for intracellular fusion. *Traffic* 1(8), 598–604.
- Stevenson PG, Efstathiou S, Doherty PC, Lehner PJ (2000) Inhibition of MHC class Irestricted antigen presentation by γ-2-herpesviruses. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 97, 8455– 8460.
- Stewart SA, Poon B, Jowett JB, Chen IS (1997) Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr induces apoptosis following cell cycle arrest. *J Virol.* 71(7), 5579-92
- Stray SJ, Air GM (2001) Apoptosis by influenza viruses correlates with efficiency of viral mRNA synthesis. *Virus Res.* 77, 3–17.
- Su WC, Chen YC, Tseng CH, Hsu PWC, Tung KF, Jeng KS, Lai MMC (2013) Pooled RNAi screen identifies ubiquitin ligase Itch as crucial for influenza A virus release from the endosome during virus entry. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 110, 17516–21.
- Sugiura T, Yamaguchi A, Miyamoto K (2008) A cancer-associated RING finger protein, RNF43, is a ubiquitin ligase that interacts with a nuclear protein, HAP95. *Exp Cell Res* 314, 1519–28.
- Tait JF, Gibson D, Fujikawa K. Phospholipid binding properties of human placental anticoagulation protein-I, a member of the lipocortin family (1989) J Biol Chem 264, 7944–7949
- Takizawa T, Matsukawa S, Higuchi Y, Nakamura S, Nakanishi Y, Fukuda R (1993) Induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis) by influenza virus infection in tissue culture cells. J. Gen. Virol. 74, 234-55.

- Tripathi S, Batra J, Cao W, Sharma K, Patel JR, Ranjan P, Kumar A, Katz JM, Cox NJ, Lal RB, Sambhara S, Lal SK (2013) Influenza A virus nucleoprotein induces apoptosis in human airway epithelial cells: implications of a novel interaction between nucleoprotein and host protein Clusterin. *Cell Death Dis* 4, e562.
- Vousden KH (2002) Switching from life to death: the Miz-ing link between Myc and p53. *Cancer Cell* 2, 351–352.
- Wang C, Lamb RA, Pinto LH (1994) Direct measurement of the influenza A virus M2 protein ion channel activity in mammalian cells. *Virology* 205, 133–140.
- Wang P, Palese P, O'Neill RE (1997) The NPI-1/NPI-3 (karyopherin alpha) binding site on the influenza A virus nucleoprotein NP is a nonconventional nuclear localization signal. *J Virol* 71(3), 1850–1856.
- Wang X, Deng X, Yan W, Zhu Z, Shen Y, Qiu Y, Shi Z, Shao D, Wei J, Xia X, Ma Z (2012) Stabilization of p53 in influenza A virus-infected cells is associated with compromised MDM2-mediated ubiquitination of p53. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 18366–75.
- Warren G (1993) Membrane partitioning during cell division. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 62, 323–348.
- Watanabe T, Watanabe S, Kawaoka Y (2010) Cellular networks involved in the influenza virus life cycle. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 427-439.
- Webster RG, Bean WJ, Gorman OT, Chambers TM, Kawaoka Y (1992) Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Microbiol. Rev.* 56, 152–179.

- Weis WI, brown JH, Cusack S, Paulson JC, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC (1988) Structure of influenza virus haemagglutinin complexed with its receptor, sialic acid. *Nature* 333, 426-431.
- Welchman RL, Gordon C, Mayer RJ (2005) Ubiquitin and ubiquitin like proteins as multifunctional signals. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6, 599–609.
- Wright PF, Neumann G, Kawaoka Y (2007) Orthomyxoviruses. In Fields Virology. 5th ed. (Eds. Knipe DM and Howley PM) Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA pp 1691–1740.
- Xing C, Zhou W, Ding S, Xie H, Zhang W, Yang Z, Wei B, Chen K, Su R, Cheng J, Zheng S, Zhou L (2013) Reversing effect of ring finger protein 43 inhibition on malignant phenotypes of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Cancer Ther*12, 94–103.
- Xirodimas D, Saville MK, Edling C, Lane DP, Laoa S (2001) Different effects of p14ARF on the levels of ubiquitinated p53 and MDM2 in vivo. *Oncogene* 20, 4972–4983.
- Yagyu R, Furukawa Y, Lin YM, Shimokawa T, Yamamura T, Nakamura Y (2004) A novel oncoprotein RNF43 functions in an autocrine manner in colorectal cancer, Int. J. Oncol. 25, 1343–1348.
- Yamanaka K, Ishihama A, Nagata K (1990) Reconstitution of influenza virus RNA nucleoprotein complexes structurally resembling native viral ribonucleoprotein cores. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 265, 11151-11155.

- Yasuda J, Nakada S, Kato A, Toyoda T, Ishihama A (1993) Molecular assembly of influenza virus: association of the NS2 protein with virion matrix. *Virology* 196(1), 249– 255.
- Ye Z, Liu T, Offringa DP, McInnis J, Levandowski RA (1999) Association of influenza virus matrix protein with ribonucleoproteins. *J Virol* 73(9), 7467–7473.
- Yuan X, Yao Z, Wu J, Zhou Y, Shan Y, Dong B, Zhao Z, Hua P, ChenJ, Cong Y.2007. G1phase cell cycle arrest induced by SARS-CoV 3aprotein via the cyclin D3/pRb pathway. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.37, 9–19.
- Zebisch M, Jones EY (2015) ZNRF3/RNF43--A direct linkage of extracellular recognition and E3 ligase activity to modulate cell surface signalling. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 118(3), 112-8.
- Zebisch M, Xu Y, Krastev C, Macdonald BT, Chen M, Gilbert RJ, He X, Jones EY (2013) Structural and molecular basis of ZNRF3/RNF43 transmembrane ubiquitin ligase inhibition by the Wnt agonist R-spondin. *Nat. Commun.* 4, 2787.
- Zhirnov OP, Grigoriev VB (1994) Disassembly of influenza C viruses, distinct from that of influenza A and B viruses requires neutral-alkaline pH. *Virology* 200 (1), 284–291.

Chapter 8 | Appendix

CHAPTER 8 Appendix

PUBLICATIONS

- Nailwal H, Sharma S, Mayank AK, Lal SK (2015) The nucleoprotein of influenza A virus induces p53 signaling and apoptosis via attenuation of host ubiquitin ligase RNF43. *Cell Death Dis.* 6, e1768.
- Nailwal H, Kamra K, Lal SK (2014) H7N9: A killer in the making or a false alarm? *Can J Microbiol* 60, 425–9.

www.nature.com/cddis

The nucleoprotein of influenza A virus induces p53 signaling and apoptosis via attenuation of host ubiquitin ligase RNF43

H Nailwal¹, S Sharma², AK Mayank² and SK Lal*,^{1,2}

The interplay between influenza virus and host factors to support the viral life cycle is well documented. Influenza A virus (IAV) proteins interact with an array of cellular proteins and hijack host pathways which are at the helm of cellular responses to facilitate virus invasion. The multifaceted nature of the ubiquitination pathway for protein regulation makes it a vulnerable target of many viruses including IAV. To this end we conducted a yeast two-hybrid screen to search for cellular ubiquitin ligases important for influenza virus replication. We identified host protein, RING finger protein 43 (RNF43), a RING-type E3 ubiquitin ligase, as a novel interactor of nucleoprotein (NP) of IAV and an essential partner to induce NP-driven p53-mediated apoptosis in IAV-infected cells. In this study, we demonstrate that IAV leads to attenuation of RNF43 transcripts and hence its respective protein levels in the cellular milieu whereas in RNF43 depleted cells, viral replication was escalated several folds. Moreover, RNF43 polyubiquitinates p53 which further leads to its destabilization resulting in a decrease in induction of the p53 apoptotic pathway, a hitherto unknown process targeted by NP for p53 stabilization and accumulation. Collectively, these results conclude that NP targets RNF43 to modulate p53 ubiquitination levels and hence causes p53 stabilization which is conducive to an enhanced apoptosis level in the host cells. In conclusion, our study unravels a novel strategy adopted by IAV for utilizing the much conserved ubiquitin proteasomal pathway. *Cell Death and Disease* (2015) **6**, e1768; doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.131; published online 21 May 2015

Influenza A virus (IAV) by far remains the most important of all respiratory viruses, causing severe morbidity and mortality every year.¹ Nucleoprotein (NP) of IAV is a viral RNA genomeencapsulating structural protein that has been implicated in various other indispensable activities for virus replication and pathogenesis-like intracellular trafficking of the viral genome, viral RNA replication, virus assembly^{2,3} via its interaction with a plethora of cellular factors like cytoskeleton scaffolding protein α -actinin-4, nuclear import receptor α importin, nuclear export receptor CRM1, DEAD-box helicase BAT1/UAP56 and cytoskeletal element F actin.^{4–8}

The evolution of host-microbe interaction is mediated through the orchestration of different viral and host signaling pathways. Similarly, IAV requires an intricate regulatory network of viral and cellular proteins to accomplish successful replication.9 One of the pathways that have been shown to be maneuvered by the virus is the ubiquitin (Ub) proteasomal pathway (UPP). UPP is a multi-enzyme cascade that involves the sequential action of three different enzymes: E1 ubiquitinactivating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and E3 ubiquitin ligase. A completely different class of proteins, known as deubiquitinases, reverses this process by removing the Ub molecules from target proteins.¹⁰ With 400 putative E3 ligases encoded by the mammalian genome, the receptor specificity is maintained by these proteins and hence, are heavily exploited by viruses.¹¹ IAV protein NS1 is reported to target ubiquitin ligase, TRIM 25 to escape RIG1 recognition¹² and M1 protein

reportedly interacts with E3 ligase, Itch.¹³ Moreover, recently it has been discovered that NP stabilizes the tumor suppressor protein, p53 through its decreased ubiquitination by ubiquitin ligase, MDM2.14 In this study, we have identified that NP interacts with E3 ubiquitin ligase, RNF43. RNF43 is a recently identified member of the RING finger family of ubiquitin ligases and has been implicated to be overexpressed in human colorectal and hepatocellular carcinomas with anti-apoptotic and growth-promoting effects that also interacts with HAP95 and NEDL1, an upstream effector of p53.15-19 A crucial mediator of cellular apoptosis, p53 is present in a latent form in unstressed cells and is regulated through various posttranslational modifications like phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumolyation, neddylation, methylation, acetylation and glycosylation of p53 polypeptide.^{20–23} Although accumulation of p53 in IAV-infected cells has been demonstrated, 24-26 it is still not clear whether IAV-induced accumulation of p53 is correlated with its activation and consecutive transactivation of its target genes that could in turn induce apoptosis in infected cells that is considered to be a peculiar feature of IAV pathogenesis.27-31

Our study provides evidences that RNF43 prevents cell death by ubiquitinating p53 and thus destabilizing it, *in-vitro*. Importantly, we have shown that IAV attenuates RNF43 on interacting with NP thus stabilizing p53 protein and consequently induces p53 signaling and apoptosis in the host cells.

¹School of Science, Monash University Malaysia, Bandar Sunway, 47500 Petaling Jaya, Selangor DE, Malaysia and ²Virology Group, International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, New Delhi 110067, India

^{*}Corresponding author: SK Lal, School of Science, Monash University Malaysia, Jalan Lagoon Selatan, 47500 Bandar Sunway, 47500 Petaling Jaya, Selangor DE,

Abbreviations: IAV, influenza A virus; NP, nucleoprotein; RNF43, RING Finger 43; Ub, ubiquitin; UPP, ubiquitin proteasomal pathway Received 02.2.15; revised 09.4.15; accepted 10.4.15; Edited by A Stephanou

Identification of this new NP–RNF43 interaction could become a promising target for antiviral intervention.

Results

Nucleoprotein of Influenza A virus interacts with human ubiquitin ligase protein RNF43 in a conserved manner. Yeast two-hybrid screening of a human cDNA lung library was conducted to identify potential interacting partners of NP of IAV. We screened a human lung cDNA library using NP from highly pathogenic A/Chicken/Hatay/2004 (H5N1), cloned into plasmid pHybLexA/Zeo, as the bait (Figure 1a). A clone encoding 1071–1622 amino acid region of RNF43 was obtained as the positive interactor which was further confirmed by BLAST analysis. Full-length RNF43 cDNA was cloned in-frame with the activation domain pYESTrp2 and both NP–pHLZ and RNF43– pYESTrp2 were cotransformed in L-40 strain of *Saccharo-myces cerevisiae*. It tested positive for histidine prototrophy and β -galactosidase activity confirming the interaction of full-length RNF43 with NP (Figure 1b).

The NP–RNF43 interaction was further validated by performing co-immunoprecipitation assays. HEK293T cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP plasmid construct. Myc-tagged NP expression was confirmed using Western blotting as shown in Figure 1c (panel 3). Immunoprecipitation using anti-RNF43 antibody followed by immunoblotting with anti-myc antibody confirmed the interaction of RNF43 with NP (panel 1).

To validate the existence of the said interaction during IAV infection, mammalian lung epithelial A549 cells were infected



Figure 1 IAV NP interacts with RNF43. (a) Tabular representation of the yeast two-hybrid screening of lung cDNA library using NP as the bait protein. The filter β -gal assay for the clone 13-4 is shown as the last column of the table. (b) pHybLexA/Zeo-NP and pYESTrp2-RNF43 were cotransformed in L-40 yeast strain and their interaction was verified by β -galactosidase assay. (c) Lung epithelial A549 cells were transfected with either empty vector pCDNA3.1 (Mock) or pCDNA3.1-Myc-NP (NP-Myc). Forty-eight hours post transfection, cells were lysed and the lysates were subjected to co-immunoprecipitation with anti-RNF43 antibody followed by Western blotting with anti-Myc antibody. (d) A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus and X-31 virus at 1 MOI for 24 h and the whole-cell lysates were used for co-immunoprecipitation assays. Lysates (5%) from the same experiment were subjected to Western blotting with anti-NP (panel 6), anti-M2 (panel 7), anti-RNF43 (panel 8) and anti- β actin (panel 9) antibodies to show the cellular levels of these proteins

with A/Puerto Rico/8/34 virus (H1N1; PR8) and A/Aichi/2/1968 virus (H3N2; X-31) at 1 MOI. The cell lysates were harvested 24 h post infection (24 h.p.i) and subjected to co-immunoprecipitation with anti-RNF43 antibody. NP protein immunoprecipitated with RNF43 antibody thus confirming that NP–RNF43 interaction was conserved between both the virus isolates (Figure 1d, panel 1). Also, co-immunoprecipitation with another IAV protein, M2 (Figure 1d, panel 3), showed that RNF43 antibody was unable to bind the M2 protein in the IAV-infected lysate, proving that RNF43 interacts exclusively with NP of IAV.

RNF43 co-localizes with NP in the nucleus. We sought to ascertain the kinetics and site of interaction of NP and RNF43 after confirming the interaction of these two proteins. A549 cells were transfected with control plasmid pEGFPN1 or pEGFP-NP followed by fixing cells 48 h post transfection and further processing for immunofluorescence analysis. RNF43 was seen to have ubiquitous nucleocytoplasmic localization in mock transfected cells (Figure 2a). However, GFP-tagged NP localized in the nucleus and co-localized with RNF43 majorly inside the nucleus.

Similarly, A549 cells were infected with PR8 at an MOI of 5 and were fixed at 0, 4 and 8 h.p.i (Figure 2b). At 4 h.p.i, NP has been observed to localize within the nucleus. At later stages of infection it is reported to move into the cytoplasm (8 h.p.i).³ RNF43 as previously observed had nucleocytoplasmic localization but was noted to concentrate inside the nucleus on virus infection (4 h.p.i; Figure 2b). At 8 h.p.i, the two proteins were seen to co-localize inside the nucleus. Thus, it is inferred that the primary site of interaction for the IAV NP and RNF43 is the nucleus of the host cell.

Influenza infection decreases RNF43 mRNA and protein expression. To determine the physiological relevance of this interaction in the influenza virus life cycle, Western blot analysis of the PR8-infected A549 cells harvested at different time points post infection was done (Figure 3a). It showed a gradual decline in RNF43 protein expression with progression of infection reaching to its lowest levels at 48 h. p.i in the infected cells. Using the same technique, protein expression of RNF43 at different MOI of virus was evaluated (Figure 3b). A significant decrease in RNF43 protein levels with increasing virus MOI was in agreement with our previous observation. Protein levels were quantified using densitometric analysis on Image J software (1.46r, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

Subsequently, we studied the mRNA levels of RNF43 after IAV infection. Total mRNA of PR8-infected A549 cells was extracted 24 h.p.i and quantified with quantitative real-time reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR). A remarkable 0.5-fold decrease in RNF43 mRNA levels was clearly observed as compared with the mock (Figure 3c).

These contemporaneous regulations of RNF43 transcripts and protein expression levels are indicative of an antagonistic interaction between NP and RNF43 where RNF43 is being attenuated with the progression of virus pathogenesis.

RNF43 acts as an antiviral protein to subside viral replication. Viruses manipulate host proteins to their

advantage often by increasing their efficiency of replication thus leading to higher virus titer in infected cells.⁴ In order to investigate this aspect, we monitored viral replication after transiently transfecting with pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmid at indicated increasing concentrations in HEK293T cells (Figures 4a–c). Empty vector pCDNA3.1 was used as a negative control. After 24 h of incubation, cells were infected with PR8 virus and harvested at 24 h. Quantification of mRNA and vRNA levels of NP was performed through realtime PCR after RNA isolation. RNF43 overexpression resulted in a gradient and a considerable decrease in NP mRNA and vRNA levels with 0.3- and 0.06-fold being the maximum recorded, respectively (Figures 4a and b). The RNF43 overexpression was confirmed with RT-PCR analysis of RNF43 mRNA levels (Figure 4c).

Next, we observed a \sim 8-fold increase in NP mRNA levels with \sim 98% silencing of RNF43 (Figure 4d). This drastic alteration in NP mRNA as well as vRNA levels exhibits a convincing antiviral role for RNF43.

In the view of above results we decided to check the effect of RNF43 on influenza virus replicase activity. A549 cells were treated with either non-targeting siRNA (NT siRNA) or RNF43 siRNA followed by co-transfection with plasmids encoding the PR8 polymerase complex genes PB2, PB1, PA and NP in conjunction with a reporter plasmid containing untranslated region of NS1 segment upstream of the luciferase gene driven by the human RNA pol I promoter. Figure 4e shows that there was a sixfold increase in replicase activity in RNF43 siRNA-treated cells as compared with the NT siRNA-treated cells. These findings strongly suggest that RNF43 is a strong inhibitor of virus replication and has antiviral properties.

NP causes p53 stabilization by decreasing p53 ubiquitination via RNF43 ubiquitin ligase. The antiapoptotic characteristics of RNF43 protein gave us insights to ascertain the importance of the NP-RNF43 interaction in p53 stabilization and signaling. To assess p53 protein stability, 50 µg/ml cycloheximide, an inhibitor of protein synthesis in eukaryotic cells, was administered to A549 cells which were transiently transfected with different expression plasmids, pEGFPN1, pEGFP-NP with or without pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA. The half-life of p53 protein was deduced by monitoring its decay over a period of 3 h by Western blot analysis. Half-life of p53 in the NP-GFP and RNF43-Flag-HA co-transfected cells was reduced to 60 min as compared with 120 min in the case of only NP-GFP-transfected cells (Figure 5a). This data clearly proves that p53 is getting stabilized in the NP-transfected cells through the latter's interaction with RNF43 suggesting that NP-RNF43 interaction primarily leads to an enhanced p53 stabilization and accumulation.

Post-translational regulation of p53 via UPP mediated by different E3 ligases is a well-established phenomenon.^{22,23} Because of RNF43 protein's E3 ligase activity and a RING domain in its structure we were keen to look at its role in post-translational modification of p53 through ubiquitination and explore the possibility of p53 being a substrate of its ligase activity. To this end, we first checked p53 transcript levels in A549 cells where RNF43-HA was transiently expressed. Quantitative RT-PCR analysis confirmed that RNF43 was



Figure 2 IAV NP and RNF43 co-localize in the nucleus of mammalian cells. (a) A549 cells were transfected with pEGFPN1 control plasmid or pEGFP-NP. Cells were fixed after 48 h and stained with DAPI for nucleus and anti-goat secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa-594 for RNF43 (red) and observed under confocal microscope. GFP-tagged NP is shown in green. (b) A549 cells were infected with PR8 IAV with 5 MOI and were fixed at the indicated time points. NP was stained using anti-NP monoclonal primary antibody and anti-mouse Alexa488 conjugated secondary antibody (green). RNF43 was stained using specific primary antibody and anti-rabbit Alexa-594 conjugated secondary antibody (red). Panels are labeled for their respective staining, RNF43 (red), NP (green) and nucleus (blue)

unable to cause any significant alteration in p53 transcription (Supplementary Figure S1).

We next examined p53 ubiquitination status. HEK293T cells were treated with 20 μ M MG132, proteasomal inhibitor, after co-transfection with plasmids expressing p53-GFP, Ub-myc, RNF43-HA, NP-GFP and MDM2-Flag in different combinations (Figure 5b) followed by Western blot analysis of harvested cells. We observed a significant increase in ubiquitination status of p53 under RNF43 overexpression. However, NP-alleviated RNF43 caused p53 ubiquitination when transfected along with RNF43. MDM2 served as a positive control.³²

Next, we examined the ubiquitination status of p53 through Ni–NTA pull down-based ubiquitination assay. HEK293T cells were co-transfected with a combination of plasmids expressing p53-GFP, RNF43-HA, NP-GFP along with Ub-Hisexpressing plasmid. Cells were harvested at 48 h.p.i after treatment with MG132, 5 h before harvesting. Ubiquitinated p53 was pulled with Ni–NTA beads and analyzed through Western blotting. As shown in Figure 5c, ladder of poly-ubiquitinated p53 is more abundant in RNF43 transfectants as compared with the control which suggests that RNF43 promotes p53 ubiquitination and degradation. Moreover, an increase in p53 ubiquitination was observed when RNF43-Flag-HA was co-expressed with NP-GFP as opposed to a diminished level of ubiquitinated p53 in only NP-GFPtransfected cells. This convincingly advocates the role of RNF43 in p53 regulation which is targeted by NP to stabilize p53 in IAV-infected cells.

IAV NP attenuates RNF43 to induce p53-mediated apoptosis H Nailwal et al



Figure 3 IAV infection decreases abundance of RNF43 at both mRNA and protein levels. (a) Lung epithelial A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus at an MOI of 1 and cells were harvested at indicated time intervals post infection and the whole-cell lysate was resolved on SDS-PAGE for Western blot analysis of RNF43, NP and GAPDH. (b) A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus at indicated MOIs and harvested at 24-h post infection for Western blot analysis of RNF43, NP and GAPDH. Quantitative representation of the immunoblots of both the experiments is shown as the line diagram after normalization with GAPDH (extreme right). (c) A549 cells were mock infected or infected with PR8 virus for 24 h and total RNA was extracted followed by rnf43 mRNA estimation with qRT-PCR. Results are shown as mean of \pm S.D. of three independent experiments. * indicates statistically significant difference at P < 0.05

RNF43 mitigates NP-driven enhancement of p53 transcriptional activity. Stabilization of p53 by NP prompted us to look into the probable role of NP/RNF43 interaction in induction of p53-mediated cell functions. Tumor suppressor protein p53 is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of many genes that are crucial in mediating its tumor suppressing activity.^{20,21} Therefore, we checked a dose-dependent effect of NP on p21 transcription which is under a direct control of p53 transcriptional activity.³³ A549 cells were transiently co-transfected with p21 luciferase reporter plasmid containing the p53 binding site on its promoter together with indicated concentrations of pEGFP-NP and pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK. The p21 luciferase activity was measured and normalized to Renilla luciferase

activity. p21 is a direct target gene of p53 hence a dosedependent increase in p21 luciferase activity as compared with the mock transfectant suggests an increased p53 transcriptional activity (Figure 6a). To probe the significance of NP/ RNF43 interaction in NP-driven enhanced transcriptional activity of p53, using the similar approach, A549 cells were co-transfected with pEGFPN1 or pEGFP-NP expression plasmid alone or together with RNF43-HA-expressing plasmid. As speculated, co-expression of RNF43 with NP resulted in an \sim 0.2-fold decrease in p53 transcriptional activity as compared with only NP-expressing cells (Figure 6b).

We checked the mRNA levels of p21 in RNF43 knocked down HEK293T cells infected with PR8. As compared with NT siRNA-treated cells, p21 mRNA levels were almost 10-fold

IAV NP attenuates RNF43 to induce p53-mediated apoptosis H Nailwal et al



Figure 4 Host factor RNF43 decreases IAV replication. (a–c) HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with plasmid pCDNA3.1 (Mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) (1 and 2 μ g) followed by PR8 infection and incubated for 24 h. Total RNA was isolated and NP mRNA (a), NP vRNA (b) and RNF43 mRNA(c) levels were estimated through qRT PCR. (d) HEK293T cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24 h followed by PR8 IAV infection for next 24 h. Cells were processed for qRT-PCR analysis of mRNA levels of NP and RNF43. (e) A549 cells, pretreated with either NT or RNF43 siRNA were transfected with plasmids-encoding polymerase complex components (PA, PB1, PB2 and NP) derived from PR8 (H1N1 virus) were co-transfected alongside a reporter plasmid containing noncoding sequence from the NS1 segment of influenza A virus and luciferase gene driven by the Pol 1 promoter. The relative luciferase units were calculated after normalization with plasmid pRL-TK (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), which expresses Renilla luciferase that was transfected along. Results are shown as mean \pm S.D. of three independent experiments. * and [#] indicate statistically significant difference at P < 0.05 and P < 0.01, respectively



Figure 5 NP interacts with RNF43 to stabilize p53 through compromised ubiquitination of p53 by RNF43. (a) A549 cells were transiently transfected with plasmids pEGFPN1 (Mock), pEGFP-NP (NP-GFP) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) for 48 h. The transfectants were treated with cycloheximide at 50 μ g/ml for the indicated times (minutes) post treatment (mpt) and subjected to Western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies. The quantitative data of immunoblots is shown as line diagram after normalization with GAPDH expression levels. (b) HEK293T cells were transiently transfected with a combination of indicated plasmids and incubated for 48 h. The transfectants were treated with 20 μ g/ml MG132, 5 h before harvest. The cell lysates were subjected to Western blot analysis using the indicated antibodies. (c) HEK293T cells were transiently transfectants were treated with 20 μ g/ml MG132, 5 h before harvest. Ubiquitinated for 48 h. The transfectants were treated with 20 μ g/ml MG132, 5 h before harvest. Ubiquitinated for 48 h. The transfectants were treated with 20 μ g/ml MG132, 5 h before harvest. Ubiquitinated p53 (Ub-p53) was pulled down using Ni²⁺–NTA–agarose beads and analyzed by Western blotting with indicated antibodies

higher in RNF43 depleted cells (Figure 6c). p21 protein levels were also observed to be undergoing a notable decrease in the presence of RNF43 when co-expressed along with NP-GFP (Figure 6d).

Acetylation of p53 is an important step to enable p53mediated transactivation of different factors towards cellular functions.^{34,35} We monitored the acetylation of p53 (Lys-382) at different time points post PR8 infection in A549 cells. Acetylation levels of p53 were observed to undergo a time-dependent change as shown in Figure 6e. We further assessed the effect of RNF43 on p53 acetylation in IAV-infected cells. To achieve the same, we transfected A549 cells with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection after 24 h. Cells were harvested after 24 h of infection followed by Western blot analysis. A decrease in p53 acetylation in the cells ectopically expressing RNF43 (Figure 6f) is likely to be the result of the concomitant increase in RNF43-mediated p53 ubiquitination.

Furthermore, A549 cells were infected with PR8 virus after being transfected with or without RNF43-Flag-HA-expressing plasmid construct. 24 h.p.i intracellular protein levels of p53 and its regulated molecules, Bax and Puma were inspected through Western blot analysis. In RNF43-expressing cells, there was an evident decrease in the protein levels of p53 and its downstream effectors Bax and Puma (Figure 6g). The same outline was observed when pEGFP-NP was transfected in conjunction with pCDNA3.1 or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmids (Figure 6h).

p21, Bax and Puma are p53-regulated mediators of the latter's cellular functions.^{20,21} These findings confirm the role of NP/RNF43 interaction in activation of p53 signaling pathways.

RNF43 attenuates IAV NP-induced cell death. To probe the effect of RNF43 on the induction of apoptosis in IAV-infected cells, flow cytometry-based Annexin V FITC labeling was performed. A549 cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA and after 24 h cells were infected with IAV and subjected

npg

8

to annexin V staining. A remarkable 13% of total cell population showed annexin V staining in RNF43 siRNA-treated IAV-infected cells as against the 2.5% annexin V positive population in NT siRNA-treated IAV-infected cells. Thus, confirming the anti-apoptotic role of RNF43 in IAV-infected cells (Figure 7a).





α GAPDH

37 kDa-

The role of NP/RNF43 interaction in cell death induced by NP was further elucidated in NP microenvironment. Fourteen percent of pEGFP-NP transfectants displayed annexin V staining whereas RNF43 overexpression along with NP lowered the annexin V population to 10% (Figure 7b).

To investigate the exclusive role of p53 in NP/RNF43 interaction governed apoptosis, p53 null human colon cancer cells, HCT116 (p53^{-/-} HCT116) were transfected with pCDNA3.1 or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA with or without pEGFPN1 or pEGFP-NP. Annexin V staining of pEGFP-NP



Figure 7 RNF43 attenuates IAV NP-induced cell death. (a) A549 cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24 h followed by X-31 IAV infection at 1 MOI. Cells were harvested at 24 h.p.i, stained with Annexin V FITC and subjected to flow cytometry. The percentage of Annexin V positive population is plotted on the graph. (b) A549 cells were transfection cells were harvested and processed for flow cytometric analysis of Annexin V FITC stained population which is plotted on the graph. (c) Same experiment was conducted in $p53^{-/-}$ HCT116 cells. All graphs represent mean \pm S.D. of three independent experiments. * and [#] indicate statistically significant difference at P < 0.05 and P < 0.01, respectively, whereas NS refers to non-significant difference

Figure 6 RNF43 decreases NP driven increased p53 transcriptional activity and signaling in the cells. (a) A549 cells were transfected with p21-Luc reporter plasmid, with or without growing amounts of pEGFP-NP (500 and 750 ng, and 1 μ g) in conjunction with pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK. Luciferase activity of cell lysates of transfectants was analyzed. (b) A549 cells were transfected with p21-Luc reporter plasmid, pcDNA-p53 and a control plasmid, Renilla luciferase pRL-TK along with plasmids pEGFPN1 (mock), pEGFP-NP (NP-GFP) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) in the indicated combinations. Luciferase activity was measured. (c) HEK293T cells were treated with NT siRNA or RNF43 siRNA for 24 h followed by PR8 IAV infection at 1 MOI. Cells were harvested at 24-h post infection and total RNA was extracted followed by p21 mRNA estimation with qRT-PCR. (d) A549 cells were transfected with pEGFP-NP with or without pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA and were harvested at 46 h followed by SDS-PAGE. Western blotting was done using indicated antibodies. (e) A549 cells were seeded in a 6-well plate and were infected with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection, and subjected to Western blotting with indicated antibodies. (f) A549 cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1 (mock) and pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection, 24-h post transfection. The cells were harvested atfer 24 h followed by Western blot analysis with anti-acetyl p53, HA, NP and β -actin antibodies. (g) A549 cells were transfection with pCDNA3.1 (mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmids followed by PR8 infection, 24-h post transfection with pCDNA3.1 (mock) or pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmid to constructs and after 24 h of lincubation, cells were infected with PR8 virus at an MOI of 1 for 24 h. (h) Similarly, A549 cells were transiently transfected with pCBNA3.1 (RNF43-Flag-HA (RNF43-HA) plasmid constructs and after 24 h of incubation, cells were infected with

transfectants showed no significant difference as compared with the vector control. Similarly, RNF43 co-expression did not cause any change in the annexin V staining profile of NP-GFPexpressing cells (Figure 7c). This highlights the critical importance of p53 for carrying out NP-induced apoptosis. Most importantly, it draws attention to the critical role of RNF43 in virus-induced p53-mediated apoptosis.

Discussion

Ubiquitination is a key regulatory mechanism in the orchestration of various cellular activities including signal transduction, transcription, membrane protein trafficking, apoptosis, autophagy and immune responses.³⁶ Hence, it has become increasingly evident that the comprehensive ubiquitinylation process remains a prime target of a broad range of pathogens including viruses. Viruses may encode E3 ligases or deubiquitinases or may redirect the cellular E3s and deubiquitinases to modulate the ubiquitination status of substrates of choice.¹¹

The present study for the first time provides evidence that NP interacts with RNF43, a member of RING finger family of cellular E3 ligases that mark proteins for ubiquitination. This interaction was validated in transfected mammalian cells and was also found to be conserved between PR8 and X-31 IAV strains. The conserved nature of the NP–RNF43 interaction underlines its significance in viral replication and pathogenesis.

We also report that IAV NP and RNF43 predominantly colocalize in the nucleus. IAV infection attenuated RNF43 mRNA as well as protein expression and overexpression of RNF43 counteracts IAV NP leading to a dose-dependent decrease in NP mRNA and vRNA. There was a drastic increase in viral replication under the influence of RNF43 knockdown. The decline in RNF43 mRNA and protein levels on IAV infection correlates with the decrease in viral replication by RNF43. It substantiates its role as an antiviral host protein. E3 ligases, highly specific mediators of ubiquitination, are extensively exploited by viruses to carry out replication and pathogenesis. It is of utmost importance to this study that many other viruses including human oncogenic papillomavirus, HIV and simian virus 40 also either target host ubiquitin ligases or encode ubiquitin ligases to divert their pathway of regulation by altering their specificity.^{11,37,38} Influenza virus too exploits the host ubiquitination status of many cellular factors to evade host defense mechanisms and achieve maximum replication efficiency.^{12,13} Thus, it is concluded that RNF43 is targeted by the virus for a strategic attenuation of RNF43 for efficient viral replication and pathogenesis.

Wang *et al.* illustrated the stabilization of p53 by NP through compromised MDM2-mediated ubiquitination.¹⁴ In our study, we found that NP-driven stabilization of p53 was impeded by RNF43 via a decreased p53 half-life and a noteworthy augmentation of the ubiquitinated p53 levels in the RNF43 microenvironment. This can be attributed to the post-translational regulation of p53 by RNF43 through targeting p53 for ubiquitination. These results are in coherence with the fact that RNF43 interacts with p53¹⁹ and the siRNA caused downregulation of RNF43 led to a significant increase in p53 protein expression in HepG2 and SMMC-7721 cells.¹⁶ Several

E3 ligases along with MDM2 are known to regulate p53 ubiquitination, for example, Pirh2, MdmX, HAUSP, ARF, COP1 and ARF-BP1.^{22,23} Thus, the current study unravels a novel mechanism of p53 regulation via RNF43. Although, a separate study can be undertaken to explore RNF43-mediated p53 regulation but our study provides compelling evidences that RNF43 targets p53 for ubiquitination.

Apoptosis induction is one of the hallmarks of IAV infection. It is considered to be host's defense against the virus but at the same time it is hypothesized that the appropriately timed apoptosis controlled by IAV is important for efficient viral replication.³⁹ Accumulation of p53, a critical mediator of apoptosis, in IAV-infected cells is a well-documented phenomenon and in fact is reported to accumulate in a biphasic pattern.⁴⁰ Our study also demonstrates an accumulation of p53 in IAV-infected cells along with an increasing acetylation levels that corresponds to an increased p53 activity. Turpin et al.41 demonstrated that p53 is required for IAV-induced cell death but at the same time was important in IFN induction. However, IFN-dependent antiviral response of p53 is reported to be independent of its pro-apoptotic functions.²⁶ In the midst of these conflicting notions regarding the role of p53 in IAV replication and pathogenesis, our study eloquently proves the critical importance of p53 in NP-mediated apoptosis. We previously reported the role of NP in inducing host cell death.⁴² Stabilization and accumulation of p53 by NP can be accredited to the pro-apoptotic nature of NP, which, in this case hijacks RNF43 and withholds its regulatory effects on p53. Together with these findings, the data described here points to a model in which IAV increases p53 downstream signaling and apoptosis by suppressing the RNF43-mediated ubiguitination of p53 (Figure 8). Hence, interaction of NP with RNF43 to modulate p53 ubiquitination is a proof of direct mechanism of apoptosis induction by IAV.

Furthermore, the enhanced p21 transcription under the effect of NP suggests that NP could be involved in carrying out cell cycle arrest following IAV infection⁴³ thus, paving the way for exploring the role of NP in causing IAV-driven cell cycle arrest.^{44,45} Lastly, owing to its antiviral properties and the conserved nature of IAV NP–RNF43 interaction, RNF43 could indeed prove to be an attractive antiviral developing target.

Materials and Methods

Cell culture and viruses. All the cell lines were grown and maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Hyclone), penicillin–streptomycin solution (100 units per ml; Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY, USA) in 5% CO₂-containing environment. *A/Puerto Rico*/8/34 (PR8) and *A/Aichi*/2/1968 (X-31) strains of IAV were used for viral infection at an MOI of 1 unless specified otherwise.

Transfection and IAV infection. DNA transfections were done with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) in NANS medium and after 6 h of incubation; NANS was replaced with 10% fetal calf serum containing DMEM. For virus infections, DMEM supplemented with 0.3% bovine serum albumin (BSA; GIBCO, Grand Island, NY, USA) was used. Cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) followed by virus infection and incubated for virus adsorption at 37 °C. One hour later the virus was removed and cells were incubated with DMEM-containing 0.3% BSA. In mock-infected cells, virus was replaced with PBS.

Plasmids, siRNA and antibodies. NP gene from A/Chicken/Hatay/2004 (H5N1) influenza virus was cloned into pEGFPN1 vector and also in pCDNA3.1-myc vector. Full-length RNF43, cloned into pCDNA3.1-Flag-HA was provided by Clevers



Figure 8 The proposed model for the role of NP/RNF43 interaction in regulation of p53-mediated cell death by IAV NP. The proposed model for the regulation of p53-mediated cell death by IAV NP. p53 is proposed to be regulated by RNF43 through ubiquitylation resulting in its destabilization. NP interacts with RNF43 thereby preventing ubiquitination of p53 and causing its stabilization and accumulation inside the infected cell resulting into activation of p53 signaling cascade including p21, Bax, Puma and eventually results in cell death in IAV-infected cell

and coworkers.¹⁷ RNF43 was also cloned into pYESTrp2 for yeast two-hybrid assay. p53-GFP, MDM2-Flag and Ub-His were kind gifts from Ma and coworkers.¹⁴ p21 luciferase reporter plasmid was provided by Vogelstein and coworkers.³³ Pool of gene specific siRNA against RNF43 was purchased from Santa Cruz, CA, USA. Anti-RNF43 (sc-165398), anti-M2, anti-p53, anti-p21, anti-HA, anti-GAPDH and anti-GFP antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA. Anti-RNF43 (SAB2102033) and anti- β -actin antibodies were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Anti-Bax and anti-Puma antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling (Boston, MA, USA). Anti-acetyl p53 (Lys-382) was purchased from Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA.

Yeast two-hybrid screening. The bait plasmid was constructed by cloning IAV NP coding sequence in-frame with the LexA DNA-binding domain in pHybLexA/Zeo. The prey plasmid was prepared by cloning RNF43 into pYESTrp2. Yeast two-hybrid screening was conducted as described previously.⁴

Western blot analysis. Cells were harvested in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 0.1% NP-40) supplemented with complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics, Pleasonton, CA, USA). The lysates obtained were then subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE).

Co-immunoprecipitation. Cells harvested in the above mentioned lysis buffer were incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4 °C which was followed by an incubation of 90 min with protein A or protein G sepharose beads (GE Healthcare, Uppsala, Sweden). Beads were then washed three times with chilled PBS. Immunoprecipitates were eluted through boiling the beads in SDS-PAGE sample buffer for 10 min, subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis.

Immunofluorescence microscopy. Cells infected with IAV at 5 MOI or transfected with expression plasmid pEGFP-NP, were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min and permeabilized with 0.4% Triton X-100 in PBS for 20 min at room temperature. Fixed cells were then washed twice with PBST (0.2% Tween 20), blocked with 2% BSA for 1 h at room temperature and left at 4 °C for overnight immunostaining with specific primary antibody in 0.5% BSA. Unbound antibodies were washed away with PBST and incubated with secondary Alexa Fluor antibodies (594 488; Invitrogen) solution in 0.5% BSA for 1 h and washed with PBST. Slides were prepared by mounting the cover slips with Prolong Gold anti-fade medium with nuclei staining dye, DAPI (Invitrogen) and sealing the sides of the cover slips. Cell images were taken under \times 60 objective lens of Leica DM6000B confocal microscope. Images were processed using NIS Elements AR 3.0 software (Nikon, Melville, NY, USA).

Quantitative real-time PCR analysis. Total RNA was isolated from cells using TRIzol reagent as per the supplier's instructions (Invitrogen). Reverse transcription of 5 μ g of mRNA was performed with M-MuLV reverse transcriptase (Fermentas, Waltham, MA, USA) in a 50 µl volume reaction, according to the manufacturer's guidelines. cDNA obtained was diluted 1 : 10 and 2 μ l was used in Syber green based quantitative real-time PCR reaction in a volume of 20 µl using the instrument StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Primers used for real-time RT-PCR are RNF43 primers forward GCAGGAGCTACGGGTCATTTC and reverse GATGCTGATGTAACCAGGGGT; NP vRNA primer, CTC GTC GCT TAT GAC AAA GAA G, and NP gene primers (for mRNA) forward CTC GTC GCT TAT GAC AAA GAA G and reverse AGA TCA TCA TGT GAG TCA GAC; p21 primers, forward GTCAGTTCCTTG TGGAGCCG and reverse CTCCAGTGGTGTCTCGGTG; p53 primers, forward GTTTCCGTCTGGGCTTCTTGC and reverse ACGCAAATTTCCTTCCACTCGG; housekeeping gene, GAPDH primers, forward TCA CTG CCA CCC AGA AGA CTG and reverse GGA TGA CCT TGC CCA CAG C. All gRT-PCRs were performed in triplicates. Fold change in mRNA levels were calculated using the delta-delta threshold cycle ($\Delta\Delta$ CT) method after normalizing with GAPDH.

Luciferase reporter assay. Luciferase activity was measured using the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega). The firefly luciferase activity of each sample was normalized to constitutively expressed Renilla luciferase plasmid, pRL-TK. Similarly, for *Renilla* luciferase activity, firefly luciferase plasmid pGL3 was used as an internal control.

Cycloheximide assay. Cycloheximide (Sigma-Aldrich), a protein translation inhibitor, was added to the media at a concentration of 50 μ g/ml, 44-h post transfection in A549 cells. Cells were incubated for indicated time periods at 37 °C and harvested in SDS-PAGE sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis.

Ubiquitination assay and purification of His-tagged ubiquitin conjugates. Proteasome inhibitor, Mg132 was used to determine the ubiquitination status of p53 protein. HEK293T cells grown in 60 mm cell culture dishes were transiently co-transfected with the indicated plasmids and treated with 20 µM MG132 (Calbiochem, EMD Biosciences, Billerica, MA, USA) for 5 h before harvesting. Cells were lysed in Triton X-100 buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100) and mixed with SDS-PAGE sample buffer followed by western blot analysis with anti-p53 antibody. For purification of Histagged conjugates, HEK293T cells were treated similarly and were processed as described previously.⁴⁶ Concisely, the cells were lysed in a lysis buffer (6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na2HPO4-NaH2PO4, 0.01 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 5 mM imidazole, 10 mM β -mercaptoethanol) followed by an incubation of 12 h with Ni²⁺-NTA beads (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) at 4 °C on a rotating wheel. The beads were then washed as explained previously and incubated with an elution buffer (200 mM imidazole, 0.15 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.7, 30% glycerol, 0.72 M β-mercaptoethanol and 5% SDS) for 20 min at room temperature. The eluates were mixed with SDS-PAGE sample buffer and analyzed with western blotting with required antibodies.

Flow cytometry. Annexin V staining of cells was done with Annexin V FITC Assay kit (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were acquired on BD FACS Calibur Flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and analyzed using Flowjo version 9.3.3 software (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR, USA).

Statistical analysis. Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E. Means were compared by one-factor analysis of variance followed by Fisher protected least significant difference to assess specific group differences. Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements. We thank Dr. Hans Clevers (Hubrecht Institute, The Netherlands) for providing us pCDNA3.1-RNF43-Flag-HA plasmid. We are also thankful to Dr. Bert Vogelstein for pCDNA-p53 plasmid, p21 luciferase plasmid and HCT116 p53^{-/-} cell lines and Dr. Zhiyong Ma (Shanghai Veterinary Research Institute, China) for plasmids, GFP-p53, Flag-MDM2 and His-Ub. We thank Dr. Ruben Donis (CDC, Atlanta, USA) for providing us the polymerase complex plasmids. We thank Dr. Nehul Saxena for helping in designing the Ubiquitination assay experiments.

- 1. Nailwal H, Kamra K, Lal SK. H7N9: a killer in the making or a false alarm? *Can J Microbiol* 2014; **60**: 425–429.
- Kawaoka Y, Cox NJ, Haller O, Hongo S, Kaverin N, Klenk HD et al. Orthomyxoviridae. In: Fauquet CM, Mayo MA, Maniloff J, Desselberger U, Ball LA (eds), Virus taxonomy: 8th report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses. Elsevier Academia Press: London, UK, 2005; pp 681–693.
- Portela A, Digard P. The influenza virus nucleoprotein: a multifunctional RNA-binding protein pivotal to virus replication. J Gen Virol 2002; 83: 723–734.
- Sharma S, Mayank AK, Nailwal H, Tripathi S, Patel JR, Bowzard JB *et al.* Influenza A viral nucleoprotein interacts with cytoskeleton scaffolding protein α-actinin-4 for viral replication. *FEBS J* 2014; 289–2914.
- Gabriel G, Herwig A, Klenk HD. Interaction of polymerase subunit PB2 and NP with importin α1 is a determinant of host range of influenza A virus. *PLoS Pathogen* 2008; 4: e11.
- Elton D, Simpson-Holley M, Archer k, Medcalf L, Hallam R, McCauley J *et al.* Interaction of the influenza virus nucleoprotein with the cellular CRM1-mediated nuclear export pathway. *J Virol* 2001; **75**: 408–419.

- Momose F, Basler CF, O'Neill RE, Iwamatsu A, Palese P, Nagata K. Cellular splicing factor RAF-2p48/NPI-5/BAT1/UAP56 interacts with the influenza virus nucleoprotein and enhances viral RNA synthesis. J Virol 2001; 75: 1899–1908.
- Digard P, Elton D, Bishop K, Medcalf E, Weeds A, Pope B. Modulation of nuclear localization of the influenza virus nucleoprotein through interaction with actin filaments. *J Virol* 1991; 73: 2222–2231.
- Mayank AK, Sharma S, Deshwal RK, Lal SK. Genome-wide screens a systematic approach to redefine the influenza A virus-host crosstalk. Virol Discov 2014; 2: 2.
- 10. Lindner Ha. Deubiquitination in virus infection. Virology 2007; 362: 245-256.
- Randow F, Lehner PJ. Viral avoidance and exploitation of the ubiquitin system. Nat Cell Biol 2009; 11: 527–534.
- Gack MU, Albrecht RA, Urano T, Inn KS, Huang IC, Carnero E et al. Influenza A virus NS1 targets the ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 to evade recognition by the host viral RNA sensor RIG-I. Cell Host Microbe 2009; 5: 439–449.
- Su WC, Chen YC, Tseng CH, Hsu PWC, Tung KF, Jeng KS et al. Pooled RNAi screen identifies ubiquitin ligase ltch as crucial for influenza A virus release from the endosome during virus entry. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2013; 110: 17516–17521.
- Wang X, Deng X, Yan W, Zhu Z, Shen Y, Qiu Y et al. Stabilization of p53 in influenza A virusinfected cells is associated with compromised MDM2-mediated ubiquitination of p53. J Biol Chem 2012; 287: 18366–18375.
- Yagyu R, Furukawa Y, Lin YM, Shimokawa T, Yamamura T, Nakamura Y. A novel oncoprotein RNF43 functions in an autocrine manner in colorectal cancer. *Int J Oncol* 2004; 25: 1343–1348.
- Xing C, Zhou W, Ding S, Xie H, Zhang W, Yang Z *et al*. Reversing effect of ring finger protein 43 inhibition on malignant phenotypes of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2013; **12**: 94–103.
- Koo BK, Spit M, Jordens I, Low TY, Stange DE, Van de Wetering M *et al.* Tumour suppressor RNF43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wnt receptors. *Nature* 2012; 488: 665–669.
- Sugiura T, Yamaguchi A, Miyamoto K. A cancer-associated RING finger protein, RNF43, is a ubiquitin ligase that interacts with a nuclear protein, HAP95. *Exp Cell Res* 2008; 314: 1519–1528.
- Shinada K, Tsukiyama T, Sho T, Okumura F, Asaka M, Hatakeyama S. RNF43 interacts with NEDL1 and regulates p53-mediated transcription. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2011; 404: 143–147.
- 20. Benchimol S. P53-dependent pathways of apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2001; 8: 1049-1051.
- 21. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature 2000; 408: 307-310.
- Giaccia AJ, Kastan MB. The complexity of p53 modulation: emerging patterns from divergent signals. Genes Dev 1998; 12: 2973–2983.
- Lee JT, Gu W. The multiple levels of regulation by p53 ubiquitination. *Cell Death Differ* 2010; 17: 86–92.
- Shen Y, Wang X, Guo L, Qiu Y, Li X, Yu H et al. Influenza A virus induces p53 accumulation in a biphasic pattern. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009; 382: 331–335.
- Zhirnov OP, Klenk H-D. Control of apoptosis in influenza virus-infected cells by up-regulation of Akt and p53 signaling. *Apoptosis* 2007; 12: 1419–1432.
- Muñoz-Fontela C, Pazos M, Delgado I, Murk W, Mungamuri SK, Lee SW *et al.* p53 serves as a host antiviral factor that enhances innate and adaptive immune responses to influenza A virus. *J Immunol* 2011; **187**: 6428–6436.
- Takizawa T, Matsukawa S, Higuchi Y, Nakamura S, Nakanishi Y, Fukuda R. Induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis) by influenza virus infection in tissue culture cells. *J Gen Virol* 1993; **74**: 2347–2355.
- Hinshaw VS, Olsen CW, Dybdahl-sissoko N, Evans D. Apoptosis : a mechanism of cell killing by influenza A and B viruses. J Virol 1994; 68: 3667–3673.
- Stray SJ, Air GM. Apoptosis by influenza viruses correlates with efficiency of viral mRNA synthesis. Virus Res 2001; 77: 3–17.
- Ludwig S, Pleschka S, Planz O, Wolff T. Ringing the alarm bells: signalling and apoptosis in influenza virus infected cells. *Cell Microbiol* 2006; 8: 375–386.
- Yatim N, Albert ML. Dying to replicate: the orchestration of the viral life cycle, cell death pathways, and immunity. *Immunity* 2011; 35: 478–490.
- Honda R, Tanaka H, Yasuda H. Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett 1997; 420: 25–27.
- el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM et al. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. Cell 1993; 75: 817–825.
- Proietti S, Cucina A, Dobrowolny G, D'Anselmi F, Dinicola S, Masiello MG *et al.* Melatonin down-regulates MDM2 gene expression and enhances p53 acetylation in MCF-7 cells. *J Pineal Res* 2014; 57: 120–129.
- Vousden KH. Switching from life to death: the Miz-ing link between Myc and p53. Cancer Cell 2002; 2: 351–352.
- Welchman RL, Gordon C, Mayer RJ. Ubiquitin and ubiquitin like proteins as multifunctional signals. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6: 599–609.
- Arora S, Verma S, Banerjea AC. HIV-1 Vpr redirects host ubiquitination pathway. J Virol 2014; 88: 619–14.
- Hartmann T, Xu X, Kronast M, Muehlich S, Meyer K, Zimmermann W et al. Inhibition of Cullin-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase 7 by simian virus 40 large Tantigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014; 111: 3371–3376.
- McLean JE, Datan E, Matassov D, Zakeri ZF. Lack of Bax prevents IAV-induced apoptosis and causes diminished viral replication. J Virol 2009; 83: 8233–8246.

npg 13

- Shen Y, Wang X, Guo L, Qiu Y, Li X, Yu H et al. Influenza A virus induces p53 accumulation in a biphasic pattern. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009; 382: 331–335.
- Turpin E, Luke K, Jones J, Tumpey T, Konan K, Schultz-Cherry S. Influenza virus infection increases p53 activity: role of p53 in cell death and viral replication. J Virol 2005; 79: 8802–8811.
- Tripathi S, Batra J, Cao W, Sharma K, Patel JR, Ranjan P et al. Influenza A virus nucleoprotein induces apoptosis in human airway epithelial cells: implications of a novel interaction between nucleoprotein and host protein Clusterin. *Cell Death Dis* 2013; 4: e562.
- Xiong Y, Hannon GJ, Zhang H, Casso D, Kobayashi R, Beach D. p21 is a universal inhibitor of cyclin kinases. *Nature* 1993; **366**: 701–704.
 Ho X, Yu K, Keiner B, Zhou L, Caudei V, Li T, et al. Influence A vidro realization induces and the complete statement of the state
- He Y, Xu K, Keiner B, Zhou J, Czudai V, Li T et al. Influenza A virus replication induces cell cycle arrest in G0/G1 phase. J Virol 2010; 84: 12832–12840.
- Jiang W, Wang Q, Chen S, Gao S, Song L, Liu P et al. Influenza A virus NS1 induces G0/G1 cell cycle arrest by inhibiting the expression and activity of RhoA protein. J Virol 2013; 87: 3039–3052.

 Xirodimas D, Saville MK, Edling C, Lane DP, Laoa S. Different effects of p14ARF on the levels of ubiquitinated p53 and MDM2 in vivo. *Oncogene* 2001; 20: 4972–4983.

Cell Death and Disease is an open-access journal published by *Nature Publishing Group*. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in the credit line; if the material is not included under the Creative Commons license, users will need to obtain permission from the license holder to reproduce the material. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on Cell Death and Disease website (http://www.nature.com/cddis)

Volume 60

2014

An NRC Research Press Journal Une revue de NRC Research Press

www.nrcresearchpress.com

Canadian Journal of Microbiology

Revue canadienne de microbiologie







H7N9: A killer in the making or a false alarm?

Himani Nailwal, Komal Kamra, and Sunil K. Lal

Abstract: Influenza virus remains one of the most important disease-causing viruses owing to its high adaptability and even higher contagious nature. Thus, it poses a constant threat of pandemic, engulfing a large population within the smallest possible time interval. A similar threat was anticipated with the identification of the novel H7N9 virus in China on 30 March 2013. Detection of transmission of the virus between humans has caused a stir with the identification of family clusters along with sporadic infections all across China. In this review we analyze the potential of the novel H7N9 virus as a probable cause of a pandemic and the possible consequences thereof.

Key words: influenza, H7N9, infectious, contagious, pandemic.

Résumé : Le virus de l'influenza demeure l'un des plus importants virus pathogènes en raison de sa grande capacité d'adaptation alliée à sa forte nature contagieuse. Il fait planer le risque constant de pandémie, menaçant de se propager dans une population plus étendue sur une période plus courte qu'à l'habitude. Une menace semblable s'est profilée des suites de l'identification du nouveau virus H7N9 en Chine, le 30 mars 2013. La détection d'une transmission du virus entre des humains a suscité de l'émoi lorsque l'on a repéré des groupes familiaux touchés par des infections en Chine. La présente revue analysera le potentiel du nouveau virus H7N9 comme cause probable d'une pandémie et en étalera les conséquences possibles. [Traduit par la Rédaction]

Mots-clés : influenza, H7N9, infectieux, contagieux, pandémie.

Introduction

Viruses are notorious for their inherent capability to manipulate themselves and their host to the fullest. They represent the best evolutionary models; continuously evolving to become more "biologically powerful" (Palese and Shaw 2006) and challenging the monotony of their hosts' defense.

Influenzavirus A, Influenzavirus B, and Influenzavirus C constitute 3 of the 5 genera of the family, Orthomyxoviridae, characterized by viruses having a single-stranded negative sense and a segmented RNA genome (Kawaoka et al. 2005). Unlike influenza B virus, known to infect only humans, influenza A virus (IAV) has a vast range of hosts, including birds and mammals. The 8 negatively stranded RNAs of IAV, encode 12 proteins responsible for virus replication, release, and pathogenesis: hemagglutinin (HA); neuraminidase (NA); matrix proteins M2 and M1; nonstructural (NS) proteins NS1 and NS2; the polymerases - polymerase basic 1 and 2 (PB1 and PB2) and polymerase acidic (PA) proteins; the nucleoprotein (NP) (Webster et al. 1992); and a recently discovered proapoptotic PB1-F2 protein transcribed from a second reading frame of PB1 (Chen et al. 2001). Subtyping of influenza virus is done through different antigenic determinants to the HA and NA surface glycoproteins of the virus. HA is divided into 2 lineages or groups: group 1 consists of H1a, H1b, and H9 clades, while group 2 consists of H3 and H7 subtypes. With an infidel RNA polymerase, a continuous accumulation of point mutations in these genes, governed by immune selection pressure, gives way to a directional antigenic change. This equips the virus with a stronger immune system escaping mechanism. The continuous "antigenic drift" is the reason behind ever evolving seasonal influenza strains of a single subtype (McCaughey 2010; Rambaut et al. 2008).

Like any other inventive parasite, IAV has also evolved itself to the extent of being undaunted and calamitous. IAV has invented different ways to maintain its propensity, and one of these ways is by crossing the species barrier. Simultaneous infection of a single cell with 2 different IAVs causes an exchange of segments or reassortment between them. This sudden mingling of viruses, known as antigenic shift, forms a novel IAV subtype and, hence, rings the alarm of a pandemic, for example, the triple reassortant H1N2 that emerged in 2001 in North America (Sharma et al. 2009). The capability of the influenza virus to undergo reassortment has made it mightier than expected.

Though extremely rare in RNA viruses, recombination through template switching enhances the virulence of the virus (Wright et al. 2007).

Thus, virulence of lytic viruses like influenza is governed by 2 parameters, namely, high pathogenicity and high transmissibility.

Epidemiology and past pandemics

Constant antigenic variations govern the epidemiology of influenza viruses. Aquatic birds are the natural reservoirs of IAV, in which, it seems, the virus has attained evolutionary status through penultimate adaptation. The orders Anseriformes (ducks, geese, swan) and Charadriiformes (gulls, terns, surfbirds, sandpipers) are their native hosts, with the highest HA (17) and NA (9) subtypes being reported to circulate in them (Wright et al. 2007). However, transmission of the virus to land-based poultry or mammals has led to their rapid evolution (Ludwig et al. 1995). A limited number of influenza subtypes are known to have established themselves in humans (H1N1, H3N2), pigs (H1N1, H1N2), horses (H3N8 and H7N7), and dogs (H3N8) (Peiris et al. 2007).

Corresponding author: Sunil K. Lal

Received 18 March 2014. Revision received 5 May 2014. Accepted 5 May 2014.

H. Nailwal. Virology Group, International Centre for Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, New Delhi 110067, India; Department of Zoology, SGTB Khalsa College, University of Delhi, Delhi 110007, India.

K. Kamra. Department of Zoology, SGTB Khalsa College, University of Delhi, Delhi 110007, India.

S.K. Lal. Virology Group, International Centre for Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology, Aruna Asaf Ali Marg, New Delhi 110067, India.

Swine have emerged as one of the major players in pandemic outbreaks owing to their having both avian and human influenza virus receptors, $\alpha 2,3$ -sialic acid and $\alpha 2,6$ -sialic acid, respectively (Sharma et al. 2009). This receptor affinity makes swine efficient "mixing vessels", giving rise to a new reassortant virus and a possible dawn of another pandemic (Ludwig et al. 1995). Apart from reassortment, a continuous replication of avian viruses in pigs may form variants recognizing human type receptors (Ito et al. 1998). This mode of interspecies transfer makes humans vulnerable to influenza pandemics.

Pandemics are the most calamitous manifestations of influenza virus infecting 20%-40% of the human population all over the world, simultaneously. For centuries, influenza virus pandemics have played havoc with nature and have been responsible for mass fatalities across continents. Influenza pandemics date back to 1918, when the deadly "Spanish flu" (H1N1 strain) killed \sim 25 million people in 25 weeks (Wright et al. 2007). It was followed by "Asian influenza" (H2N2 strain) in February 1957, "Hong Kong influenza" (H3N2 strain) in 1968, "Russian flu" (H1N1 strain) in 1977, and "swine flu" (H1N1 strain) in 2009. In 2009, the H1N1 influenza virus caused the first and till now the only pandemic of the 21st century and was a reassortant between Eurasian swine and North American triple reassortant swine H1N2 virus (Kasowski et al. 2011; Brockwell-Staats et al. 2009). Compared with its ancestor, it came across as a relatively less virulent strain but still managed to establish its pathogenesis throughout the world, with estimated respiratory and cardiovascular deaths around 201 200 and 83 300, respectively, including 80% of people below the age of 65 years (Dawood et al. 2012).

H7N9 outbreak

Since the identification of a novel avian influenza virus, H7N9, on 30 March 2013, 135 laboratory-confirmed human cases of the virus infection and 45 deaths have been reported by the Chinese authorities, which started from Shanghai, Anhui, Jiangsu, and Zhejiang provinces in China (To et al. 2013). The only case of H7N9 outside China was reported from Taiwan but with its source in China (Chang et al. 2013).

These recent reports are the first cases of human infections with H7N9 avian influenza virus (Parry 2013; Nicoll and Danielsson 2013). Earlier, nonfatal human infections with different subgroups of H7 influenza viruses have occurred all across Europe and America, including H7N2, H7N3, H7N5 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2004; Hirst et al. 2004) with the exception of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (HPAI), H7N7, outbreak in the Netherlands in 2003 that caused infection in 89 people with 1 fatality (Koopmans et al. 2004; Du Ry van Beest Holle et al. 2005). Surprisingly, unlike most of these cases that were associated with influenza outbreak in poultry, no poultry outbreak was observed before the onset of human infections in the H7N9 case. It calls for a strict and timely surveillance program in poultry, especially land-based poultry (Jonges et al. 2013).

These cases do not seem to be epidemiologically linked, but since 2 family clusters have been identified, it has raised the alarm of probable human-human transmission (Li et al. 2014). Because of delays in the development of serological responses in persons with H7N9 virus, serological surveying may become challenging (Jonges et al. 2013). The fact that the low pathogenic avian influenza H7N9 virus does not cause any detectable disease in the birds, unlike the HPAI H5N1, makes it highly difficult to trace the source and mode of transmission and, hence, increases the risk of a pandemic.

H7N9 genesis and diversification

H7N9 virus has been reported to circulate in wild birds and ducks, but this is the first time the virus has infected humans.

Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the possible origin of the novel reassortant H7N9 virus and transmission to humans. H7N9 virus contains hemagglutinin and neuraminidase segment of H7 and N9 viruses of duck origin and the remaining segments from chicken origin H9N2 virus. PB1 and PB2, polymerase basic protein 1 and 2; M, Matrix protein; NP, Nucleoprotein; PA, polymerase acidic protein; NS1, nonstructural protein 1.



Phylogenetic studies have indicated that the novel virus is a multiple reassortant carrying gene segments from different H7N9 lineages known to have circulated in the past (Chen et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2013a) (Fig. 1). The H7 phylogenetic tree roots back to 3 independent lineages, American, Oceanian, and Eurasian, with H7N9 falling in the Eurasian lineage, with HA having 95% identity with that of H7N3 isolated from ducks in Zhejiang Province in 2011 (Kageyama et al. 2013).

NA, too, has a Eurasian lineage, with the closest related sequences being that of H7N9 viruses isolated from wild ducks in South Korea in February and April of 2011 and low pathogenic avian influenza A (H11N9) viruses isolated in 2010 in the Czech Republic (Liu et al. 2013*a*; Kim et al. 2012).

H9N2 virus that recently circulated in poultry in Shanghai, Zhejiang, Jiangsu, and neighboring provinces of Shanghai, seems to be the closest to the remaining viral genes with >97% identity with their gene sequences (Kageyama et al. 2013; Gao et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2013*a*). This is suggestive of a continuous circulation and genetic exchange between the wild birds, ducks, and chickens, which resulted in a novel low pathogenic avian influenza H7N9 virus capable of infecting humans without any prior devastating effects on the poultry.

Transmission

The H7N9 virus is considerably more easily transmitted to humans from poultry than H5N1 virus, as 77% of the patients infected with H7N9 virus had a history of a prior exposure to poultry (Xu et al. 2013). Until the revelation of 2 family clusters, H7N9 was thought to be milder and inefficiently transmitted between humans. Clinical and virus genome-sequencing studies done in the case of one of the family clusters, a father–daughter duo, acknowledged a direct transmission, which does challenge the earlier assumptions, but the viruses isolated from both the patients showed no other significant mutations conferring higher humanto-human transmission ability (Qi et al. 2013). Moreover, the transmission seems to be more direct and unsustainable. Infection and transmission experiments done on ferrets confirmed that the human isolates were able to replicate in the nasal turbinates of these birds (Watanabe et al. 2013) and that there is indeed both direct and airborne infection transmission of the human isolate of H7N9 virus in the form of respiratory droplets (Zhang et al. 2013), but in pigs, the primary mammalian host of IAV, no virus shedding was detected (Zhu et al. 2013).

However, a separate contact transmission study of a human isolate of H7N9 virus, A/Anhui/1/2013, carried out in the guinea pig model, unravels a more profound transmission among cocaged animals and establishment of infection in the lungs at a significantly lower dose of 10⁶ plaque-forming units of the virus (Gabbard et al. 2014).

Here, we analyze the biological characteristics of the novel H7N9 virus that could be contributing factors in its transmissibility, pathogenicity, and pandemic potential.

Receptor binding specificity

Host selection is an integral part of influenza virus pathogenesis and is largely determined by HA through its binding to receptors containing terminal α -2,6-linked or α -2,3-linked sialic acid (α -2,6-SA or α -2,3-SA) moieties in birds and mammals, respectively (Das et al. 2010; Rossman and Lamb 2011).

Structural investigations of HA furnish insights into the host adaptability of influenza viruses and clues about the probable pandemic potential of the virus. Cleavage of a newly synthesized 70 kDa HA protein into disulfide-linked HA1 and HA2 is essential for the virus to be infective (Das et al. 2010). The presence of a series of basic amino acids at the cleavage site is a prerequisite for the said event (Peiris et al. 2007). Highly pathogenic viruses like H5 and H7 boast of multiple basic amino acids at their cleavage site, unlike the novel H7N9 virus that possesses only 1 basic amino acid (EIPKGR*GL; * indicates the cleavage site), thus making it a low pathogenic virus (Chen et al. 2013; Kageyama et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2013*a*).

Furthermore, receptor binding studies through biolayer interferometry convincingly prove the dual affinity of the human H7 virus A/Anhui/1/2013, i.e., an affinity for both avian and mammalian receptors but with a preference for avian receptors (Xiong et al. 2013), which may be the possible reason for inefficient binding of H7N9 to epithelial cells of human trachea (Dortmans et al. 2013). However, the avian H7 virus A/Shanghai/1/2013 binds to avian receptors only, similar to another group 2 avian H3 virus. The presence of 8 new mutations in human isolate A/Anhui/1/2013 as compared with avian isolate A/Shanghai/1/2013 could explain this phenomenon. Of these 8 mutations, 4 (S138A, G186V, T221P, and Q226L) are located in the receptor binding site, with the last (i.e., Q226L) being atypical of HPAI H5N1 and seasonal H3N2 viruses (Shi et al. 2013). Substitution of Gln with Leu in human H7 HA is a highly documented phenomenon that generates a hydrophobic patch stabilizing the cis conformation of the receptor analog; ultimately this increases the binding to 2,6-linked galactose as compared with hydrophilic amino acid Gln (Gamblin and Skehel 2010), as present in A/Shanghai/1/2013. However, structural comparative analysis of the interactions of A/Anhui/1/2013 mutant (L226Q) HAs with either avian or human receptor analogs through surface Plasmon resonance also shows dual binding of the mutant (Shi et al. 2013). Therefore, Q226L mutation solely cannot be credited for the receptor switching. Similarly, the presence of Val-186 instead of Asn also favors human receptor binding by increasing hydrophobicity and blocking the occupancy of 2 water molecules that are otherwise a part of the hydrogen bonding network involving 3' OH of Gal-2 (Xiong et al. 2013). Along with these adaptations, another T160A mutation in all influenza A H7N9 viruses increases binding to human receptors through N-glycosylation site removal at position 158 (H3 numbering; position 149 in H7 numbering) (Baum and Paulson 1990; Wang et al. 2010).

These substitutions are clearly indicative of an evolution of a typical avian H7N9 virus to a more mammalian-adapted one. Interestingly, simultaneous insertion of 2 residues after residue 156 in the receptor binding site of HA results in the protrusion of the otherwise conserved 150-loop to one side that is known to sterically hinder the binding to human receptors (Xiong et al. 2013). Hence, based on this evidence, it would not be wrong to infer that there is a newly attained binding ability to human receptors, but at the same time, the sustained affinity for avian receptors can lead to trapping of the virus in the human upper airways containing α -2,3-linked galactose (Couceiro et al. 1993), thus requiring high doses of virus to cause sustained human-to-human transmission.

It is, therefore, proposed that additional mutations will be needed for the virus to achieve heightened specificity to human receptors (Xu et al. 2013), and the pandemic potential of the virus is still questionable.

Virulence

The other surface glycoprotein, NA, also known as the sialic acid receptor-destroying enzyme, cleaves the α -ketosidic linkage with the adjacent sugar residue in mucus (Baum and Paulson 1990).

In BALB/c mice, the short-NA-stalk viruses were observed to be more virulent than the long-stalk-NA counterparts. However, virulence shot up 10 000 times along with the absence of HA glycosylation. The balance between NA-stalk length and HA glycosylation is maintained for a robust virulence (Wagner et al. 2002; Matsuoka et al. 2009). H7N9 virus also carries such deletions from 69–73 amino acids in the stalk region of NA, which adds to the virulence of the virus (Chen et al. 2013; Kageyama et al. 2013). Moreover, this deletion in the stalk region coincides with the adaptation to terrestrial birds (Zhou et al. 2013), confirming the long-term circulation in these birds prior to infecting humans.

The NS protein of IAV is a multifunctional protein that has the primary function of modulating the host's innate immune response by segregating dsRNA away from 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and thus inhibiting the interferon α and (or) interferon β induced 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase/RNase L pathway (Garcia-Sastre 2001). At the carboxy terminus, the PDZ (i.e., the postsynaptic density-95 protein, the discs large tumor suppressor protein, and the zonula occludens-1 protein) domain binding motif binds to the cellular PDZ-containing proteins, as observed in NS1 of HPAI H5N1 (1997 and 2003) and H1N1 (1918), thereby affecting the chief cellular pathways involved in protein trafficking, and cell polarity maintenance and organization (Peiris et al. 2007; Jackson et al. 2008). However, all the H7N9 viruses lack this PDZ domain binding motif, which might be another reason for its low pathogenesis and may lead to its attenuation in mammalian cells (Kageyama et al. 2013).

Replication competence

The polymerase complex of influenza viruses plays a pivotal role not just in virus replication but also in determining adaptation of replication in humans (Salomon et al. 2006). Hence, mutational changes in the polymerase complex drive the pathogenic potential of any virus. Out of several predicted substitutions, the prominent substitutions in the PA protein that are associated with H7N9 virus genesis in a host-species-specific manner include K356R, S409N, V100A, and A375S (Liu et al. 2013b). Interestingly, back mutation of these human-specific substitutions to avian type showed a radical increase in replication in both mammalian cell lines and the mouse model, giving way to an inference that assembling of H7N9 virus is based on changes that increase as well as decrease replication in humans (Yamayoshi et al. 2014).

Lysine at position 627 instead of glutamic acid is regarded as a significant mutation for avian-to-human transmission, as observed in H5N1 and in the only fatal case of H7N7 outbreak in the Interestingly, up to now, H7N9 has been reported to be less virulent than H5N1 and H7N7; hence, moreso than virulence, PB2-627K imparts the adaptation of avian viruses to humans.

A 90 amino acid protein PB1-F2, encoded by the PB1 gene, induces higher pathogenesis and death of the immune cells (Chen et al. 2001). The possibilities of PB1-F2 being required by the virus for crossing the species barrier and generation of a novel reassortant have been contemplated, and it was observed that a particular mutation at position 66, N66S, is responsible for increased virulence of some of the highly pathogenic strains, including the 1918 H1N1 and H5N1 viruses (Conenello et al. 2007). A recombinant virus carrying the N66S mutation resulted in higher pathogenesis through weight loss and death in mice, as compared with the chimera without it (Tumpey et al. 2004). Interestingly, all the H7N9 strains sequenced till now lack this mutation, thus, it is branded as a low pathogenic IAV (Kageyama et al. 2013).

Resistance towards viral inhibitors

With the sudden onset of any influenza virus, antivirals are the first defensive measures adopted against the virus. Thus, the presence of any kind of mutation in the virus genome that disables the activity of these compounds calls for an emergency.

The M2 ion channel present under the membrane, though with a very low abundance (16 to 20 molecules/virion), plays an important role in the release of viral ribonucleoprotein complexes inside the cytoplasm after virus binding through HA to the sialic acid receptors on the host cell (Nayak et al. 2009). The Adamantane drugs, Amantadine and Rimantadine, are 2 of the antivirals that target the proton flow through the M2 ion channel through binding near serine 31 clusters, hence, blocking the release of viral ribonucleoprotein complexes in the cell (Das et al. 2010). S31N mutation is the most prevalent mutation conferring adamantane resistance, which is found in all 7 novel influenza A (H7N9) viruses sequenced (Chen et al. 2013; Kageyama et al. 2013) thus far.

Moreover, in A/Shanghai/1/2013, at residue 294, substitution of arginine with lysine (R294K) increases the susceptibility of the host to virus pathogenesis, as this mutation bestows the virus with resistance to sialic acid mimicking NA inhibitors oseltamivir and zanamivir (Nayak et al. 2009; Gao et al. 2013).

However, this mutation has never been observed previously in nature, and so it seems to be a result of selective pressure of oseltamivir treatment, which is why this substitution resulted in reduced NA activity and compromised virus growth. Thus, there is still a chance of oseltamivir being a good inhibitor against H7N9 (Wu et al. 2013).

Conclusion

With each passing day, the severity of IAVs is increasing, moreso because of increasing globalization, the ease to reach every nook and corner of the world, and the roaring exchange of diseases at all levels. The widespread circulation and diversification of H7N9 is a proof of the same.

Nevertheless, the novel H7N9 IAV, owing to its inefficient humanhuman transmission, seems less dangerous and may not pose much threat to humans; this, therefore, puts a question mark on its pandemic potential. Moreover, even the presence of some of the most critical mutations in the current reassortant does not facilitate the dawn of a pandemic, and it is concluded that more mutations are required for the virus to gain a smooth host switching and effective and sustained pathogenesis.

China has a flourishing poultry business that also accounts for the sporadic cases of human infection. Timely surveillance in terrestrial birds and poultry seems to be the ultimate precautionary measure, apart from vaccine development. So, even though speculations of a pandemic are low, they cannot be ignored considering the silent spread of the virus in poultry without any clear clinical symptoms.

References

- Baum, L.G., and Paulson, J.C. 1990. Sialyloligosaccharides of the respiratory epithelium in the selection of human influenza virus receptor specificity. Acta Histochem. Suppl. 40: 35–38. PMID:2091044.
- Brockwell-Staats, C., Webster, R.G., and Webby, R. 2009. Diversity of influenza viruses in swine and the emergence of a novel human pandemic influenza A (H1N1). Influenza Other Respir. Viruses, 3: 207–213. doi:10.1111/j.1750-2659. 2009.00096.x. PMID:19768134.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2004. Update: influenza Activity United States and worldwide, 2003–04 season, and composition of the 2004–05 influenza vaccine. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. **53**: 547–552. PMID:15229411.
- Chang, S.Y., Lin, P.H., Tsai, J.C., Hung, C.C., and Chang, S.C. 2013. The first case of H7N9 influenza in Taiwan. Lancet, **381**(9878): 1621. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60943-5. PMID:23639487.
- Chen, W., Calvo, P.A., Malide, D., Gibbs, J., Schubert, U., Bacik, I., et al. 2001. A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nat. Med. 7: 1306–1312. doi:10.1038/nm1201-1306. PMID:11726970.
- Chen, Y., Liang, W., Yang, S., Wu, N., Gao, H., Sheng, J., et al. 2013. Human infections with the emerging avian influenza A H7N9 virus from wet market poultry: clinical analysis and characterization of viral genome. Lancet, 381(9881): 1916–1925. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60903-4. PMID:23623390.
- Conenello, G.M., Zamarin, D., Perrone, L.A., Tumpey, T., and Palese, P. 2007. A single mutation in the PB1-F2 of H5N1 (HK/97) and 1918 influenza A viruses contributes to increased virulence. PLoS Pathog. 3(10): 1414–1421. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.0030141. PMID:17922571.
- Couceiro, J.N., Paulson, J.C., and Baum, L.G. 1993. Influenza virus strains selectively recognize sialyloligosaccharides on human respiratory epithelium; the role of the host cell in selection of hemagglutinin receptor specificity. Virus Res. 29(2): 155–165. doi:10.1016/0168-1702(93)90056-S. PMID:8212857.
- Das, K., Aramini, J.M., Ma, L.C., Krug, R.M., and Arnold, E. 2010. Structures of influenza A proteins and insights into antiviral drug targets. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 17(5): 530–538. doi:10.1038/nsmb.1779. PMID:20383144.
- Dawood, F.S., Iuliano, A.D., Reed, C., Meltzer, M.I., Shay, D.K., Cheng, P.-Y., et al. 2012. Estimated global mortality associated with the first 12 months of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus circulation: a modelling study. Lancet Infect. Dis. 12(9): 687–695. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70121-4. PMID:22738893.
- Dortmans, J.C., Dekkers, J., Wickramasinghe, I.N., Verheije, M.H., Rottier, P.J., Van Kuppeveld, F.J., et al. 2013. Adaptation of novel H7N9 influenza A virus to human receptors. Sci. Rep. 3: 3058. doi:10.1038/srep03058. PMID:24162312.
- Du Ry van Beest Holle, M., Meijer, A., Koopmans, M., and De Jager, C.M. 2005. Human-to-human transmission of avian influenza A/H7N7, The Netherlands, 2003. Euro Surveill. 10(12): 584. PMID:16371696.
- Gabbard, J.D., Dlugolenski, D., Van Riel, D., Marshall, N., Galloway, S.E., Howerth, E.W., et al. 2014. Novel H7N9 influenza virus shows low infectious dose, high growth rate, and efficient contact transmission in the guinea pig model. J. Virol. 88(3): 1502–1512. doi:10.1128/JVI.02959-13. PMID:24227867.
- Gamblin, S.J., and Skehel, J.J. 2010. Influenza hemagglutinin and neuraminidase membrane glycoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 285(37): 28403–28409. doi:10.1074/ jbc.R110.129809. PMID:20538598.
- Gao, R., Cao, B., Hu, Y., Feng, Z., Wang, D., Hu, W., et al. 2013. Human infection with a novel avian-origin influenza A (H7N9) virus. N. Engl. J. Med. 368(20): 1888–1897. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1304459. PMID:23577628.
- Garcia-Sastre, A. 2001. Inhibition of interferon-mediated antiviral responses by influenza A viruses and other negative-strand RNA viruses. Virology, 279: 375–384. doi:10.1006/viro.2000.0756. PMID:11162793.
- Hatta, M., Gao, P., Halfmann, P., and Kawaoka, Y. 2001. Molecular basis for high virulence of Hong Kong H5N1 influenza A viruses. Science, 293(5536): 1840– 1842. doi:10.1126/science.1062882. PMID:11546875.
- Hirst, M., Astell, C.R., Griffith, M., Coughlin, S.M., Moksa, M., Zeng, T., et al. 2004. Novel avian influenza H7N3 strain outbreak, British Columbia. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 10: 2192–2195. doi:10.3201/eid1012.040743. PMID:15663859.
- Ito, T., Couceiro, J.N.S.S., Kelm, S., Baum, L.G., Krauss, S., Castrucci, M.R., et al. 1998. Molecular basis for the generation in pigs of influenza A viruses with pandemic potential. J. Virol. **72**: 7367–7373. PMID:9696833.
- Jackson, D., Hossain, M.J., Hickman, D., Perez, D.R., and Lamb, R.A. 2008. A new influenza virus virulence determinant: the NS1 protein four C-terminal residues modulate pathogenicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105(11): 4381–4386. doi:10.1073/pnas.0800482105. PMID:18334632.
- Jonges, M., Meijer, A, Fouchier, R.A., Koch, G., Li, J., Pan, J.C., et al. 2013. Guiding outbreak management by the use of influenza A(H7Nx) virus sequence analysis. Euro Surveill. 18(16): 20460. PMID:23611030.
- Kageyama, T., Fujisaki, S., Takashita, E., Xu, H., Yamada, S., Uchida, Y., et al. 2013. Genetic analysis of novel avian A (H7N9) influenza viruses isolated from patients in China, February to April 2013. Euro Surveill. 18(15): 20453. PMID: 23594575.

Kasowski, E.J., Garten, R.J., and Bridges, C.B. 2011. Influenza pandemic epidemi-

428

ologic and virologic diversity: reminding ourselves of the possibilities. Clin. Infect. Dis. **52**: S44–S49. doi:10.1093/cid/ciq010. PMID:21342899.

- Kawaoka, Y., Cox, N.J., Haller, O., Hongo, S., Kaverin, N., Klenk, H.-D., et al. 2005. Orthomyxoviridae. *In Virus taxonomy: 8th report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses. Edited by C.M. Fauquet, M.A. Mayo, J. Maniloff, U. Desselberger, and L.A. Ball. Elsevier Academia Press, London, UK. pp. 681–693.*
- Kim, H.-R., Park, C.-K., Lee, Y.-J., Oem, J.-K., Kang, H.-M., Choi, J.-G., et al. 2012. Low pathogenic H7 subtype avian influenza viruses isolated from domestic ducks in South Korea and the close association with isolates of wild birds. J. Gen. Virol. **93**: 1278–1287. doi:10.1099/vir.0.041269-0. PMID:22422062.
- Koopmans, M., Wilbrink, B., Conyn, M., Natrop, G., Van der Nat, H., Vennema, H., et al. 2004. Transmission of H7N7 avian influenza A virus to human beings during a large outbreak in commercial poultry farms in the Netherlands. Lancet, 363(9409): 587–593. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)15589-X. PMID:14987882.
- Li, Q., Zhou, L., Zhou, M., Chen, Z., Li, F., Wu, H., et al. 2014. Epidemiology of human infections with avian influenza A (H7N9) virus in China. N. Engl. J. Med. **370**: 520–532. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1304617. PMID:23614499.
- Liu, D., Shi, W., Shi, Y., Wang, D., Xiao, H., Li, W., et al. 2013a. Origin and diversity of novel avian influenza A H7N9 viruses causing human infection: phylogenetic, structural, and coalescent analyses. Lancet, 381(9881): 1926–1932. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60938-1. PMID:23643111.
- Liu, Q., Lu, L., Sun, Z., Chen, G.W., Wen, Y., and Jiang, S. 2013b. Genomic signature and protein sequence analysis of a novel influenza A (H7N9) virus that causes an outbreak in humans in China. Microbes Infect. 15(6–7): 432–439. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2013.04.004. PMID:23628410.
- Ludwig, S., Stitz, L., Planz, O., Van, H., Fitch, W.M., and Scholtissek, C. 1995. European swine virus as a possible source for the next influenza pandemic? Virology, 212: 555–561. doi:10.1006/viro.1995.1513. PMID:7571425.
- Matsuoka, Y., Swayne, D.E., Thomas, C., Rameix-Welti, M.A., Naffakh, N., Warnes, C., et al. 2009. Neuraminidase stalk length and additional glycosylation of the hemagglutinin influence the virulence of influenza H5N1 viruses for mice. J. Virol. 83(9): 4704–4708. doi:10.1128/JVI.01987-08. PMID:19225004.McCaughey, C. 2010. Influenza: a virus of our times. Ulster Med. J. 79(2): 46–51.
- PMID:21116418.
 Munster, V.J., De Wit, E., Van Riel, D., Beyer, W.E., Rimmelzwaan, G.F., Osterhaus, A.D., et al. 2007. The molecular basis of the pathogenicity of the Dutch highly pathogenic human influenza A H7N7 viruses. J. Infect. Dis. 196(2): 258–265. doi:10.1086/518792. PMID:17570113.
- Nayak, D.P., Balogun, R.A., Yamada, H., Zhou, Z.H., and Barman, S. 2009. Influenza virus morphogenesis and budding. Virus Res. 143(2): 147–161. doi:10.1016/ j.virusres.2009.05.010. PMID:19481124.
- Nicoll, A., and Danielsson, N. 2013. A novel reassortant avian influenza A (H7N9) virus in China —what are the implications for Europe. Euro Surveill. 18(15): 20452. PMID:23594574.
- Palese, P., and Shaw, M. 2006. Orthomyxoviridae: the viruses and their replication. In Fields virology. Edited by D.M. Knipe and P.M. Howley. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, Pa., USA. pp. 1647–1689.
- Parry, J. 2013. H7N9 avian flu infects humans for the first time. BMJ, 346: f2151. doi:10.1136/bmj.f2151. PMID:23558347.
- Peiris, J.S., De Jong, M.D., and Guan, Y. 2007. Avian influenza virus (H5N1): a threat to human health. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 20(2): 243–267. doi:10.1128/CMR. 00037-06. PMID:17428885.
- Qi, X., Qian, Y.-H., Bao, C.-J., Guo, X.-L., Cui, L.-B., Tang, F.-Y., et al. 2013. Probable person to person transmission of novel avian influenza A (H7N9) virus in Eastern China, 2013: epidemiological investigation. BMJ, 347: f4752. doi:10. 1136/bmi.f4752. PMID:23920350.
- Rambaut, A., Pybus, O.G., Nelson, M.I., Viboud, C., Jeffery, K., and Holmes, E.C. 2008. The genomic and epidemiological dynamics of human influenza A virus. Virus, 453(7195): 615–619. doi:10.1038/nature06945. PMID:18418375.

- Rossman, J., and Lamb, R. 2011. Influenza virus assembly and budding. Virology, 411(2): 229–236. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.003. PMID:21237476.
- Salomon, R., Franks, J., Govorkova, E.A., Ilyushina, N.A., Yen, H.-L., Hulse-Post, D.J., et al. 2006. The polymerase complex genes contribute to the high virulence of the human H5N1 influenza virus isolate A/Vietnam/1203/04. J. Exp. Med. 203: 689–697. doi:10.1084/jem.20051938. PMID:16533883.
- Sharma, S., Mayank, A., and Lal, S.K. 2009. Molecular events leading to the creation of a pandemic influenza virus. Indian J. Microbiol. 49(4): 332–338. doi:10.1007/s12088-009-0059-0. PMID:23100794.
- Shi, Y., Zhang, W., Wang, F., Qi, J., Wu, Y., Song, H., et al. 2013. Structures and receptor binding of hemagglutinins from human-infecting H7N9 influenza viruses. Science, **342**(6155): 243–247. doi:10.1126/science.1242917. PMID: 24009358.
- To, K.K.W., Chan, J.F.W., Chen, H., Li, L., and Yuen, K.Y. 2013. The emergence of influenza A H7N9 in human beings 16 years after influenza A H5N1: a tale of two cities. Lancet Infect. Dis. **13**(9): 809–821. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(13) 70167-1. PMID:23969217.
- Tumpey, T.M., García-Sastre, A., Taubenberger, J.K., Palese, P., Swayne, D.E., and Basler, C.F. 2004. Pathogenicity and immunogenicity of influenza viruses with genes from the 1918 pandemic virus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101(9): 3166–3171. doi:10.1073/pnas.0308391100. PMID:14963236.
- Wagner, R., Matrosovich, M., and Klenk, H.D. 2002. Functional balance between haemagglutinin and neuraminidase in influenza virus infections. Rev. Med. Virol. 12: 159–166. doi:10.1002/rmv.352. PMID:11987141.
- Wang, W., Lu, B., Zhou, H., Suguitan, A.L., Jr., Cheng, X., Subbarao, K., et al. 2010. Glycosylation at 158N of the hemagglutinin protein and receptor binding specificity synergistically affect the antigenicity and immunogenicity of a live attenuated H5N1 A/Vietnam/1203/2004 vaccine virus in ferrets. J. Virol. 84(13): 6570–6577. doi:10.1128/JVI.00221-10. PMID:20427525.
- Watanabe, T., Kiso, M., Fukuyama, S., Nakajima, N., Imai, M., Yamada, S., et al. 2013. Characterization of H7N9 influenza A viruses isolated from humans. Nature, 501(7468): 551–555. doi:10.1038/nature12392. PMID:23842494.
- Webster, R.G., Bean, W.J., Gorman, O.T., Chambers, T.M., and Kawaoka, Y. 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiol. Rev. 56: 152–179. PMID:1579108.
- Wright, P.F., Neumann, G., and Kawaoka, Y. 2007. Orthomyxoviruses. In Fields virology. 5th ed. Edited by D.M. Knipe and P.M. Howley. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, Pa., USA. pp. 1691–1740.
- Wu, Y., Bi, Y., Vavricka, C.J., Sun, X., Zhang, Y., Gao, F., et al. 2013. Characterization of two distinct neuraminidases from avian-origin human-infecting H7N9 influenza viruses. Cell Res. 23(12): 1347–1355. doi:10.1038/cr.2013.144. PMID:24165891.
- Xiong, X., Martin, S.R., Haire, L.F., Wharton, S.A., Daniels, R.S., Bennett, M.S., et al. 2013. Receptor binding by an H7N9 influenza virus from humans. Nature, 499(7459): 496–499. doi:10.1038/nature12372. PMID:23787694.
- Xu, R., de Vries, R.P., Zhu, X., Nycholat, C.M., McBride, R., Yu, W., et al. 2013. Preferential recognition of avian-like receptors in human influenza A H7N9 viruses. Science, **342**(6163): 1230–1235. doi:10.1126/science.1243761. PMID: 24311689.
- Yamayoshi, S., Yamada, S., Fukuyama, S., Murakami, S., Zhao, D., Uraki, R., et al. 2014. Virulence-affecting amino acid changes in the PA protein of H7N9 influenza A viruses. J. Virol. 88(6): 3127–3134. doi:10.1128/JVI.03155-13. PMID: 24371069.
- Zhang, Q., Shi, J., Deng, G., Guo, J., Zeng, X., He, X., et al. 2013. H7N9 influenza viruses are transmissible in ferrets by respiratory droplet. Science, 341(6144): 410–414. doi:10.1126/science.1240532. PMID:23868922.
- Zhou, J., Wang, D., Gao, R., Zhao, B., Song, J., Qi, X., et al. 2013. Biological features of novel avian influenza A (H7N9) virus. Nature, **499**(7459): 500–503. doi:10. 1038/nature12379. PMID:23823727.
- Zhu, H., Wang, D., Kelvin, D.J., Li, L., Zheng, Z., Yoon, S.-W., et al. 2013. Infectivity, transmission, and pathology of human-isolated H7N9 influenza virus in ferrets and pigs. Science, **341**(6142): 183–186. doi:10.1126/science.1239844. PMID:23704376.